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INTER PIPELINE is one of Canada’s leading energy
infrastructure businesses and we rank among the top
100 companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.
We are in the business of transporting, processing
and storing petroleum and petrochemical products.
Every day we handle the equivalent of 1.9 million
barrels of energy commodities through operations
in Canada and Western Europe.

Average Annual
Total Return (%)

Our petroleum pipeline systems in Canada span
7,100 kilometres in length and transport over 1.1 million
barrels per day. Our NGL extraction facilities have the
capacity to process 6.2 billion cubic feet of natural gas
per day and we are the largest supplier of feedstocks
to the Canadian petrochemical industry. In Europe,
we are the 4th largest independent bulk liquid storage
business with a total capacity of 19 million barrels.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

We confidently executed our business plan and
delivered another year of operational excellence,
another year of record financial results, and
another year of strong shareholder returns.

This is my first letter to shareholders as President and Chief Executive Officer and I am
pleased to report that Inter Pipeline had another highly successful year in 2014. Though
much has changed in the energy industry over the past year, we confidently executed
our business plan and delivered another year of operational excellence, another
year of record financial results, and another year of strong shareholder returns.

A Year of Change
2014 was a year of change at Inter Pipeline. Of note, it was our first
full year operating as a corporation. Our former structure as a limited
partnership carried with it a number of limitations including being
restricted from accessing foreign sources of equity capital. As a
newly minted Canadian corporation, we now have no such
restriction, which significantly improves our liquidity and access
to capital markets and will help drive our business forward.
We also took steps to enhance our governance practices in
2014. In January, Inter Pipeline appointed an independent
director, Richard Shaw, as Chairman of the Board. In May, we
held our first annual general meeting, which was very productive
with all matters including the election of directors, being
overwhelmingly approved by shareholders.
2014 was also a year of leadership change. In January I assumed
the position of President and CEO, succeeding David Fesyk who
was our President and CEO for 17 successful years. I have been
part of Inter Pipeline’s management team for many years and I
believe a key reason the company has thrived is that we have a
strong, focused business vision supported by clear strategies and
priorities. Given the recent leadership changes, I feel it would be
very appropriate to restate that vision and reaffirm management’s
commitment to it.

Christian Bayle
President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Our vision is simple:
• Be a leading energy infrastructure business, providing our
customers with safe, reliable, market responsive and
cost-effective services.
• Grow through the development of our oil transportation, NGL
extraction and bulk liquid storage businesses, and through the
creation of new lines of business involving energy infrastructure.

1.32

1.178

This corporate vision has remained largely unchanged since we were
rebranded as Inter Pipeline in 2002. Our unwavering commitment to
this vision over the years has led to enterprise growth of over 2200%
and a total shareholder return of approximately 660% since 2002. We
are now arguably one of the “purest plays” in the Canadian energy
infrastructure space today, with strategically located assets that will
drive future growth opportunities for years to come.

($)

1.055

Inter Pipeline
has a very
strong and
enviable track
record of
steadily
increasing
dividend
payments to
shareholders.

DIVIDENDS
PER SHARE

0.968

• Achieve operations excellence in the areas of regulatory
compliance, safety and environmental protection, asset integrity
and cost-effectiveness.

0.905

• Maximize long-term value to our investors by capturing the full
profit potential of our assets, prudently managing our capital
resources, leveraging our core capabilities and developing a
highly motivated, cohesive and effective base of employees.

2014 In Review
Much was achieved in 2014. Of key importance, we delivered record
10 11 12 13 14
financial results. Funds from Operations in 2014 was $564 million, up
19% over 2013 and a new annual record. Supported by our strong
financial results, we announced our 12th consecutive and largest ever dividend increase of $0.18
per share in November 2014. Inter Pipeline has a very strong and enviable track record of
steadily increasing dividend payments to shareholders. Our five-year compound annual dividend
growth rate is 10.2%.

FUNDS FROM
OPERATIONS*

473

434

332

394

564

($ millions)
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We delivered strong shareholder returns in 2014. Total returns,
including share price appreciation and dividends paid, was 44%. This
performance compares very favourably to the Standard & Poors/TSX
Composite Index performance of 11%. 2014 was not an anomaly.
Inter Pipeline has consistently delivered substantial shareholder value
as demonstrated by our five year total return of 282%, the highest in
our Canadian energy infrastructure peer group.
Commercially, we had some exciting new developments within our
conventional oil gathering business. We announced our largest ever
capital program in this business unit last summer. Anchored by highly
accretive transportation agreements with five oil producers, Inter
Pipeline is investing $100 million to add new mainline throughput
capacity and complete new oil battery connections on the MidSaskatchewan Pipeline System. In total, 95,000 barrels per day of
new capacity will be added by mid-2015, more than doubling our
current capacity on this conventional pipeline system.

*2012-2014 includes
non-controlling interest

2

INTER PIPELINE

I3-149_Frontend_V18_PT.indd 2

2015-03-05 10:03 AM

PIPELINE
VOLUMES

1,118

1,015

988

802

956

(Thousand barrels
per day)
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Within our oil sands transportation business, we added two
new shippers to our Polaris Pipeline System: Japan Canada Oil
Sands and Nexen Energy. Since Polaris entered operation in
2011, 11 shippers have made long term transportation
commitments totalling 540,000 barrels per day to this pipeline
system, firmly establishing Polaris as the largest diluent delivery
system in Canada.
2014 was a very busy year for our project and construction
teams. We completed $2.7 billion worth of pipeline and facility
construction projects, the vast majority of which were
associated with expansion of our oil sands transportation
franchise. Roughly half of this capital program was associated
with a major expansion of our Polaris Pipeline System, which
became operational in July 2014. We also completed a $1.3
billion expansion of our Cold Lake Pipeline System, which
entered commercial service in January 2015. Finally we
completed a $60 million Cold Lake bitumen blend connection to
a third party rail loading facility near Edmonton. All these
projects are strongly accretive and will drive meaningful future
funds from operations growth.

I believe our operating group is among the best in the world and they delivered another year of
disciplined cost management, punctuated with strong environment and safety performance. In
Canada, our oil pipeline systems reliably transported record average oil volumes of 1.1 million
barrels per day and we safely commissioned a large portfolio of new oil sands transportation
assets. Our large scale NGL extraction plants produced over 97,000 barrels per day of natural
gas liquids, further solidifying Inter Pipeline as one of the leading natural gas liquids producers
in the country.

10

11

12

11,885

9,594

7,593

We considerably increased our investor marketing efforts over the
past year, with a particular focus on raising Inter Pipeline’s profile
among large institutional investors. We hosted our inaugural
Investor Day in Toronto in the fall, where the Inter Pipeline
management team presented a detailed look at our strategies,
competitive advantages and business opportunities. Inter Pipeline
was also added to the Standard & Poors/TSX 60 Index this past
December. This index is generally comprised of the largest and
most prosperous corporations in Canada.

6,651

16,315

We are also pleased with the progress made within our European bulk liquid storage business
during the year. Following a period of challenging market conditions, tank storage utilization rates
improved and our operating margins strengthened. At the end of
2014, over 90% of our storage capacity in the United Kingdom,
Demark, Germany and Ireland was occupied. In addition, we
ENTERPRISE
recently completed a major restructuring of our European business.
VALUE
We created a single, harmonized leadership team with
responsibility for all European operations and rebranded the entire
($ millions)
business as Inter Terminals Ltd. We expect these changes will
result in a more integrated, cost effective structure while
enhancing brand recognition and customer marketing efforts.

13

14

2014 was a very
busy year for
our project and
construction
teams. We
completed $2.7
billion worth of
pipeline and
facility
construction
projects.

Finally, in 2014 Inter Pipeline directly benefitted from the improved
financial flexibility provided by our new corporate structure.
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During the year, we raised a record $1.5 billion in new debt and equity capital, with proceeds
largely directed towards funding our major oil sands transportation expansions. Overall, this
new funding was secured at very attractive rates. We are a growing company with an
investment grade credit rating and a strong balance sheet. This is a winning formula.

Looking Forward to 2015
Today, we are in a period of extreme volatility in the energy industry. No one in this sector is
fully immune to the drastic changes in petroleum commodity pricing that began in late 2014.
This stated, we at Inter Pipeline enter 2015 with confidence in our business and our future.
This confidence is born out of our clear value proposition. We own and operate strategic
energy infrastructure assets, the majority of which are underpinned by stable cost-of-service
revenues. We have visible growth, with a strong focus on accretive organic investments. We
are conservatively financed and have a proven operations and project execution capability.
This positions us to deliver continued, disciplined growth.
At Inter Pipeline, we are very fortunate to have a highly skilled team of people who show up
to work every day to deliver on our business plan, and in closing, I wish to pass along my
genuine appreciation for their efforts. I would also like to thank the Board of Directors for
their continued support, advice and guidance. We have the talent to deliver a bright future
for Inter Pipeline.

Christian Bayle
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2015
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Financial and Operating Highlights
2014

2013

% Change

OPERATING
Volume (thousands of barrels per day)			

Pipeline volume			
Oil sands transportation*

912.9

828.4

10%

Conventional oil pipelines

205.2

186.6

10%

1,118.1

1,015.0

10%

Ethane

62.9

74.7

-16%

Propane-plus

34.7

35.5

-2%

Total extraction

97.6

110.2

-11%

79

84

-6%

2014

2013

% Change

Total pipeline
NGL extraction volumes

Capacity utilization (%)
Bulk liquid storage
*Empress V NGL Production and Cold Lake volumes reported on 100% basis.

FINANCIAL
($ millions, except where noted)

1,556.3

1,362.7

14%

Adjusted EBITDA

696.5

615.8

13%

Funds from operations

564.0

472.6

19%

Net (loss) income

349.5

(47.0)

Cash dividends

423.1

338.2

25%

1.3200

1.1775

12%

77.3

73.6

5%

Total assets

8,647.2

7,657.7

13%

Shareholders’ equity

2,548.1

2,100.3

21%

Market capitalization

11,724.1

7,924.6

48%

Total enterprise value

16,314.8

11,885.4

37%

Revenue

Cash dividends (per share)
Payout ratio (%)
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) highlights Inter Pipeline Ltd.’s (Inter Pipeline) significant business
results and statistics for the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014, to provide Inter Pipeline’s shareholders and
potential investors with information about Inter Pipeline and its subsidiaries, including management’s assessment of Inter
Pipeline’s and its subsidiaries’ future plans and operations. This information may not be appropriate for other purposes. Effective
September 1, 2013, Inter Pipeline completed an arrangement pursuant to which, among other things, the outstanding Class A
units of Inter Pipeline Fund were converted into common shares of Inter Pipeline Ltd. This resulted in the conversion to a dividend
paying corporation, Inter Pipeline Ltd., which continues as a successor issuer to Inter Pipeline Fund (Corporate Conversion). In this
MD&A, any references to Inter Pipeline prior to September 1, 2013 refer to Inter Pipeline Fund and its consolidated subsidiaries,
and any references to Inter Pipeline subsequent to September 1, 2013 refer to Inter Pipeline Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Similarly, any references to common shares, shareholders or dividends used prior to September 1, 2013, refer to Class A units,
unitholders and distributions of Inter Pipeline Fund, and any references to common shares, shareholders or dividends used
subsequent to September 1, 2013 refer to common shares, shareholders and dividends of Inter Pipeline Ltd. This MD&A contains
certain forward-looking statements or information (collectively referred to as “forward-looking statements”) within the meaning
of applicable securities legislation. Forward-looking statements often contain terms such as "may", "will", "should", "anticipate",
"expect", “continue”, “estimate”, “believe”, “project”, “forecast”, “plan”, “intend”, “target” and similar words suggesting future
outcomes or statements regarding an outlook. Any statements herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to
be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, statements regarding:
1) Inter Pipeline’s beliefs that it is well positioned to maintain its current level of dividends to its shareholders through 2015 and
beyond; 2) the maintenance of Inter Pipeline's dividend level combined with the tax treatment of dividends to its shareholders; 3)
Inter Pipeline being well positioned to operate and grow in the future; 4) funds from operations projections; 5) timing for
completion of various projects, including the expansion and integration of the Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline systems to provide
transportation service to various oil sands projects; 6) timing and cost schedules of Polaris and Cold Lake capital projects, and
forward EBITDA (as defined herein) estimates in respect of these projects; and, 7) capital expenditure forecasts.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements; as such statements are not guarantees of
future performance. Inter Pipeline in no manner represents that actual results, levels of activity and achievements will be the
same in whole or in part as those set out in the forward-looking statements herein. Such information, although considered
reasonable by Inter Pipeline may later prove to be incorrect and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in the
forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve a variety of assumptions and are subject to
various known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which are beyond Inter Pipeline’s control, including, but not
limited to: risks and assumptions associated with operations, such as Inter Pipeline’s ability to successfully implement its strategic
initiatives and achieve expected benefits, including the further development of its oil sands pipeline systems; assumptions
concerning operational reliability; the availability and price of labour and construction materials; the status, credit risk and
continued existence of customers having contracts with Inter Pipeline and its affiliates; availability of energy commodities;
volatility of and assumptions regarding prices of energy commodities; competitive factors, pricing pressures and supply and
demand in the natural gas and oil transportation, ethane transportation and natural gas liquids (NGL) extraction and storage
industries; assumptions based upon Inter Pipeline’s current guidance; fluctuations in currency and interest rates; inflation; the
ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources; risks and uncertainties associated with Inter Pipeline’s ability
to maintain its current level of cash dividends to its shareholders; risks inherent in Inter Pipeline’s Canadian and foreign
operations; risks of war, hostilities, civil insurrection, instability and political and economic conditions in or affecting countries in
which Inter Pipeline and its affiliates operate; severe weather conditions; terrorist threats; risks associated with technology; Inter
Pipeline’s ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet its current and future obligations; Inter Pipeline’s ability
to access external sources of debt and equity capital; general economic and business conditions; the potential delays of, and costs
of overruns on, construction projects in all of Inter Pipeline’s business units, including, but not limited to, Inter Pipeline’s current
expansion of the Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline systems and future expansions of Inter Pipeline’s oil sands pipeline systems; risks
associated with the failure to finalize formal agreements with counterparties in circumstances where letters of intent or similar
agreements have been executed and announced by Inter Pipeline; Inter Pipeline’s ability to make capital investments and the
amounts of capital investments; changes in laws and regulations, including environmental, regulatory and taxation laws, and the
interpretation of such changes to Inter Pipeline’s business; the risks associated with existing and potential future lawsuits and
regulatory actions against Inter Pipeline and its affiliates; increases in maintenance, operating or financing costs; availability of
adequate levels of insurance; difficulty in obtaining necessary regulatory approvals and maintenance of support of such approvals;
and such other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in Inter Pipeline’s reports and filings with the Canadian
securities authorities. The impact of any one assumption, risk, uncertainty or other factor on a particular forward-looking
statement cannot be determined with certainty, as these are interdependent and Inter Pipeline’s future course of action depends
on management’s assessment of all information available at the relevant time.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. See also the section entitled RISK FACTORS
for further risk factors. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are made as of the date of this document and,
except to the extent expressly required by applicable securities laws and regulations, Inter Pipeline assumes no obligation to
update or revise forward-looking statements made herein or otherwise, whether as a result of new information, future events,
or otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this document and all subsequent forward-looking statements,
whether written or oral, attributable to Inter Pipeline or persons acting on Inter Pipeline’s behalf are expressly qualified in
their entirety by these cautionary statements.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014

The MD&A provides a detailed explanation of Inter Pipeline’s operating results for the three month period and year ended
December 31, 2014, as compared to the three month period and year ended December 31, 2013. The MD&A should be
read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements (interim financial statements)
and MD&A for the quarterly periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2014, the MD&A and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Annual Information Form, and other information filed by Inter Pipeline at
www.sedar.com.
Financial information presented in this MD&A is based on information in Inter Pipeline’s consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
This MD&A reports certain financial measures that are not recognized by Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), as outlined in the Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA) Handbook Part I, and used by management
to evaluate the performance of Inter Pipeline and its business segments. Since certain non-GAAP and additional GAAP
financial measures may not have a standardized meaning, securities regulations require that non-GAAP and additional
GAAP financial measures are clearly defined, qualified and reconciled with their nearest GAAP measure. See the NONGAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section for further information on the definition, calculation and
reconciliation of non-GAAP and additional GAAP financial measures. All amounts are in Canadian dollars unless specified
otherwise.
Management determines whether information presented in this MD&A is material based on whether it believes a
reasonable investor’s decision to buy, sell or hold securities in Inter Pipeline would likely be influenced or changed if the
information was omitted or misstated.
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2014 HIGHLIGHTS
•

Generated record funds from operations * (FFO) of $564 million, a 19 percent increase over 2013 results

•

Declared cash dividends of $423 million or $1.32 per share

•

Annual payout ratio* of 77 percent

•

Announced an $0.18 annualized dividend increase, the largest single increase in Inter Pipeline’s history

•

Generated net income of $350 million for the year, an annual record

•

Incurred growth capital expenditures* of $1.1 billion, primarily related to Inter Pipeline’s $3 billion expansion of the
Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline systems

•

Total pipeline throughput volumes averaged a record 1,118,100 barrels per day (b/d), including record oil sands
transportation volumes of 912,900 b/d

•

Announced $100 million expansion of Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline system

•

A 290 kilometre (km) $1.1 billion mainline expansion on the Polaris pipeline system was completed on schedule and
placed into commercial service

•

Executed a long-term transportation agreement to provide diluent to the JACOS-Nexen Hangingstone project

•

Raised $1.5 billion of capital through the issuance of new debt and equity

FOURTH QUARTER HIGHLIGHTS
•

Record quarterly FFO* of $160 million, a 19 percent increase over fourth quarter of 2013

•

Pipeline transportation volumes averaged 1,237,100 b/d, a quarterly record

•

Bulk liquid storage utilization rates increased to 90 percent in December as contango pricing relationships returned to
key petroleum markets

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
•

A $1.3 billion Cold Lake mainline expansion was placed into commercial service in January 2015

•

Completed a restructuring of our European storage business, rebranding the entire business segment as Inter
Terminals

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
(millions, except per share and % amounts)

Revenues
Oil sands transportation
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
$

$

2014

Years Ended December 31
2013
2012

140.5 $
87.1
123.0
39.5
390.1 $

107.4 $
82.3
146.6
37.9
374.2 $

476.7 $
363.9
548.6
167.1
1,556.3 $

388.5 $
302.2
520.7
151.3
1,362.7 $

319.3
231.2
499.9
155.6
1,206.0

64.2 $
44.0
53.4
16.1
(43.2)
134.5 $

306.1 $
191.1
142.3
75.4
(150.9)
564.0 $

219.7 $
174.9
170.7
73.2
(165.9)
472.6 $

184.1
153.4
194.6
80.2
(178.4)
433.9

Funds from operations(1)(2)
Oil sands transportation(2)
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage
Corporate costs

$

$

97.2 $
46.8
24.7
15.8
(24.8)
159.7 $

Per share(1)

$

0.49 $

0.44 $

1.76 $

1.65 $

1.61

$

79.6 $

84.6 $

349.5 $

(47.0) $

317.0

$

75.6 $

81.3 $

334.8 $

(58.1) $

307.2

Per share – basic
Per share – diluted

$
$

0.24 $
0.23 $

0.27 $
0.26 $

1.05 $
1.02 $

(0.20) $
(0.20) $

1.14
1.14

Dividends to shareholders

$

114.9 $

98.6 $

423.1 $

338.2 $

285.2

$

0.3525 $

0.3225 $

1.3200 $

1.1775 $

1.0550

Net income (loss)

(3)

Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders(3)

Per share(4)
Shares outstanding (basic)
Weighted average
End of period

325.8
326.2

304.7
306.8

320.2
326.2

$

149.2 $

549.4 $

1,194.0 $

1,918.9 $

345.7

$

13.8
163.0 $

11.0
560.4 $

42.2
1,236.2 $

30.1
1,949.0 $

40.4
386.1

74.0%

75.5%

77.3%

73.6%

67.5%

285.9
306.8

269.9
275.2

Capital expenditures(5)
Growth(1)
(1)

Sustaining

Payout ratio(1)

2014

(millions, except % amounts)

As at December 31
2013
2012

Total assets

$

8,647.2 $

7,657.7

$

5,682.4

Total debt(6)
Total shareholders’ equity

$
$

4,590.7 $
2,548.1 $

3,960.8
2,100.3

$
$

3,127.6
1,659.5

$

16,314.8 $

11,885.4

$

9,593.8

Enterprise value(1)
(1)

Total debt to total capitalization

64.3%

65.3%

65.3%

Total recourse debt to capitalization(1)

54.2%

52.8%

47.0%

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

Funds from operations(1) include non-controlling interest amounts of $4.4 million and $16.8 million for the three month period and year ended
December 31, 2014, respectively ($3.9 million and $12.8 million for the three month period and year ended December 31, 2013, respectively).

(3)

In June 2013, Inter Pipeline completed several internal transactions related to the restructuring of its limited partnership structure to position the
business for the Corporate Conversion by indirectly purchasing its general partner, for initial consideration of $170 million, plus closing adjustments of
$8.6 million, and a future second instalment of $170 million, which was satisfied upon the conversion of the convertible shares in January 2015.

(4)

Dividends to shareholders are calculated based on the number of common shares outstanding at each record date.

(5)

Amounts reported on a 100% basis that includes non-controlling interest.

(6)

Total debt reported in the December 31, 2014 consolidated financial statements of $4,571.5 million, includes long-term debt, short-term debt and
commercial paper of $4,590.7 million less discounts and debt transaction costs of $19.2 million.
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Year Ended December 31, 2014
Inter Pipeline generated record financial results for the year ended December 31, 2014. FFO* increased $91.4 million or
19.3% from $472.6 million in 2013 to $564.0 million in 2014. This strong financial performance was driven by record
annual FFO* from the oil sands transportation business increasing $86.4 million or 39.3% to $306.1 million in 2014. This
considerable increase is largely due to expanded transportation services on the Polaris and Cold Lake pipeline systems. The
conventional oil pipelines business also experienced record annual FFO* increasing $16.2 million or 9.3% to $191.1 million
in 2014, due to higher volumes transported and an incremental contribution from Inter Pipeline’s midstream marketing
activities. Financial results from the bulk liquid storage business increased $2.2 million as a result of favourable foreign
exchange, offset by lower utilization and storage rates. FFO* from the NGL extraction business decreased $28.4 million due
to lower frac-spread pricing and NGL volumes. FFO* benefitted from lower annual corporate costs of $15.0 million largely
due to lower current income tax expense and the elimination of management fees upon Corporate Conversion in 2013.
Inter Pipeline’s net income increased $47.9 million to $349.5 million in 2014, as compared to normalized net income* of
$301.6 million in 2013, after excluding the one-time non-cash internalization cost of $348.6 million. This increase is
primarily due to higher FFO* discussed above, partially offset by higher deferred income tax and higher depreciation and
amortization expense.
Total annual dividends to shareholders increased $84.9 million or 25.1% from $338.2 million in 2013 to $423.1 million in
2014. The increase is due to higher monthly dividend rates and a greater overall number of shares outstanding. Inter
Pipeline announced dividend rate increases in June and September 2013 which totaled $0.18 per common share on an
annualized basis and a November 2014 increase of $0.18 per common share on an annualized basis. The increase in the
overall number of common shares outstanding was largely due to equity offerings in October 2013 and March 2014, and
strong shareholder participation in Inter Pipeline’s dividend reinvestment plan. Inter Pipeline’s payout ratio* was 77.3% for
the year ended December 31, 2014.
Total consolidated debt increased $629.9 million from $3,960.8 million at December 31, 2013 to $4,590.7 million at
December 31, 2014, while $1,183.6 million (Inter Pipeline’s share) was incurred by Inter Pipeline on capital expenditures.
At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline’s total recourse debt to capitalization* ratio was 54.2%. Inter Pipeline’s total debt to
total capitalization ratio* at December 31, 2014 was 64.3%, which includes non-recourse debt of $1,579.7 million held
within Inter Pipeline’s Corridor corporate entity.

Three Months Ended December 31, 2014
Inter Pipeline generated record fourth quarter financial results, as FFO * increased $25.2 million or 18.7% from $134.5
million in 2013 to $159.7 million in 2014. These strong quarterly results were largely due to increased financial
performance in the oil sands transportation and conventional oil pipelines businesses, as well as lower corporate costs, for
the same reasons discussed above. Fourth quarter FFO* from the NGL extraction business was also lower in 2014 due to
lower frac-spread pricing and NGL volumes, while bulk liquid storage business decreased marginally as favourable foreign
exchange was more than offset by higher operating and administrative costs.

*
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Net income generated by Inter Pipeline decreased $5.0 million from $84.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 to $79.6
million in the fourth quarter of 2014, as the increase in FFO* discussed above was more than offset by higher deferred
income tax and higher depreciation and amortization expense.
Total dividends to shareholders in the fourth quarter increased by $16.3 million or 16.5% from $98.6 million in 2013 to
$114.9 million in 2014, primarily for the same reasons mentioned above. Inter Pipeline’s payout ratio * for the fourth
quarter of 2014 was 74.0%.
Inter Pipeline’s total consolidated debt increased $194.4 million from $4,396.3 million at September 30, 2014 to $4,590.7
million at December 31, 2014, while Inter Pipeline expended $159.6 million (Inter Pipeline’s share) on capital projects.

OUTLOOK
Inter Pipeline owns and operates world scale energy infrastructure assets located in western Canada and Europe. Our longterm strategy is to acquire and develop these assets to generate stable and predictable cash flow, while delivering strong
returns to shareholders. In 2014, this strategy was successfully executed as Inter Pipeline advanced a multi-billion dollar
pipeline expansion program on its Polaris and Cold Lake pipeline systems. The capital program, the largest in Inter
Pipeline’s history, leaves our pipeline business well positioned to capture further growth opportunities.
Inter Pipeline has planned a $400 million capital expenditure program for 2015 with a primary focus on the expansion of
its oil sands transportation and conventional oil pipelines businesses. Growth capital* projects are expected to account for
approximately $340 million, while the remainder will be invested on sustaining capital* projects across Inter Pipeline’s four
business segments and for corporate requirements.
In 2015, our focus remains on the execution of major expansion programs on both the oil sands and conventional oil
pipeline systems. These large scale developments are primarily underpinned by long-term contracts with credit-worthy
counterparties that are expected to substantially increase FFO* and support stable and growing returns to shareholders
over the long-term. The construction projects are also adding substantial transportation capacity beyond current
contractual requirements that will competitively position Inter Pipeline to pursue future accretive growth opportunities in
a capital-efficient manner.
Expansion of oil sands transportation infrastructure represents approximately $200 million of planned 2015 growth capital
expenditures*. The expansions are the result of producer demand for increased bitumen blend and diluent throughput
capacity between the Cold Lake and Athabasca oil sands producing regions and market hubs in Edmonton and Hardisty,
Alberta.
Inter Pipeline’s Polaris and Cold Lake system expansions are anchored by long-term cost-of-service agreements with large
and stable producers who have contracted for volume commitments totaling approximately 1.1 million b/d. The FCCL
Partnership (FCCL), a business venture between Cenovus Energy and ConocoPhillips, has committed to 850,000 b/d of
bitumen blend and diluent transportation capacity for its Foster Creek, Christina Lake and Narrows Lake oil sands projects.
In support of FCCL’s large volume commitment, Inter Pipeline is investing approximately $3.0 billion (Inter Pipeline’s share)
to expand and integrate the Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline systems. Construction of the expansions is substantially

*
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complete as major components, including new mainline installations on both the Polaris and Cold Lake systems, have
entered commercial service. In total, Inter Pipeline will construct 840 km of pipeline and seven mainline pump stations to
provide transportation service to FCCL’s three oil sands projects.
Total diluent transportation capacity on the Polaris system has increased to approximately 820,000 b/d and Cold Lake
system capacity has increased to approximately 1.2 million b/d. Ultimate throughput capacities of 1.2 million b/d and 1.9
million b/d on the Polaris and Cold Lake systems, respectively, can be achieved through the addition of pump stations and
associated infrastructure. In 2015, Inter Pipeline will continue to aggressively pursue opportunities to utilize this excess
capacity.
In the conventional oil pipelines segment, the business outlook remains positive despite recent oil price instability. In total,
Inter Pipeline expects to invest approximately $115 million in growth capital* in the conventional oil pipelines business in
2015. Strong producer demand for transportation services is driving a major expansion of the Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline
system. New connections and pipeline twinning projects are being constructed as strong drilling activity and increased
recoveries from established oil fields in the Kindersley-Kerrobert areas of Saskatchewan continue to increase volumes. The
Mid-Saskatchewan system expansion will involve the construction of 50 km of new mainline pipe, 40 km of new pipeline
laterals, and all associated facilities.
In the NGL extraction business segment, Inter Pipeline expects 2015 growth capital expenditures * to be approximately $10
million. Investments will be directed toward several projects to further improve the recovery efficiency of ethane and
propane-plus products extracted at the Cochrane and Empress plants.
Inter Pipeline expects to spend approximately $20 million on growth capital* projects in its European bulk liquid storage
business segment in 2015. In the United Kingdom (UK), approximately $12 million will be directed towards asset life
extension projects and containment related site work. In Germany, approximately $7 million will be spent on the
construction of six new tanks with total capacity of 57,000 barrels in response to strong demand for specialty chemical
storage service from various customers including the adjacent BASF Ludwigshafen plant, one of the largest chemical
production complexes in the world. Utilization rates in the bulk liquid storage business are expected to improve in 2015 as
certain terminals in Denmark are well positioned to capture additional storage opportunities as contango in the middle
distillate market returns.
Inter Pipeline raised a record $1.5 billion in equity and debt capital markets in 2014 in order to finance its large capital
expenditure program and maintain a strong balance sheet. In March, $300 million of equity was issued through a very
successful public share offering. An additional $265 million of equity was raised through the strong participation of
shareholders under Inter Pipeline’s dividend reinvestment plan. Inter Pipeline also issued $900 million of term debt
through a dual tranche offering of $500 million 30-year medium-term notes (MTN Series 5) and $400 million of 3-year
floating rate notes (MTN Series 6) at attractive rates. Net proceeds from these offerings were utilized to reduce debt
outstanding under Inter Pipeline’s revolving credit facility.
As a result of a strong balance sheet and growing cost-of-service based cash flow, Inter Pipeline continues to benefit from
investment grade credit ratings from the major ratings institutions. Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and DBRS Limited (DBRS) have
assigned Inter Pipeline credit ratings of BBB+ and BBB (high), respectively, each with a stable trend. Inter Pipeline

*
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(Corridor) Inc. (Corridor) has been assigned investment grade credit ratings of A (stable outlook) from S&P and DBRS and
A2 (stable outlook) from Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s).
Inter Pipeline’s outlook remains positive as we continue to develop and expand our long-life, high quality energy
infrastructure asset base and capture new business opportunities. With a strong balance sheet, experienced operating and
project development teams and a culture focused on disciplined growth, Inter Pipeline is well positioned to continue to
deliver long-term positive returns to our shareholders.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Oil Sands Transportation Business Segment
Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
% change
546.0
456.8
19.5
360.8
328.5
9.8
117.1
37.3
213.9
1,023.9
822.6
24.5

Volumes (000s b/d)
Cold Lake (100% basis)
Corridor
Polaris

(millions)
Revenue(1)
Operating expenses(1)
Funds from operations(1)(2)
Capital expenditures(1)
Growth(2)
Sustaining(2)

2014
504.1
348.3
60.5
912.9

Years Ended December 31
2013
% change
478.2
5.4
334.8
4.0
15.4
292.9
828.4
10.2

$
$
$

$
$
$

140.5
28.2
97.2

$
$
$

107.4
26.6
64.2

30.8 $
6.0 $
51.4 $

476.7
117.0
306.1

$

121.9
1.3
123.2

$

534.5
0.8
535.3

$

1,126.6
1.9
1,128.5

$

$

$

388.5
112.8
219.7

22.7
3.7
39.3

$ 1,853.2
2.2
$ 1,855.4

(1)

For the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014, Cold Lake pipeline system includes the following amounts relating to non-controlling
interest: revenue - $6.3 million and $25.6 million ($5.7 million and $21.0 million in 2013), respectively; operating expenses - $1.9 million and $8.8
million ($1.8 million and $8.2 million in 2013), respectively; FFO(2) - $4.4 million and $16.8 million ($3.9 million and $12.8 million in 2013), respectively;
and capital expenditures - $3.4 million and $52.6 million ($179.3 million and $185.3 million in 2013), respectively.

(2)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

The oil sands transportation business segment is comprised of the Cold Lake, Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems that
transport petroleum products and provide related blending and handling services in northern Alberta.
The Cold Lake pipeline system is a bitumen blend and diluent pipeline system that transports diluted bitumen from the
Cold Lake oil sands area of Alberta to delivery points in the Hardisty and Edmonton areas. Inter Pipeline owns an 85%
interest in the Cold Lake pipeline system and operates the system pursuant to a long-term Transportation Services
Agreement (Cold Lake TSA) with the Cold Lake founding shippers. The shippers have committed to utilizing these pipelines
and paying for such usage over the term of the Cold Lake TSA which extends indefinitely subject to certain provisions in
the agreement. The Cold Lake TSA provides for a structured return on capital invested, including a defined capital fee that
is applied to volumes transported through the pipelines and facilities that comprise the Cold Lake pipeline system, and the
recovery of substantially all operating costs. Inter Pipeline anticipates continued volume growth on the Cold Lake Pipeline
system which is consistent with the shipper’s long-term published forecasts. In addition to the Cold Lake TSA, there are
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additional agreements between Cold Lake Pipeline Limited Partnership (Cold Lake LP) and both the founding and third
party shippers that provide for a return on capital invested and recovery of associated operating costs.
The Corridor pipeline system is comprised of a bitumen blend pipeline, a diluent delivery pipeline, a feedstock pipeline and
two products pipelines. It transports diluted bitumen produced from the Muskeg River and Jackpine Mines near Fort
McMurray, Alberta to the Scotford upgrader located northeast of Edmonton, Alberta as well as feedstock and upgraded
products between the Scotford upgrader and certain pipeline terminals in Edmonton, Alberta. Corridor is the sole
transporter of diluted bitumen produced by the Athabasca Oil Sands Project. The Corridor pipeline system is operated
pursuant to a long-term Firm Service Agreement (Corridor FSA). The Corridor FSA utilizes a rate base cost-of-service
approach to establish a revenue requirement which provides for recovery of debt financing costs, substantially all
operating costs, rate base depreciation and taxes in addition to providing a return on equity. As a result of this cost-ofservice approach, Corridor’s FFO * is not impacted by throughput volumes or commodity price fluctuations. The main
drivers of any potential variation in Corridor’s FFO* are changes to the long-term Government of Canada (GOC) bond rate,
upon which the annual return on equity is determined, and changes to Corridor’s rate base. The initial term of the Corridor
FSA is 25 years, extending through 2028 with options for further extensions.
The Polaris pipeline system is comprised of a 12-inch diameter diluent pipeline that commenced commercial operations in
August 2012 and a newly constructed 30-inch diameter diluent pipeline that commenced commercial operations in July
2014. The Polaris pipeline system currently provides diluent transportation service from a diluent receipt point in the area
north east of Edmonton to Imperial’s Kearl, Husky’s Sunrise, Suncor’s oil sands, Canadian Natural Resources (CNR) Kirby
South and FCCL’s Foster Creek and Christina Lake oil sands projects. The Polaris pipeline system generates revenue under
various long-term diluent transportation agreements utilizing a cost-of-service approach providing for a return on capital
invested and recovery of substantially all operating costs. Throughput volumes below the ship-or-pay commitments or
commodity price fluctuations will not impact Polaris’ FFO* over the life of the contracts as a result of the cost-of-service
approach.
See the Description of the Business section of the Annual Information Form for further information about the oil sands
transportation business.

Volumes

Average volumes in the oil sands transportation business increased 201,300 b/d or 24.5% in the fourth quarter from
822,600 b/d in 2013 to 1,023,900 b/d in 2014. Volumes also increased 84,500 b/d or 10.2% for the full year from 828,400
b/d in 2013 to 912,900 b/d in 2014.
Cold Lake pipeline system volumes increased 89,200 b/d or 19.5% and 25,900 b/d or 5.4% in the three months and year
ended December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. The increase in volumes is largely due to
incremental production from the CNR Kirby South facility and the FCCL Foster Creek expansion which began shipments in
December 2013 and September 2014, respectively. In addition, 2013 volumes were unfavourably impacted by certain
producers’ operational and product quality issues, as well as facility maintenance activities. Cold Lake pipeline system
volumes typically fluctuate with the timing of steam injection cycles associated with certain shippers’ production
processes. Volume growth on the Cold Lake pipeline system is anticipated over the long-term, which is consistent with
shippers’ published forecasts.
*
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Average volumes on the Corridor pipeline system increased 32,300 b/d or 9.8% in the fourth quarter and 13,500 b/d or
4.0% year to date in 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013, due to increased production levels from the Muskeg
River and Jackpine mines.
On the Polaris pipeline system average volumes increased 79,800 b/d and 45,100 b/d, in the three months and year ended
December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. The increase is largely due to commencement of diluent
transportation services as Inter Pipeline completed the majority of its $1.5 billion pipeline system expansion to the FCCL
Foster Creek and Christina Lake facilities. In addition, volumes also increased as a result of increased deliveries to CNR’s
Kirby South oil sands project and Imperial’s Kearl oil sands project located north east of Fort McMurray, Alberta, as these
new projects ramped up production.

Revenue

Revenue from the oil sands transportation business increased $33.1 million to $140.5 million and $88.2 million to $476.7
million in the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013.
Cold Lake pipeline revenue increased $4.3 million to $42.4 million in the fourth quarter and $30.6 million to $171.6 million
for the full year of 2014, over the same periods in 2013. Revenue in both periods increased due to higher mainline and
Foster Creek volumes, revenue from the Canexus unit train loading connection which began in July 2014 and higher
operating cost recoveries. Annual 2014 revenue also increased substantially due to a full year of capital fee revenue from
transportation services for the CNR Kirby South oil sands project, which began in August 2013.
Corridor pipeline revenue decreased $1.0 million to $44.0 million and $0.7 million to $172.7 million in the three months
and year ended December 31, 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013. The decrease in both periods is due to the
declining nature of Corridor’s rate base and a lower return on equity due to a decrease in the long-term GOC benchmark
bond interest rate, which was partially offset by increased operating cost recoveries.
Revenue from the Polaris pipeline system, for the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, increased $29.8
million to $54.1 million and $58.3 million to $132.4 million, respectively, over the comparable periods in 2013. The
increase in both periods is primarily due to capital fee revenue from diluent transportation service for FCCL, which began
in the third quarter of 2014. Revenues also increased due to capital fee revenue associated with Husky’s Sunrise oil sands
project which started in the fourth quarter of 2013 and the Canexus unit train loading connection which began in July of
2014, as well as increased operating cost recoveries. These increases were slightly offset due to annual 2013 revenue
including certain recoverable construction related expenditures associated with a project which was completed in late
2013.

Operating Expenses

In the oil sands transportation business segment, operating expenses typically have a limited impact on Inter Pipeline’s
FFO *. On the Cold Lake, Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems, substantially all operating expenditures are recovered from
the shippers. In the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, operating expenses in the oil sands transportation
business increased $1.6 million to $28.2 million and $4.2 million to $117.0 million, respectively, compared to the same
periods in 2013.

*
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Cold Lake pipeline operating expenses increased $0.2 million and $4.2 million in the three months and year ended
December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. Operating expenses increased largely due to higher
employee and general operating costs related to the various expansions, partially offset by lower maintenance and power
costs. Lower power costs resulted from decreased power pricing which was somewhat offset by higher consumption and
transportation costs related to the higher volumes. Full year 2014 operating costs were also higher due to increased
property taxes.
Operating expenses on the Corridor pipeline system decreased $0.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2014 as higher
subsidence repairs were more than offset by lower integrity and general operating costs, compared to the same period in
2013. Operating costs for the full year of 2014 increased $2.3 million over 2013, due to higher subsidence repairs,
employee costs and general operating costs, somewhat offset by lower integrity spending.
Operating expenses on the Polaris pipeline system increased $1.5 million in the fourth quarter and decreased $2.3 million
for the full year of 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013. Operating expenses in both periods increased due to
expanded pipeline operations resulting in higher employee costs, general operating costs, property taxes and insurance.
Annual 2014 operating expenses decreased from 2013 due to the inclusion in 2013 of certain recoverable construction
related expenditures, which more than offset the aforementioned increase.

Capital Expenditures

The oil sands transportation business incurred total growth capital expenditures * of $1,126.6 million in 2014.
Total growth capital expenditures* on the Cold Lake pipeline system were $385.2 million in 2014, which primarily relate to
Cold Lake pipeline’s $1.5 billion (Inter Pipeline’s share) oil sands development program to provide transportation services
to existing FCCL projects. These expenditures include engineering, design, procurement and construction activities.
The Cold Lake pipeline system and the Polaris pipeline system incurred additional growth capital expenditures* of $25.8
million and $18.9 million in 2014, respectively, related to construction for bitumen blend transportation services to
Canexus’ unit train rail loading facility near Bruderheim, Alberta. In the third quarter of 2014, Inter Pipeline completed
construction of the 13 km, 24-inch diameter pipeline lateral and associated metering facility to transport bitumen blend
from Inter Pipeline’s Cold Lake system to a Canexus owned pipeline via the Polaris pump station near Lamont, Alberta, for
a total cost of approximately $60 million (Inter Pipeline’s share).
The Polaris pipeline system incurred total growth capital expenditures* of $740.2 million in 2014, of which roughly $700
million relates to its $1.5 billion expansion program, for a total of approximately $1,360 million spent to date. In the third
quarter of 2014, Inter Pipeline announced that a major component of the Polaris pipeline system expansion was
completed and placed into commercial service. A 290 km 30-inch diameter mainline segment connecting the Lamont
pump station to FCCL’s Foster Creek and Christina Lake production facilities was completed and entered commercial
service in July 2014. The successfully completed segment, representing approximately $1.1 billion of the Polaris pipeline
system’s $1.5 billion estimated total expansion cost, increased throughput capacity by approximately 700,000 b/d. The
remaining Polaris pipeline expansion including a diluent connection to the Narrows Lake production site is expected to be
completed by mid-2017.

*
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Growth capital expenditures * on the Polaris pipeline system for the construction of a new delivery connection to
Athabasca Oil Corporation’s Hangingstone project were $10.9 million in 2014, for a total project spend to date of $11.4
million. The total estimated cost of this project is $29 million.
The Polaris pipeline system also incurred $1.4 million in growth capital expenditures* relating to the construction of a new
1.2 km pipeline lateral and associated facilities which will connect the Polaris pipeline system to the JACOS-Nexen
Hangingstone project, for a total estimated cost of $25 million.
The remaining 2014 Polaris pipeline growth capital expenditures* of $15.1 million relate to various other development
initiatives.

Conventional Oil Pipelines Business Segment
Three Months Ended December 31
2013 % change
2014
103.7
100.6
3.1
36.2
34.8
4.0
73.3
58.7
24.9
213.2
194.1
9.8

Volumes (000s b/d)
Bow Ri ver
Centra l Al berta
Mi d-Sa s ka tchewa n

(millions, except per barrel amount)
Revenue
$
Mi ds trea m product purcha s es
$
Opera ti ng expens es
$
Funds from opera ti ons

(1)

(2)

Revenue per ba rrel
Ca pi ta l expendi tures
Growth (1)
Sus ta i ni ng (1)

363.9
107.3
65.9

$
$
$

302.2
75.8
51.2

20.4
41.6
28.7

$

191.1

$

174.9

9.3

2.94

(0.3) $

2.94

$

2.92

0.7

6.5
0.8
7.3

$

48.4
4.3
52.7

$

12.6
4.6
17.2

87.1
22.4
19.0

$
$
$

82.3
23.7
14.4

$

46.8

$

44.0

$

2.93

$

$

21.1
0.9
22.0

$

$

$

Yea rs Ended December 31
2014
2013 % change
100.9
97.7
3.3
36.7
35.4
3.7
67.6
53.5
26.4
205.2
186.6
10.0

5.8 $
(5.5) $
31.9 $
6.4

$

$

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

Revenue per barrel represents total revenue of the conventional oil pipelines business segment less midstream marketing revenue, revenue from
take-or-pay contracts for volume shortfalls and revenue/expense from over/short volumes, divided by actual volumes.

The conventional oil pipelines business includes the Bow River, Central Alberta and Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline systems
located in Alberta and Saskatchewan. The majority of petroleum volumes on these conventional gathering systems are
transported on an open access basis and subject to Inter Pipeline’s posted tariffs. Those volumes under short-term
contracts have fixed tolling arrangements with specific volume commitments.
See the Description of the Business section of the Annual Information Form for further information about the
conventional oil pipelines business.

Volumes

Average volumes on the conventional oil pipelines increased 19,100 b/d or 9.8% and 18,600 b/d or 10.0% for the three
month period and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. Incremental volumes on
the Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline system were the primary driver, increasing 14,600 b/d or 24.9% in the fourth quarter and

*
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14,100 b/d or 26.4% for the full year in 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013. Volumes increased as producers
continued to utilize horizontal drilling and multi-stage hydraulic fracturing completion technologies in the Viking light oil
play yielding a significant increase in regional production. Bow River pipeline system volumes increased 3,100 b/d or 3.1%
and 3,200 b/d or 3.3%, in the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, compared to the same
periods in 2013. The increase largely results from stronger truck terminal volumes, as well as a third party refinery
turnaround which occurred in the second quarter of 2013 which reduced volumes in that year. Volumes on the Central
Alberta pipeline system increased 1,400 b/d or 4.0% in the fourth quarter and 1,300 b/d or 3.7% for the full year of 2014,
compared to the same periods in 2013. Central Alberta pipeline volumes increased largely due to increased drilling activity
in the area and higher truck terminal volume.

Revenue

Revenue from the conventional oil pipelines business increased $4.8 million to $87.1 million and $61.7 million to $363.9
million in the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, over the comparable periods in 2013.
Revenue increased primarily due to incremental volumes transported on the conventional oil pipelines systems, leading to
higher tolling revenue. The increase in transportation volumes also resulted in higher revenue from Inter Pipeline’s
midstream marketing business, however in the current quarter this increase was offset by lower crude oil pricing,
compared to the same period in 2013.

Midstream Product Purchases

Midstream product purchases decreased $1.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2014, due to lower product pricing which
was partially offset by an increase in volume, over the same period in 2013. For the full year, midstream product purchases
increased $31.5 million in 2014, coinciding with the rise in volume on the conventional oil pipelines system, as well as
higher trucking costs, partially offset by lower product pricing, compared to the same period in 2013.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses in the conventional oil pipelines business for the three months and year ended December 31, 2014
increased $4.6 million and $14.7 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013. These increases are largely
due to one-time events resulting in higher remediation costs of $1.4 million and $3.9 million, and in expenditures of $1.4
million and $1.7 million related to the addition of a planned subsidence program for the three months and year ended
December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. Operating expenses were also higher in both periods due
to increased variable operating and employee costs associated with the increased volumes. The majority of these
increases are a result of Inter Pipeline’s proactive approach to maintaining the integrity and reliability of its pipelines.
Operating expenses also increased in the three months and year ended December 31, 2014 due to over/short volumes
being recorded on a gross basis within both revenues and expenses due to the full internalization of Inter Pipeline’s midstream marketing activities, rather than on a net basis within revenues.

Capital Expenditures

Growth capital expenditures * in the conventional oil pipelines business in 2014 were $48.4 million. These expenditures
include $27.8 million relating to a planned $100 million expansion of the Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline system, for a total of
$28.7 million spent to date on the project. The expansion involves the construction of over 50 km of new mainline pipe, 40

*
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km of new pipeline laterals and associated pumping and metering facilities. The remaining expenditures relate to a
number of third party connections, storage tanks and upgrades to certain shipping/receiving facilities and truck terminals.

NGL Extraction Business Segment
2014
mmcf/d
Fa ci l i ty
Cochra ne
Empres s V
(100% ba s i s )
Empres s II

Throughput
1,667
989
2,656

(000s b/d)
Etha ne
40.6
26.0
66.6

mmcf/d

Propa nepl us
25.1
11.7
36.8

Three Months Ended December 31
2013
(000s b/d)

Tota l Throughput
65.7
1,917
37.7
103.4

946
2,863

24.2
78.6

Fa ci l i ty
Cochra ne
Empres s V
(100% ba s i s )
Empres s II

Throughput
1,526
926
2,452

(millions)
Revenue(1)
Shrinkage gas(1)
Operating expenses(1)
Funds from operations(1)(2)
Capital expenditures(1)
Growth(2)
Sustaining(2)

(000s b/d)
Propa nepl us
Etha ne
40.3
23.8
22.6
62.9

$
$
$
$
$
$

10.9
34.7

mmcf/d
Tota l Throughput
64.1
1,692
33.5
97.6

893
134
2,719

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013 % change
123.0 $
146.6
(16.1)
71.3 $
68.1
4.7
26.9 $
25.2
6.7
24.7 $
53.4
(53.7)
1.3
2.5
3.8

$
$

24.2
3.0
74.7

$
$
$
$
$

3.4
1.5
4.9

10.8
37.1

Tota l
80.7
35.0
115.7

Yea rs Ended December 31
2013
(000s b/d)
Propa nepl us
Etha ne
Tota l
47.5
23.1
70.6

2014
mmcf/d

Propa nepl us
26.3

Etha ne
54.4

$

2014
548.6
297.0
109.4
142.3

10.7
1.7
35.5

34.9
4.7
110.2

Years Ended December 31
2013 % change
$
520.7
5.4
$
235.7
26.0
$
114.3
(4.3)
$
170.7
(16.6)

6.3 $
5.6
11.9 $

31.2
3.9
35.1

(1)

Revenue, shrinkage gas, operating expenses, FFO(2) and capital expenditures for the Empress V NGL extraction facility are recorded based on Inter
Pipeline’s 50% ownership.

(2)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

Inter Pipeline’s NGL extraction business consists of a 100% ownership interest in the Cochrane and Empress II extraction
facilities and a 50% ownership interest in the Empress V extraction facility. The Empress and Cochrane facilities are located
on the eastern and western legs, respectively, of the TransCanada Alberta pipeline system near export points from Alberta.
NGL extraction facilities recover propane, butane and pentanes-plus (“propane-plus” collectively) and ethane from natural
gas streams.
This business has three types of sales contracts with three primary counterparties: Dow Chemical, NOVA Chemicals and
Plains Midstream. Contract types include cost-of-service, fee-based or commodity-based arrangements.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 19
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

I3-149_Backend_V9_PT_Digital.indd 19

19

2015-03-05 3:02 PM

Payments under cost-of-service contracts include a fixed capital charge and provision for recovery of shrinkage gas and all
operating costs. This form of contract provides the most stable cash flow of the three contract types, as there is minimal
volume risk and no commodity price exposure. This type of contract also provides a structured return on new capital
invested using a rate base approach.
Fee-based contracts generate a fixed fee for each barrel of NGL produced, and recovery of shrinkage gas and operating
costs. Fee-based contracts are exposed to volume risk but have no commodity price exposure.
Commodity-based contracts provide for a sharing of profit from the sale of NGL products between the NGL extraction
business and purchaser. The profit share calculation includes revenue from the sale of NGL products less costs to bring the
NGL product to market, including extraction, shrinkage gas, fractionation and marketing costs. Commodity-based contracts
are exposed to commodity price, currency and volume risks.
See the Description of the Business section of the Annual Information Form for further information about the NGL
extraction business.

Volumes

Inter Pipeline’s NGL extraction facilities processed average natural gas throughput volumes of 2,656 million cubic feet per
day (mmcf/d) in the fourth quarter and 2,452 mmcf/d for the full year of 2014, compared to 2,863 mmcf/d and 2,719
mmcf/d, respectively, in the same periods of 2013.
Average throughput volumes at the Cochrane facility declined 250 mmcf/d and 166 mmcf/d in the three months and year
ended December 31, 2014, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013. Cochrane throughput volumes are largely
impacted by, and fluctuate with, demand for Canadian natural gas in the United States (US) west-coast region. A decrease
in ethane deliveries from the Cochrane and Empress V extraction facilities also stemmed from issues at downstream
facilities.
At the Empress V facility, throughput volumes increased 43 mmcf/d in the fourth quarter and 33 mmcf/d for the full year
in 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013. There were no throughput volumes at the Empress II facility in 2014, and
134 mmcf/d for the full year of 2013. Throughput volumes at the Empress facilities are dependent on the level of natural
gas exported from Alberta’s eastern border and are reliant on successfully attracting border gas flows to the extraction
facilities. Earlier in 2014, throughput volumes at the Empress V facility were also impacted by an unplanned 16 day full
plant maintenance outage. Empress II throughput volumes do not impact operating results due to the cost-of-service
commercial arrangements at this facility.

Revenue

In the fourth quarter of 2014, revenue from the NGL extraction business decreased $23.6 million largely due to reduced
NGL production as a result of lower natural gas throughput levels at the Cochrane facility and lower ethane and propaneplus product pricing, compared to the same period in 2013.
Revenue increased for the full year of 2014 by $27.9 million, due to higher propane-plus pricing and volumes at the
Cochrane facility and higher ethane pricing at Empress V, which was partially offset by lower ethane volumes at the
Cochrane and Empress V facilities. In 2013, volumes were unfavourably impacted by a full plant turnaround at Cochrane
and Alberta flood related restrictions.
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Frac-spread
USD/USG (1)
$
0.529
$
0.540

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
CAD/USG (1)
USD/USG (1)
CAD/USG (1)
$
0.599 $
1.044 $
1.098
$
0.612 $
0.991 $
1.042

USD/USG (1)
$
0.777
$
0.759

Years Ended December 31
2014
2013
(1)
(1)
CAD/USG
USD/USG
CAD/USG (1)
$
0.856 $
0.961 $
0.999
$
0.836 $
0.956 $
0.993

(dollars)
Market frac-spread
Realized frac-spread

(dollars)
Market frac-spread
Realized frac-spread
(1)

The differential between USD/USG and CAD/USG frac-spreads is due to fluctuations in exchange rates between US and Canadian dollars.

Market frac-spread is defined as the difference between the weighted average propane-plus price at Mont Belvieu, Texas
and the monthly index price of AECO natural gas purchased for shrinkage calculated in US dollars per US gallon (USD/USG).
This price is converted to Canadian dollars per US gallon (CAD/USG) based on the average monthly Bank of Canada
CAD/USD noon rate. Realized frac-spread is defined in a similar manner and is calculated on a weighted average basis
using market frac-spread for unhedged production and fixed-price frac-spread prices for any hedged production. Natural
gas purchased for shrinkage is based on the actual combination of the monthly index and daily price of AECO paid.
Propane-plus market price differentials, natural gas transportation and extraction premium costs have not been significant
historically, and therefore are not included in the calculation of realized frac-spread. See the RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS section for further discussion of frac-spread hedges.
In the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, realized frac-spreads decreased from $0.99 USD/USG to $0.54
USD/USG and from $0.96 USD/USG to $0.76 USD/USG, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013. The 5-year
and 15-year simple average market frac-spreads, as at December 31, 2014, were $0.97 USD/USG and $0.59 USD/USG,
respectively.

Shrinkage Gas

Shrinkage gas represents natural gas bought by Inter Pipeline to replace the heat content of liquids extracted from natural
gas processed at the extraction facilities. The price for shrinkage gas is based on a combination of daily and monthly index
AECO natural gas prices. For the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, shrinkage gas expense increased $3.2
million and $61.3 million, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. The increase in both periods was largely due to
higher AECO natural gas prices. In the fourth quarter, weighted average monthly AECO prices * increased from $2.99 per
gigajoule (GJ) in 2013 to $3.80/GJ in 2014 and for the full year from $3.00/GJ in 2013 to $4.19/GJ in 2014.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses in the NGL extraction business increased $1.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2014 primarily due to
higher maintenance and general operating costs at the Cochrane facility, partially offset by lower fuel and power costs. For
the full year of 2014, operating costs decreased $4.9 million largely due to lower fuel and power costs, as well as lower
general operating and maintenance costs, which were higher in 2013 due to a full plant maintenance outage at the

*

Weighted average price calculated from one-month spot prices at AECO as reported in the Canadian Gas Price Reporter.
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Cochrane facility. Fuel and power costs were lower in both periods largely due to lower power pricing as average Alberta
power pool prices decreased in the fourth quarter from $48.60/MWh in 2013 to $30.47/MWh in 2014 and for the full year
from $80.20/MWh in 2013 to $49.42/MWh in 2014.

Capital Expenditures

In 2014, the NGL extraction business incurred growth capital expenditures * of $6.3 million, primarily relating to equipment
upgrades at the Cochrane facility.

Bulk Liquid Storage Business Segment
Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
% change
84%
84%
-

(millions)
Utilization
(millions)
Revenue
Operating expenses
Funds from operations(1)
Capital expenditures
Growth(1)
Sustaining(1)

Years Ended December 31
2013
% change
84%
(6.0)

$
$
$

39.5 $
21.5 $
15.8 $

37.9
20.1
16.1

4.2 $
7.0 $
(1.9) $

167.1 $
76.0 $
75.4 $

151.3
68.4
73.2

$

4.9 $
5.4
10.3 $

5.0
5.9
10.9

$

12.7 $
21.2
33.9 $

21.9
12.5
34.4

$
(1)

2014
79%

$

10.4
11.1
3.0

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

Inter Pipeline operates a bulk liquid storage business which was rebranded Inter Terminals, effective January 1, 2015,
bringing together the Simon Storage operations in the UK, Germany and Ireland under the same trading banner as Inter
Terminals, Denmark. The combined Inter Terminals business represents one of the largest independent bulk liquid storage
businesses in Europe, with a combined storage capacity of approximately 19 million barrels located across 12 terminals.
The terminals in the UK, Germany and Ireland provide storage and distribution facilities for a wide range of hazardous and
non hazardous liquids, including oils, chemicals, biofuels and waste oils. These terminals are strategically located at the
coastal ports of Immingham, Teesside and Tyneside in the UK, on the Shannon estuary, Ireland and on the Rhine River at
Mannheim, Germany. In Denmark, Inter Terminals operates four deep draft coastal terminals which provide storage and
distribution facilities for distillates and heated oil products. Business activities consist primarily of storage and handling
services contracted through a combination of fixed storage rental and capacity reservation fees and variable throughput
fees. The business supports a wide range of activities, including refinery support, inland product distribution, cargo
blending, bulk building, bulk breaking, and raw material storage for regional manufacturing facilities and has a welldiversified customer base, with key customers including Phillips 66, Gunvor, Statoil, Mabanaft, Greenergy and Harvest
Energy.
See the Description of the Business section of the Annual Information Form for further information about the bulk liquid
storage business.

*
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Utilization

Average utilization rates were consistent in the fourth quarter of 2013 and 2014, and decreased for the full year from 84%
in 2013 to 79% in 2014. Utilization was impacted, particularly at the Gulfhavn terminal in Denmark, by the absence of
strong contango in certain petroleum product futures markets which negatively impacted demand for bulk liquid storage.
Despite the challenging market in 2014, average utilization rates have continued to improve throughout the third and
fourth quarter of 2014 and were over 90% for the month of December.

Revenue

In the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, revenue from the bulk liquid storage business increased $1.6
million and $15.8 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013. The increase in revenue was largely due to
higher foreign currency translation adjustments of $1.2 million in the fourth quarter and $15.7 million year to date in 2014,
over the same periods in 2013. Revenue in the fourth quarter of 2014 also increased due to higher occupancy and activity
levels at the Gulfhavn and Asnaes terminals, partially offset by lower rates at the Ensted terminal in Denmark. On a year to
date basis, revenue in 2014 also benefitted from a contract termination fee at the Immingham terminal and business
interruption proceeds from flooding that occurred at the Immingham and Riverside terminals in December 2013. These
increases were largely offset by lower revenue from the Denmark terminals for the full year of 2014 as a result of lower
occupancy levels and a reduction in average storage rates.
See the Foreign Exchange Rates section below for further information on changes in rates.

Foreign Exchange Rates
(dollars)
Euro/CAD
Pound Sterling/CAD

$
$

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
% change
1.4186 $
1.4296
(0.8) $
1.7974 $
1.7005
5.7 $

2014
1.4671 $
1.8190 $

Years Ended December 31
2013
% change
1.3688
7.2
1.6119
12.8

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses in the bulk liquid storage business increased $1.4 million in the fourth quarter and $7.6 million for the
full year of 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013. Foreign currency translation adjustments for the three months
and year ended December 31, 2014, increased operating expenses by $0.7 million and $7.2 million, respectively, over the
same periods in 2013. Operating costs in the current quarter were also impacted by higher fuel and power costs which
were partially offset by lower flood related costs from the Immingham and Riverside terminals. For the full year of 2014
operating expenses also increased due to higher flood related costs from the Immingham and Riverside terminals,
property taxes and general operating costs, which was partially offset by lower ancillary and repair costs.

Capital Expenditures

In 2014, the bulk liquid storage business incurred $12.7 million of growth capital expenditures *, largely relating to a
number of tank life extensions and tank modification projects at the UK and German terminals. Growth capital
expenditures* also included $0.3 million related to the $9 million expansion at a terminal located near Mannheim,
Germany, where six new tanks with total capacity of 57,000 barrels are being constructed in response to strong demand
for specialty chemical storage service.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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The bulk liquid storage business also incurred $21.2 million in sustaining capital expenditures * in 2014, primarily relating to
environmental performance enhancement initiatives, other terminal infrastructure and safety improvement projects, as
well as flood related replacement expenditures at the Immingham and Riverside terminals.

Other Expenses
(millions)
Depreciation and amortization
Financing charges
Provision for income taxes
General and administrative
Management and incentive fees to general partner
Unrealized change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
General partner internalization

$

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
39.7 $
32.6 $
27.5
21.8
31.2
27.9
19.7
26.1
0.3
2.9
-

1.3
2.0
-

2014
142.8
93.6
115.0
85.9
-

Years Ended
December 31
2013
$
126.7
91.9
86.6
77.1
8.0

(1.0)
(2.1)
-

9.1
3.7
348.6

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets increased in the three months and year ended December
31, 2014 by $7.1 million and $16.1 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013. These increases are
primarily due to depreciation of new assets now in service, as well as accelerated amortization of the Simon Storage
tradename intangible asset due to the rebranding to Inter Terminals.

Financing Charges
(millions)
Interest on credit facilities
Interest on loan payable to private placement
noteholders
Interest on Corridor Debentures
Interest on MTN Series 1 to 6
Total interest
Capitalized interest
Amortization of transaction costs on long-term debt,
short-term debt and commercial paper
Accretion of provisions and pension plan funding
charges
Total financing charges

$

$

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
10.2 $
10.0 $
1.3
2.6
21.5
35.6
(10.1)

4.4
2.6
14.0
31.0
(10.6)

0.9

0.9

1.1
27.5 $

0.5
21.8 $

Years Ended
December 31
2014
2013
37.9 $
38.0
14.5
10.1
73.9
136.4
(49.3)
3.8
2.7
93.6 $

17.7
10.1
46.6
112.4
(26.3)
3.5
2.3
91.9

Total financing charges increased $5.7 million and $1.7 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2014,
respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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In the three months and year ended December 31, 2014, interest on medium-term notes (MTN) increased $7.5 million and
$27.3 million, respectively, over the comparable periods in 2013, due to the timing of issuance of MTN Series 4 on July 19,
2013 and MTN Series 5 and 6 on May 30, 2014.
Capitalized interest decreased $0.5 million in the current quarter of 2014, due to the completion of a major component of
the Polaris pipeline system expansion in the third quarter of 2014. Capitalized interest for the full year of 2014 increased
$23.0 million due to incremental capitalized interest costs related to the Polaris and Cold Lake pipeline system expansions,
over the same period in 2013.
Interest on credit facilities is consistent with the same periods in 2013, increasing $0.2 million in the fourth quarter and
decreasing $0.1 million for the full year of 2014. The weighted average credit facility debt outstanding decreased $96.7
million to $1,838.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2014 and $42.3 million to $1,851.3 million year to date in 2014,
compared to the same periods in 2013.
Interest on the loan payable to private placement noteholders decreased $3.1 million and $3.2 million in the three months
and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2013, as the loan matured on October
28, 2014 and was repaid.
Amortization of transaction costs on long-term debt, short-term debt and commercial paper in the current quarter is
consistent with the same period in 2013, however increased $0.3 million for the full year of 2014 over 2013, as a result of
new issuances.
Accretion of provisions and pension plan funding charges increased $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the three months and
year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013, largely due to the accelerated timing of
certain decommissioning costs at Inter Terminals.
See the LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES section for further information about Inter Pipeline’s debt facilities and
interest rate swaps.

Income Taxes

Consolidated income tax expense increased $3.3 million to $31.2 million and $28.4 million to $115.0 million in the three
months and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, over the same periods in 2013. The increase in the consolidated
income tax expense in the fourth quarter is primarily due to higher tax expense from non-deductible capital items, while
the increase in consolidated income tax expense for the full year of 2014 is primarily due to higher consolidated income
before taxes after adjusting for the one-time non-cash general partner internalization expense.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 25
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

I3-149_Backend_V9_PT_Digital.indd 25

25

2015-03-05 3:02 PM

General and Administrative
(millions)
Canada
Europe

$
$

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
16.2 $
23.9 $
3.5
2.2
19.7 $
26.1 $

2014
74.5
11.4
85.9

Years Ended
December 31
2013
$
68.2
8.9
$
77.1

In the fourth quarter of 2014, Canadian general and administrative expenses decreased $7.7 million compared to the same
period in 2013, due to higher costs in 2013 relating to the internalization of the general partner and Corporate Conversion.
Annual general and administrative costs increased $6.3 million in 2014 over the same period in 2013. The increase is
largely due to higher employee costs, which includes increased long-term incentive plan expense primarily resulting from
increases in Inter Pipeline’s share price, the addition of new employees required to manage Inter Pipeline’s business
growth and a one-time key management personnel contract renegotiation.
European general and administrative costs increased $1.3 million and $2.5 million in the three months and year ended
December 31, 2014, respectively, over the comparable periods in 2013. The increase in both periods is largely due to
higher project related costs, unfavourable foreign currency translation adjustments, and higher employee and rebranding
costs.

Fees to General Partner

In connection with the Corporate Conversion, effective on September 1, 2013, and as a result of the dissolution and
termination of Inter Pipeline Fund, Inter Pipeline is no longer obligated to pay management, incentive, acquisition or
disposition fees. During the three months and year ended December 31, 2013, the general partner earned management
fees from Inter Pipeline of $nil and $8.0 million, respectively. No acquisition or disposition fees were earned during the
three months and year ended December 31, 2013.

Unrealized Change in Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments

The change in fair value of Inter Pipeline’s derivative financial instruments reduced net income in the current quarter by
$0.3 million due to the change in fair value of electricity price swaps.
For the full year of 2014, the change in fair value of Inter Pipeline’s derivative financial instruments increased net income
by $1.0 million. Net income was favourably impacted by the change in fair value of NGL and foreign exchange swaps by
$1.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, while the change in fair value of electricity price and natural gas swaps
unfavourably impacted net income by $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively. At December 31, 2014, there were no
NGL, natural gas or foreign exchange swaps outstanding.
See the RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS section for additional information on Inter Pipeline’s risk
management initiatives.
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Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Assets

Inter Pipeline recorded a $2.9 million loss on disposal of assets in the fourth quarter of 2014, largely related to a turbine
exchange at the Cochrane NGL extraction facility. For the full year of 2014, this loss was more than offset by insurance
proceeds received for asset damage due to flooding conditions that occurred at Inter Terminals Immingham and Riverside
terminals in December 2013, as well as proceeds received from a customer on the settlement of tank damage at Inter
Terminals Tyne terminal, which resulted in a gain on disposal of assets of $2.1 million in 2014.

General Partner Internalization

On June 1, 2013, Inter Pipeline completed several internal transactions related to the restructuring of its limited
partnership structure to position the business for Corporate Conversion (Internalization Transactions). Inter Pipeline
settled the provisions of its management contract by indirectly purchasing its general partner, for initial consideration of
$170 million, plus adjustments of $8.6 million, and a future second instalment of $170 million.
In January 2015, as a result of successful completion of transportation infrastructure related to the FCCL Foster Creek and
Christina Lake expansion projects, the $170 million second instalment, recorded as a current liability at December 31,
2014, and consisting of 7,055,406 convertible shares, was satisfied when the convertible shares were converted on a onefor-one basis into common shares of Inter Pipeline.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
(millions, except per share and %
amounts)
Revenue
Oil sands transportation
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage

First
Quarter

2013
Second
Third
Quarter
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

First
Quarter

2014
Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

91.6 $
67.3
129.4
39.4
327.7 $

93.3 $
71.5
117.5
38.0
320.3 $

96.2 $
81.1
127.2
36.0
340.5 $

107.4 $
82.3
146.6
37.9
374.2 $

105.1 $
91.2
168.4
46.0
410.7 $

102.9 $
96.0
137.0
40.0
375.9 $

128.2 $
89.6
120.2
41.6
379.6 $

140.5
87.1
123.0
39.5
390.1

$
$

50.8 $
40.4
43.0
20.4
(45.2)
109.4 $
0.40 $

49.0 $
43.5
31.1
19.5
(37.7)
105.4 $
0.37 $

55.7 $
47.0
43.2
17.2
(39.8)
123.3 $
0.44 $

64.2 $
44.0
53.4
16.1
(43.2)
134.5 $
0.44 $

63.4 $
46.0
48.5
21.6
(47.8)
131.7 $
0.43 $

63.0 $
49.6
34.7
18.2
(33.9)
131.6 $
0.41 $

82.5 $
48.7
34.4
19.8
(44.4)
141.0 $
0.43 $

97.2
46.8
24.7
15.8
(24.8)
159.7
0.49

$

72.2 $

(281.6) $

77.8 $

84.6 $

89.6 $

85.3 $

95.0 $

79.6

shareholders(2)
Per share – basic
Per share – diluted

$
$
$

69.7 $
0.25 $
0.25 $

(283.9) $
(1.02) $
(1.02) $

74.8 $
0.27 $
0.26 $

81.3 $
0.27 $
0.26 $

86.1 $
0.28 $
0.27 $

81.7 $
0.25 $
0.25 $

91.4 $
0.28 $
0.28 $

75.6
0.24
0.23

Dividends to shareholders(3)
Per share(3)

$
76.8 $
78.2 $
$ 0.2775 $ 0.2800 $

84.6 $
0.2975 $

98.6 $
0.3225 $

99.6 $
0.3225 $

103.9 $
0.3225 $

104.7 $
0.3225 $

114.9
0.3525

$

$
(1)

Funds from operations
Oil sands transportation
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage
Corporate costs
Per share(1)
Net income (loss)(2)

$

Net income (loss) attributable to

Shares outstanding (basic)
Weighted average
End of period
Capital expenditures(4)
Growth(1)
Sustaining(1)

$
$

Payout ratio

(1)

(5)

Total debt
Total shareholders’ equity
Enterprise value(1)

276.4
277.6

278.8
280.0

283.6
289.8

304.7
306.8

309.0
320.3

321.6
323.0

324.2
325.4

325.8
326.2

407.6 $
5.9
413.5 $

395.8 $
5.8
401.6 $

566.1 $
7.4
573.5 $

549.4 $
11.0
560.4 $

544.7 $
6.2
550.9 $

243.8 $
10.2
254.0 $

256.3 $
12.0
268.3 $

149.2
13.8
163.0

72.2%

76.1%

70.5%

75.5%

78.0%

81.5%

76.6%

74.0%

$ 3,246.6 $ 3,578.0 $ 3,964.5 $ 3,960.8 $ 4,155.8 $ 4,283.8 $ 4,396.3 $ 4,590.7
$ 1,686.9 $ 1,414.3 $ 1,661.9 $ 2,100.3 $ 2,490.4 $ 2,521.3 $ 2,566.9 $ 2,548.1
$ 9,862.2 $ 9,646.1 $ 11,252.0 $ 11,885.4 $ 13,504.4 $ 14,981.6 $ 16,223.6 $ 16,314.8

Total debt to total
capitalization(1)
Total recourse debt to
capitalization(1)

65.8%

71.7%

70.5%

65.3%

62.5%

63.0%

63.1%

64.3%

48.7%

57.8%

58.5%

52.8%

50.7%

51.7%

52.2%

54.2%

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

In June 2013, Inter Pipeline completed several internal transactions related to the restructuring of its limited partnership structure to position the
business for Corporate Conversion by indirectly purchasing its general partner, for initial consideration of $170 million, plus closing adjustments of $8.6
million, and a future second instalment of $170 million, which was satisfied upon the conversion of the convertible shares in January 2015.

(3)

Dividends to shareholders are calculated based on the number of common shares outstanding at each record date.

(4)

Amounts reported on a 100% basis that includes non-controlling interest.

(5)

Total debt includes long-term debt, short-term debt and commercial paper before discounts and debt transaction costs.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Inter Pipeline’s capital management objectives are aligned with its commercial growth strategies and long-term outlook
for the business. The primary objectives are to maintain:
(i)

stable dividends to shareholders over economic and industry cycles;

(ii) a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within an acceptable level of risk; and
(iii) an investment grade credit rating.
Management may make adjustments to the capital structure for changes in economic conditions or the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or modify the capital structure, Inter Pipeline may adjust the level of dividends to
shareholders, issue new common shares or new debt, renegotiate new debt terms or repay existing debt.
Inter Pipeline maintains flexibility in its capital structure to fund growth capital * and acquisitions through market and
industry cycles. Funding requirements are projected to ensure appropriate sources of financing are available to meet
future financial obligations and capital expenditure programs. Inter Pipeline generally relies on committed credit facilities
and FFO* in excess of dividends to fund capital requirements. At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline had access to
committed credit facilities totaling $2.8 billion, of which $834.3 million remained unutilized, and demand facilities totaling
$65.0 million of which $64.4 million remained unutilized. Certain facilities are available to specific subsidiaries of Inter
Pipeline.
On December 5, 2014, Inter Pipeline extended the term of its $1.25 billion syndicated credit facility for one year with a
revised maturity date of December 5, 2019. On December 15, 2014, Corridor extended the maturity date of its $1.55
billion syndicated credit facility to December 14, 2018.
Inter Pipeline may also issue equity capital to ensure its balance sheet remains well prepared for expected growth. During
the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014, approximately $28.2 million and $264.5 million, respectively,
of equity was issued through the dividend reinvestment plan, however, effective September 16, 2014, Inter Pipeline
suspended the premium dividend component of the Premium Dividend TM and Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Concurrently,
the dividend reinvestment discount was reduced from 5% to 2%. On March 26, 2014, Inter Pipeline completed an equity
offering of 10,400,000 common shares at $28.90 per share for gross proceeds of $300.6 million. Net proceeds from the
offering were used to pay down a portion of bank indebtedness that was incurred to fund Inter Pipeline’s capital
expenditure program.
On May 30, 2014, Inter Pipeline issued $500 million of senior unsecured MTN Series 5 due May 30, 2044 and $400 million
of senior unsecured MTN Series 6 due May 30, 2017, in the Canadian public debt market. The MTN Series 5 bear interest
at a fixed rate of 4.637% per annum, payable semi-annually; while the MTN Series 6 have a floating interest rate of 3month CDOR plus 49 basis points, payable quarterly. Net proceeds from these issuances were used to repay a portion of
Inter Pipeline’s bank indebtedness incurred through funding its capital expenditure program.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section

TM

Denotes trademark of Canaccord Genuity Corp.
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Inter Pipeline has a current short form base shelf prospectus with Canadian regulatory authorities that was filed in
December 2013. Under provisions detailed in the short form base shelf prospectus, Inter Pipeline may offer and issue,
from time to time: (i) common shares; (ii) preferred shares; (iii) debt securities and (iv) subscription receipts (collectively,
the “Securities”) of up to $3.0 billion aggregate of Securities during the 25 month period that the short form base shelf
prospectus is valid. Securities may be offered separately or together, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined
based on market conditions at the time of sale and set forth in one or more prospectus supplements. As a result of the
equity and debt offerings in March and May of 2014, respectively, the amount that can be issued under the shelf
prospectus and related prospectus supplements has been reduced to approximately $1.8 billion.
Taking market trends into consideration, Inter Pipeline regularly forecasts its operational activities and expected FFO * to
ensure that sufficient funding is available for future capital programs and dividends to shareholders.
Inter Pipeline may utilize derivative financial instruments to minimize exposure to fluctuating commodity prices, foreign
exchange and interest rates. Inter Pipeline’s risk management policy defines and specifies the controls and responsibilities
to manage market exposure to changing commodity prices (crude oil, natural gas, NGL and power) and changes within
financial markets relating to interest rates and foreign exchange exposure. Further details of the risk management
program are discussed in the RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS section.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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Capital Structure
(millions, except % amounts)
Credit facilities available
Corridor syndicated facility
Inter Pipeline syndicated facility

Recourse
$

$
1,250.0
1,250.0

1,550.0 $
1,550.0

1,550.0 $
1,250.0
2,800.0

40.0

25.0

65.0

1,290.0 $

1,575.0 $

2,865.0 $

Demand facilities(1)
$

December 31
2013

2014

Non-recourse

Total debt outstanding(1)
Recourse
Inter Pipeline syndicated facility

$
(2)

Loan payable to private placement noteholders
MTN Series 1 to 6(3)
Non-recourse
Corridor syndicated facility
Corridor debentures(5)
Total debt(1)(4)
Total shareholders' equity
Total capitalization(6)

$

Total debt to total capitalization(6)

686.0

Total recourse debt to capitalization

65.0

$

2,865.0

635.0

-

288.6

2,325.0

1,425.0

1,279.7
300.0

1,312.2
300.0

4,590.7
2,548.1

3,960.8
2,100.3

7,138.8
64.3%
54.2%

(6)

1,550.0
1,250.0
2,800.0

$

6,061.1
65.3%
52.8%

(1)

At December 31, 2014, outstanding Inter Pipeline and Corridor letters of credit of approximately $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were not
included in total debt outstanding.

(2)

On October 28, 2014, the loan payable to private placement noteholders of $288.6 million matured and was repaid.

(3)

Inter Pipeline issued $325 million MTN Series 1 and $200 million MTN Series 2 in 2011; $400 million MTN Series 3 in 2012; $500 million MTN Series 4 in
2013; $500 million MTN Series 5 and $400 million MTN Series 6 in 2014.

(4)

Total debt reported in the December 31, 2014 consolidated financial statements of $4,571.5 million, includes long-term debt, short-term debt and
commercial paper outstanding of $4,590.7 million less discounts and debt transaction costs of $19.2 million.

(5)

On February 2, 2015, Corridor’s $150 million Series B debentures matured and were repaid.

(6)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

Inter Pipeline’s capital under management includes financial debt and shareholders’ equity. Capital management
objectives are to provide access to capital at a reasonable cost while maintaining an investment grade long-term corporate
credit rating and ensuring compliance with all debt covenants. Management’s long-term objectives are to remain below its
maximum permitted ratio of 65% recourse debt to capitalization *.
On October 28, 2014, the loan payable to private placement noteholders of $288.6 million matured and was repaid with
funds available under Inter Pipeline’s syndicated facility.
At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline’s total recourse debt to capitalization ratio* was 54.2%. This ratio is higher than
normal as a result of charging the one-time, non-cash internalization cost of $348.6 million to earnings in the second
quarter of 2013. This non-cash expense concurrently decreased shareholders’ equity which reduced Inter Pipeline’s
capitalization by $348.6 million. On September 3, 2013, Inter Pipeline announced its successful Corporate Conversion,

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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resulting in the general partner internalization liability of $178.6 million being converted to common shares of Inter
Pipeline. The remaining general partner internalization liability of $170 million was settled with convertible shares which
will be converted to common shares upon successful completion and revenue commencement of certain organic growth
projects under development prior to 2017, and as a result Inter Pipeline’s shareholders’ equity will correspondingly
increase. Subsequent to year end, in January 2015, Inter Pipeline announced the completion and revenue commencement
of the organic growth projects, obligating Inter Pipeline to issue additional common shares, on a one-for-one basis, upon
conversion of the convertible shares. At this time, the remaining impact to equity of charging the internalization value to
earnings will be reversed, and the related negative impact on Inter Pipeline’s total recourse debt to capitalization * level
will be eliminated. A description of the terms of the convertible shares are contained in Inter Pipeline’s Annual Information
Form dated February 20, 2014, under the heading “Description of Capital Structure – Description of Convertible Shares”.
Inter Pipeline’s total debt to total capitalization ratio*, which includes non-recourse debt of $1,579.7 million held within
Inter Pipeline’s Corridor corporate entity, was 64.3% at December 31, 2014. The table below shows the impact the
convertible shares would have on Inter Pipeline’s total debt to total capitalization* and total recourse debt to
capitalization* ratios at December 31, 2014.
December 31, 2014
After convertible
Total debt to total capitalization(1)
Total recourse debt to capitalization(1)

Ratio

shares impact(2)

64.3%

62.8%

54.2%

52.6%

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

Includes the impact of Inter Pipeline’s convertible shares as if they were converted to common shares of Inter Pipeline at December 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2014, approximately $2,515.7 million or 54.8% of Inter Pipeline’s total consolidated debt was exposed to
variable interest rates. Of this amount $1,429.7 million or 56.8% relates to Corridor debt outstanding and its financing
costs are directly recoverable through the terms of the Corridor FSA. When deemed appropriate, Inter Pipeline may enter
into interest rate swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk exposure. Inter Pipeline has an interest rate swap
agreement to manage fixed interest rate exposure on Corridor’s Series B debentures. Subsequent to year end, on February
2, 2015, Corridor’s $150 million Series B debentures matured and were repaid and the interest rate swap was terminated.
December 31
2013

2014

Maturity date
Corridor debentures
- Fixed to floating rate swap
Series B - February 2, 2015

*

32

Fixed Rate
Per Annum
(excluding
applicable
margin)

5.033% $

Notional
Balance
(millions)

150.0

Fixed Rate
Per Annum
(excluding
applicable
margin)

5.033% $

Notional
Balance
(millions)

150.0

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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The following interest coverage* ratio is calculated on a consolidated basis for the twelve month periods ended December
31, 2013 and 2014.
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013

(times)
Interest coverage(1)(2)

3.8

1.0

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders plus income taxes and borrowing costs, divided by the sum of borrowing costs, capitalized borrowing
costs and any retirement of obligations.

Inter Pipeline’s interest coverage * ratio for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2013 would have been 4.0 times
had it not been impacted by the one-time non-cash general partner internalization expense of $348.6 million to earnings
in the second quarter of 2013. As a result of charging the internalization cost to earnings the interest coverage* ratio
decreased to 1.0 times for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2013.
The following investment grade, long-term corporate credit ratings or senior unsecured debt ratings are maintained by
Inter Pipeline and by Corridor.
Credit Rating
Inter Pipeline Ltd.
S&P
DBRS
Inter Pipeline (Corridor) Inc.
S&P
DBRS
Moody's

*

Trend/Outlook

BBB+
BBB (high)

Stable
Stable

A
A
A2

Stable
Stable
Stable

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Guarantees
The following table summarizes Inter Pipeline’s expected capital spending profile and future contractual obligations at
December 31, 2014. Management intends to finance short-term commitments either through existing or renegotiated
credit facilities and FFO * in excess of dividends. Longer term commitments will be funded through Inter Pipeline’s capital
management policies as discussed earlier in the LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES section.

(millions)
Capital expenditure projects(1)(2)
Oil sands transportation(2)
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage

Total
$

Growth capital funded by Inter Pipeline(2)(3)
Sustaining capital funded by Inter Pipeline(2)(3)

Less than one
year

One to five
years

After five
years

499.2 $
124.2
7.2
22.5

197.5 $
116.2
7.2
22.5

301.7 $
8.0
-

-

653.1
58.5
711.6

343.4
58.5
401.9

309.7
309.7

-

1,279.7
686.0
300.0
2,325.0
4,590.7

1,279.7
150.0
1,429.7

686.0
600.0
1,286.0

150.0
1,725.0
1,875.0

276.9
190.9
8.5

11.9
22.4
-

77.1
49.7
8.5

187.9
118.8
-

192.6
2,058.5 $

1,731.0 $

Total debt(4)(5)
Corridor syndicated facility(6)
Inter Pipeline syndicated facility
Corridor debentures(5)
MTN Series 1 to 6
Other obligations
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Long-term portion of incentive plan
Working capital deficit(3)
$

192.6
5,971.2 $

2,181.7

(1)

Capital expenditures classified as “less than one year” represent expected spending for 2015.

(2)

Inter Pipeline’s expected growth and sustaining capital(3) spending profile including the 15% non-controlling interest in Cold Lake is $760.4 million.

(3)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(4)

At December 31, 2014, outstanding Inter Pipeline and Corridor letters of credit of approximately $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were not
included in total debt outstanding. Total debt reported in the December 31, 2014 consolidated financial statements of $4,571.5 million, includes longterm debt, short-term debt and commercial paper of $4,590.7 million less discounts and debt transaction costs of $19.2 million.

(5)

On February 2, 2015, Corridor’s $150 million Series B debentures matured and were repaid.

(6)

Principal obligations are related to commercial paper. This amount is fully supported and management expects that it will continue to be supported by
Corridor’s fully committed syndicated revolving credit facility that has no repayment requirements until December 2018.

(7)

Convertible shares recorded as a liability of $170 million were not settled in cash and therefore not included in the table above.

Inter Pipeline’s bulk liquid storage business will incur additional sustaining capital expenditures* in the foreseeable future
to comply with UK storage and containment regulations. See the RISK FACTORS section for further information regarding
the Post Buncefield Regulation.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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Inter Pipeline’s debt outstanding at December 31, 2014, matures at various dates up to May 2044 as follows:
(millions)
Inter Pipeline Ltd.(1)
$1.25 billion syndicated facility
MTN Series 1
MTN Series 2
MTN Series 3
MTN Series 4
MTN Series 5
MTN Series 6
Inter Pipeline (Corridor) Inc.
$1.55 billion syndicated facility
Series B debentures(2)
Series C debentures

Amount
$

Rate

Maturity date

686.0
325.0
200.0
400.0
500.0
500.0
400.0

Variable
4.967%
3.839%
3.776%
3.448%
4.637%
CDOR plus 49 bps

December 5, 2019
February 2, 2021
July 30, 2018
May 30,2022
July 20, 2020
May 30, 2044
May 30, 2017

1,279.7
150.0
150.0

Variable
5.033%
4.897%

December 14, 2018
February 2, 2015
February 3, 2020

(1)

On October 28, 2014, the loan payable to private placement noteholders of $288.6 million matured and was repaid.

(2)

On February 2, 2015, Corridor’s $150 million Series B debentures matured and were repaid.

The following future obligations resulting from the normal course of operations will be primarily funded from FFO * in the
respective periods that they become due or may be funded through debt:
(i)

Derivative financial instruments are utilized to manage market risk exposure to changes in commodity prices,
foreign currencies and interest rates in future periods. This future obligation is an estimate of the fair value of
the liability on an undiscounted basis for financially net settled derivative contracts outstanding at December 31,
2014, based upon the various contractual maturity dates.

(ii) Operating leases and purchase obligations represent minimum payment obligations associated with leases and
normal operating agreements for periods up to 2094.
(iii) Working capital deficiencies* arise primarily from capital expenditures outstanding in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities at the end of a period.
(iv) Inter Pipeline has obligations of $31.4 million under its employee long-term incentive plan, of which $22.9
million is included in the working capital deficit*.
(v) Present value of estimated expenditures expected to be incurred in the longer term on decommissioning of
active pipeline systems, NGL extraction plants and leased bulk liquid storage sites and remediation of known
environmental liabilities is $66.7 million at December 31, 2014. Due to the uncertainty of timing for payment of
these obligations, they were excluded from the table above.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS
(millions, except per share and % amounts)
Cash provided by operating activities
Net change in non-cash operating working
capital

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
166.4 $
110.5 $

$

Less funds from operations(1) attributable to noncontrolling interest
Funds from operations(1) attributable to shareholders
Dividends to shareholders
(2)

Dividends per share

Years Ended
December 31
2014
2013
571.7 $
468.7

(6.6)

24.0

(7.6)

3.9

(4.4)

(3.9)

(16.8)

(12.8)

547.3

459.8

155.4

130.6

$

114.9 $

98.6 $

423.1 $

338.2

$

0.3525 $

0.3225 $

1.3200 $

1.1775

Payout ratio(1)

74.0%

75.5%

(1)

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section.

(2)

Dividends to shareholders are calculated based on the number of common shares outstanding at each record date.

77.3%

73.6%

Inter Pipeline’s goal is to provide shareholders with stable dividends over time. As a result, not all FFO * attributable to
shareholders are distributed to shareholders. A portion is withheld and reinvested in the business to effectively manage its
capital structure, and in particular, debt levels. Inter Pipeline sets dividend levels based on the underlying assumptions in
each year’s annual operating and capital budget and long-term forecast, consistent with its goal to provide shareholders
with stable dividends. Dividends are determined at the discretion of Inter Pipeline’s Board of Directors, subject to certain
legal requirements, and are payable when declared.
FFO* is an additional GAAP financial measure that Inter Pipeline uses in managing its business and in assessing future cash
requirements that impact the determination of future dividends to shareholders. Inter Pipeline expresses FFO* attributable
to shareholders as cash provided by operating activities less net changes in non-cash working capital and FFO* attributable
to non-controlling interest. The impact of net change in non-cash working capital is excluded in the calculation of FFO*
primarily to compensate for the seasonality of working capital throughout the year. Certain Inter Pipeline revenue
contracts dictate an exchange of cash that differs, on a monthly basis, from the recognition of revenue. Within a 12-month
calendar year, there is minimal variation between revenue recognized and cash exchanged. Inter Pipeline therefore
excludes the net change in non-cash working capital in its calculation of FFO* to mitigate its quarterly impact. The intent is
to not skew the results of Inter Pipeline in any quarter for exchanges of cash, but to focus the results on cash that is
generated in any reporting period.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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The tables below show Inter Pipeline’s dividends declared relative to cash provided by operating activities and net income
(loss) attributable to shareholders for the periods indicated. See the OUTLOOK section of this report and RISK FACTORS
section for further information regarding the sustainability of dividends.

(millions)

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013

Years Ended December 31
2014
2013

Cash provided by operating activities
Less cash provided by operating activities
attributable to non-controlling interest
Dividends to shareholders
Excess

$

166.4 $

110.5 $

571.7 $

468.7

$

(4.4)
(114.9)
47.1 $

2.1
(98.6)
14.0 $

(25.8)
(423.1)
122.8 $

(7.8)
(338.2)
122.7

(millions)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders
Dividends to shareholders
Shortfall

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
$
75.6 $
81.3 $
(114.9)
(98.6)
$
(39.3) $
(17.3) $

Years Ended December 31
2014
2013
334.8 $
(58.1)
(423.1)
(338.2)
(88.3) $
(396.3)

Cash provided by operating activities in all periods was greater than dividends to shareholders plus cash provided by
operating activities attributable to non-controlling interest. Dividends were greater than net income attributable to
shareholders in all periods, as net income (loss) also includes certain non-cash expenses such as depreciation and
amortization, deferred income taxes and unrealized changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
Inter Pipeline’s outstanding common shares at December 31, 2014 are as follows:
(millions)
Common shares outstanding

Total
326.2

At February 17, 2015, Inter Pipeline had 333.9 million common shares outstanding.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Market Risk Management
Inter Pipeline utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage liquidity and market risk exposure to changes in
commodity prices, foreign currencies and interest rates. Risk management policies are intended to minimize the volatility
of Inter Pipeline’s exposure to commodity price, foreign exchange and interest rate risk to assist with stabilizing FFO *. Inter
Pipeline endeavours to accomplish this primarily through the use of derivative financial instruments. Inter Pipeline
prohibits the use of derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. All hedging policies are authorized and
approved by the board of directors through Inter Pipeline’s risk management policy.
Inter Pipeline enters into the following types of derivative financial instruments: commodity price swap agreements,
foreign currency exchange contracts, power price hedges and heat rate and interest rate swap agreements. The mark-tomarket or fair value of these financial instruments is recorded as an asset or liability and any change in the fair value
recognized as an unrealized change in fair value of these derivative financial instruments in the calculation of net income.
When the financial instrument matures, any realized gain or loss is recorded in net income.
In the following sections, sensitivity analyses are presented to provide an indication of the amount that an isolated change
in one variable may have on net income and are based on derivative financial instruments and long-term debt and
commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2014. The analyses are hypothetical and should not be considered to be
predictive of future performance. Changes in fair value generally cannot be extrapolated based on one variable because
the relationship with other variables may not be linear. In reality, changes in one variable may magnify or counteract the
impact of another variable which may result in a significantly different conclusion.

NGL Extraction Business
FRAC-SPREAD RISK MANAGEMENT
Inter Pipeline is exposed to frac-spread risk which is the difference between the weighted average propane-plus price at
Mont Belvieu, Texas and the monthly index price of AECO natural gas purchased for shrinkage calculated in USD/USG.
Derivative financial instruments may be utilized to manage frac-spread risk. As at December 31, 2014, there are no fracspread hedges outstanding.
POWER PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT
Inter Pipeline may use derivative financial instruments to manage power price risk in its NGL extraction and conventional
oil pipelines business segments. When deemed appropriate, Inter Pipeline enters into financial heat rate swap and power
price swap contracts to manage power price risk exposure in these businesses. As at December 31, 2014, there are no heat
rate price swap agreements outstanding.
Inter Pipeline has existing electricity price swap agreements in the conventional oil pipelines business. At December 31,
2014, a 10% change in Alberta power pool commodity prices in isolation with all other variables held constant would have
changed the mark-to-market valuation of Inter Pipeline’s derivative financial instruments used to manage power price risk
and consequently after-tax income by approximately $0.1 million.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section
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Bulk Liquid Storage Business
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT
Inter Pipeline is exposed to currency risk resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of its European bulk liquid
storage operations and transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in currencies other than Inter Pipeline’s
functional currency, the Canadian dollar. Transactional foreign currency risk exposures have not been significant
historically, therefore are generally not hedged; however, Inter Pipeline may decide to hedge this risk in the future. As at
December 31, 2014, there are no foreign exchange hedges outstanding.

Corporate
INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
Inter Pipeline’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to its long-term debt obligations and fair valuation of its
floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreements. Inter Pipeline manages its interest rate risk by balancing its exposure to
fixed and variable rates while minimizing interest costs. When deemed appropriate, Inter Pipeline enters into interest rate
swap agreements to manage its interest rate price risk exposure. As at December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline has a fixed-tofloating interest rate swap agreement on Corridor’s Series B debentures. Subsequent to year end, on February 2, 2015,
Corridor’s $150 million Series B debentures matured and were repaid and the interest rate swap was terminated.
Based on the variable rate obligations outstanding at December 31, 2014, a 1% change in interest rates at this date would
have changed interest expense for the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014, by approximately $6.0
million and $22.0 million, respectively, assuming all other variables remain constant. Of these amounts, $3.2 million and
$12.8 million, for the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, relate to the $1.55 billion
unsecured revolving credit facility and are recoverable through the terms of the Corridor FSA, therefore the after-tax
income impact for the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014 would be $2.1 million and $6.9 million,
respectively.

Credit Risk
Inter Pipeline’s credit risk exposure relates primarily to customers and financial counterparties holding cash and derivative
financial instruments, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Credit risk is managed
through credit approval and monitoring procedures. The creditworthiness assessment takes into account available
qualitative and quantitative information about the counterparty including, but not limited to, business performance,
financial status and external credit ratings. Depending on the outcome of each assessment, guarantees or some other
form of credit enhancement may be requested as security. Inter Pipeline attempts to mitigate its exposure by entering into
contracts with customers that may permit netting or entitle Inter Pipeline to lien or take product in kind and/or allow for
termination of the contract on the occurrence of certain events of default. Each business segment monitors outstanding
accounts receivable on an ongoing basis.
Concentrations of credit risk associated with accounts receivable relate to a limited number of principal customers in the
oil sands transportation and NGL extraction business segments, the majority of which are affiliated with investment grade
corporations in the energy and chemical industry sectors. At December 31, 2014, accounts receivable associated with
these two business segments were $105.5 million or 67.3% of total accounts receivable outstanding. Inter Pipeline
believes the credit risk associated with the remainder of accounts receivable is minimized due to diversity across business
segments and customers.
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With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, deposits and derivative financial instruments, Inter
Pipeline believes the risk of non-performance of counterparties is minimal as cash, deposits and derivative financial
instruments outstanding are predominantly held with major financial institutions or investment grade corporations.
Inter Pipeline actively monitors the risk of non-performance of its customers and financial counterparties. At December 31,
2014, accounts receivable outstanding meeting the definition of past due and impaired is insignificant.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
No revenue was earned from related parties in the three month period and year ended December 31, 2014 or 2013.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure controls and procedures (DC&P) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is
gathered and reported to senior management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.
Internal controls over financial reporting (ICFR) are a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with GAAP in Inter Pipeline’s consolidated financial statements.
No changes in Inter Pipeline’s ICFR occurred during the period beginning on January 1, 2014 and ending on December 31,
2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, Inter Pipeline’s ICFR.
At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline’s management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of Inter Pipeline’s disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’
Annual and Interim Filings. Based on that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the design and operation of Inter Pipeline’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting were effective as of December 31, 2014.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the
effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future years could be material. Information about critical
judgments, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting policies for these areas is included in the relevant sections
of the notes to the financial statements. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are
based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations about future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Readers should refer to note 3 Summary of Significant Accounting
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Policies of the December 31, 2014 annual consolidated financial statements for a list of Inter Pipeline’s significant
accounting policies.

Financial Instruments
Inter Pipeline may utilize derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to market risk relating to commodity
prices, foreign exchange and interest rates. Inter Pipeline also reviews all significant agreements acquired, substantially
modified or entered into for embedded derivatives.
Inter Pipeline has classified its financial instruments as follows: certain components of prepaid expenses and other
deposits are classified as held-for-trading and measured at carrying value. Cash and cash equivalents and the majority of
accounts receivable are classified as cash, loans and receivables. Dividends payable, the majority of accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and provisions, certain components of deferred revenue, convertible shares, and long-term debt, shortterm debt and commercial paper are classified as other financial liabilities. Derivative financial instruments and the related
current and long-term payable/long-term receivable are classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
All derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/long-term receivable are measured at fair value. Estimates
of the fair value of derivative contracts outstanding at the end of each financial reporting period are recognized on the
consolidated balance sheet and any unrealized changes in these estimates are recognized in the consolidated statements
of net income. These amounts are estimates of the fair value at a point in time and the final amount will be determined on
the date or interim dates that the derivative contract is settled.
The fair values of derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/long-term receivable are based on an
approximation of the amounts that would have been paid to or received from counterparties to settle the instruments
outstanding. The fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by Inter Pipeline using a discounted cash flow
methodology with reference to actively quoted forward prices and/or published price quotations in an observable market
and market valuations provided by counterparties. Forward prices for NGL swaps are less transparent because they are
less actively traded. These forward prices are assessed based on available market information for the time frames for
which there are derivative financial instruments in place. These fair values are discounted using a risk-free rate plus a
credit premium that takes into account the credit quality of the instrument. By their nature, these estimates are subject to
measurement uncertainty and the effect on the financial statements of changes in these estimates could be material.
These estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that could be realized or settled in a current market
transaction and differences could be significant. A significant change in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates or
interest rate assumptions underlying mark-to-market valuations of derivative financial instruments would change the fair
value of derivative financial instruments reported in the consolidated balance sheets and unrealized change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statements of net income.
Corridor utilizes an interest rate swap to manage its interest rate risk. Gains or losses arising on the interest rate swap
contract are either payable to or recoverable from the shippers, respectively; the current portion is included in accounts
receivable or accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
For further discussion on Inter Pipeline’s derivative financial instruments, see the RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RESULTS section.
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Intangible Assets
Inter Pipeline’s intangible assets are amortized using an amortization method and term based on estimates of the useful
lives of these assets. The carrying values of Inter Pipeline’s intangible assets are periodically reviewed for impairment or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. This review
requires an estimate of future cash flows to be derived from the utilization of these assets based on assumptions about
future events which may be subject to change depending on future economic or technical developments. A significant
change in these assumptions or unanticipated future events could require a provision for impairment in the future which
would be recorded as a charge against net income.
The Cold Lake TSA intangible asset is the estimated value, using a discounted cash flow analysis, of the shipping agreement
entered into with the Cold Lake founding shippers on the Cold Lake pipeline system as valued on January 2, 2003. Although
the ship-or-pay portion of the Cold Lake TSA expired on December 31, 2011, the term of the Cold Lake TSA extends until
Cold Lake LP gives notice that it forecasts it will earn less than $1.0 million of capital fees in the year. The Cold Lake
founding shippers may contract with a third party to transport their dedicated petroleum after giving Cold Lake LP notice
of at least 20 months prior to the effective date and meeting certain conditions. Cold Lake LP has the right to match any
new service offer from a third party. This intangible asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. The
remaining amortization period of the Cold Lake TSA is approximately 18 years.
The NGL extraction business’ intangible assets consist of customer contracts for the sales of ethane and propane-plus and
a patented operational process utilized in one of the extraction facilities. Contracts include fee-based contracts, cost-ofservice contracts and commodity-based arrangements. The value of these contracts, calculated assuming anticipated
renewals, is estimated to be realized over an average period of 30 years since the date of acquisition on July 28, 2004,
which is the period over which amortization is being charged using the straight-line method. Should the useful life or the
likelihood of the renewal of the customer contracts change, the amortization of the remaining balance would change
accordingly. The average remaining period of the customer contracts is approximately 20 years. The patent is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over the 14 year life of the patent and has a remaining amortization period of
approximately four years.
Within the bulk liquid storage business segment, Inter Terminals UK’s intangible assets consist of a customer contract for
the storage and handling of bulk liquid products. This asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. Should
the likelihood of the renewal of the customer contract change, the amortization of the remaining balance would change
accordingly. The remaining amortization period of the customer contract is approximately 21 years.

Business Combinations
Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting at the date control of a business is
obtained. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of the assets given or equity
instruments issued, net of liabilities incurred or assumed. Costs directly associated with the acquisition are expensed. The
consideration transferred of an acquired business is allocated to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over the amount allocated
to net assets is recorded as goodwill. All available information is used to estimate fair values. External consultants are
typically engaged to assist in the fair value determination of identifiable intangible assets and other significant assets or
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liabilities. The preliminary allocation of consideration transferred may be adjusted, as necessary, up to one year after the
acquisition closing date due to additional information regarding asset valuation and liabilities assumed.
The allocation process of the consideration transferred involves uncertainty as management is required to make
assumptions and apply judgment to estimates of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities, including highest and
best use of assets. Quoted market prices and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and
market multiple analyses are used to estimate the fair market value of the assets and liabilities, and depreciated
replacement costs are used for the valuation of tangible assets. These estimates include assumptions on inputs within the
discounted cash flow calculations related to forecasted revenues, cash flows, contract renewals, asset lives, industry
economic factors and business strategies.
In certain circumstances Inter Pipeline may also be required to consider the differences between the acquisition of a
business and the purchase of assets depending on the terms of an acquisition contract. Certain judgments can be made in
this determination which could impact the valuation and recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. When an
asset acquisition occurs, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are allocated based on the cost of the
acquisition and no goodwill or gain on a bargain purchase is recognized.

Goodwill
Inter Pipeline has goodwill in four of its cash generating units (CGU’s): the Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems in the oil
sands transportation business; Inter Terminals UK, Germany and Ireland; and Inter Terminals Denmark in the bulk liquid
storage business. Assets are grouped in CGU’s which are the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows. Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the Corridor; Polaris; Inter Terminals UK, Germany and Ireland; and Inter Terminals Denmark CGU’s. After initial
recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less any write downs for impairment. During each fiscal year and as economic
events dictate, management conducts an impairment test taking into consideration any events or circumstances which
might have impaired the recoverable amount. Inter Pipeline assesses the recoverable amount of the goodwill for
impairment on a fair value less costs of disposal basis by discounting projected future cash flows generated by these assets
at a weighted average cost of capital that reflects the relative risk of the asset. If it is determined that the recoverable
amount of the future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets at the time of assessment, an impairment
loss would be determined by deducting the fair value less costs of disposal on a discounted cash flow basis from the
carrying amount. The recoverable amount of the underlying assets and liabilities were assessed and it was determined that
there was no impairment of goodwill in 2014. Projected future cash flows used in the goodwill assessment represented
management’s best estimate of the future operating performance of these businesses at the current time. A significant
change in these assumptions or unanticipated future events could require a provision for impairment in the future which
would be recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill with a charge against net income.
Where goodwill forms a part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Calculation of the net book value of property, plant and equipment requires estimates of the useful life of the assets,
residual value at the end of the asset’s useful life, method of depreciation and whether impairment in value has occurred.
A change in any of the estimates would result in a change in the amount of depreciation and a charge to net income
recorded in a period with a similar change in the carrying value of the asset on the consolidated balance sheet.
Property, plant and equipment in the oil sands transportation business consist of pipelines and related facilities.
Depreciation of capital costs is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated service life of the assets, which is 80
years. The cost of pipelines and facilities includes all expenditures directly attributable to bringing the pipeline to the
location and condition necessary for its intended use, including costs incurred for system construction, expansion and
betterments until the assets are available for use. Pipeline system costs also include an allocation of directly attributable
overhead costs and capitalized borrowing costs. Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the related property, plant
and equipment is substantially complete and ready for its intended productive use.
Pipeline line fill and tank working inventory for the Cold Lake and Corridor pipeline systems represent petroleum based
product purchased for the purpose of charging the pipeline system and partially filling the petroleum product storage
tanks with an appropriate volume of petroleum products to enable a commercial operation of the facilities and pipeline.
The majority of pipeline line fill for the Polaris pipeline system is owned by the shippers directly. The cost of line fill
includes all direct expenditures for acquiring the petroleum based products. These product volumes will be recovered
upon the ultimate retirement and decommissioning of the pipeline system under the terms of the agreement. Cold Lake
and Polaris line fill is carried at cost and Corridor line fill is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Proceeds from
the sale of Cold Lake and Polaris line fill will be fully available to Inter Pipeline, whereas proceeds from the sale of
Corridor’s line fill will be used to fund the cost of any decommissioning obligations and to the extent Corridor’s
decommissioning obligations exceed the value of the line fill, Inter Pipeline will be obligated to fund the excess. To the
extent the value of the line fill exceeds the decommissioning obligation; the excess funds will be refunded to the Corridor
shippers. Depreciation of Corridor line fill is calculated on the same basis as the related property, plant and equipment.
Expenditures on conventional oil pipelines system expansions and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance, pipeline
integrity verification and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of pipeline facilities and equipment
commences when the pipelines are available for use. Depreciation of the capital costs is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated 80 year service life of the Bow River pipeline system assets and 30 year service life of the Central
Alberta and Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline system assets. These estimates are connected to the estimated remaining life of
the crude oil reserves expected to be gathered and shipped on these pipeline systems. Pipeline line fill and tank working
inventory for the conventional oil pipelines system represents petroleum based product purchased for the purpose of
charging the pipeline system and partially filling the petroleum product storage tanks with an appropriate volume of
petroleum products to enable a commercial operation of the facilities and pipelines. The cost of line fill includes all direct
expenditures for acquiring the petroleum based products. These product volumes will be recovered upon the ultimate
retirement and decommissioning of the pipeline system and are carried at cost.
Property, plant and equipment of the NGL extraction business are comprised primarily of three extraction facilities and
associated equipment. Expenditures on plant expansions, major repairs and maintenance, or betterments are capitalized,
while routine maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of the extraction facilities and
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additions thereto is charged once the assets are ready for their intended use, and is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the 30 year estimated useful life of the assets.
The bulk liquid storage business’ property, plant and equipment consist of storage facilities and associated equipment.
Expenditures on expansion, betterments and major inspections or overhauls are capitalized, while maintenance and repair
costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of the property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated service life of the assets, the majority of which ranges from four to 75 years.

Provisions
A provision is recognized when it is determined that an obligation has arisen as a result of a past event, the obligation can
be reliably estimated and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Inter
Pipeline’s provisions represent legal or constructive obligations associated with decommissioning tangible long-lived assets
at the end of their useful lives and loss contingencies, including environmental remediation costs arising from claims,
assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources.
Decommissioning obligations and environmental liabilities are calculated based on current price estimates using current
technologies in accordance with current legal or constructive requirements and are adjusted for inflation to when the
decommissioning or remediation activity is anticipated. Where a range of estimates exists, the possible outcomes are
weighted to determine a probable settlement value or the midpoint is used where all outcomes are equally likely. Inter
Pipeline’s decommissioning obligations are expected to occur when the assets are no longer economically viable. The
economic lives of these assets are estimated based on future expectations involving the supply of petroleum, chemical and
other products and demand for certain services and therefore the timing of decommissioning may change significantly in
the future. Actual costs and cash outflows may differ from these estimates due to changes in laws or regulations, timing of
projects, costs and technology. As a result, there could be material adjustments to the provisions established. If the effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax risk-free rate. The
provision will accrete to its full value over time through charges to income, or until Inter Pipeline settles the obligation.
Recoveries from third parties which are virtually certain to be realized are recorded separately and are not offset against
the related provision.
On initial recognition of a decommissioning obligation, an amount equal to the estimated present value of the obligation is
capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life. Any
subsequent changes to the decommissioning cost estimate or discount rate will result in a similar adjustment to the cost of
the related long-lived asset.
Property, plant and equipment related to the conventional oil pipelines and oil sands transportation businesses consist
primarily of underground pipelines and above ground equipment and facilities. The potential cost of future
decommissioning activities is a function of several factors, including regulatory requirements at the time of pipeline
abandonment, the size of the pipeline and the pipeline's location. Decommissioning requirements can vary considerably,
ranging from purging product from the pipeline, refilling with inert gas and capping all open ends to removal of the
pipeline and reclamation of the right-of-way. Under current regulations, the estimated cost for the decommissioning
obligation include: purging product from the pipeline, refilling with inert gas and capping all open ends; and removal of
surface facilities and reclamation of the surface facility sites. Decommissioning obligations for the conventional oil
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pipelines and oil sands transportation business assets are being accreted over a period of 40 to 290 years at a rate of 3.4%
per annum, based on an estimated discounted value at December 31, 2014 of $6.8 million.
NGL extraction and the bulk liquid storage businesses consist mainly of three NGL extraction plants and twelve bulk liquid
storage facilities, respectively. Inter Pipeline’s decommissioning obligation represents the present value of the expected
cost to be incurred upon the termination of operations and closure of the NGL extraction facilities and leased bulk liquid
storage sites. The estimated costs for decommissioning obligations include such activities as dismantling, demolition and
disposal of the facilities and equipment, as well as remediation and restoration of the facility sites. Decommissioning
obligations for the NGL extraction and bulk liquid storage business assets are being accreted over a period of 40 years at
rates of 3.4% and 3.2% to 3.95% per annum, respectively, based on their respective estimated discounted values at
December 31, 2014 of $8.6 million and $32.7 million, respectively.
Inter Pipeline’s environmental remediation obligation relates to a number of projects which have been identified that Inter
Pipeline is obligated to remediate in future periods. Based on management’s current knowledge of regulations, technology
and current plans to remediate these sites, an estimated discounted liability of $18.6 million has been recognized at
December 31, 2014. Environmental obligations for the conventional oil pipelines and bulk liquid storage businesses are
being accreted over a period of five to ten years at rates of 2.05% to 3.0% and 0.75% to 2.7% per annum, respectively.

Obligations Relating to Employee Pension Plans
Inter Pipeline provides retirement benefits for its UK, Ireland and German employees under three separate defined benefit
pension plans. These plans provide benefits based primarily on a combination of years of service and an estimate of final
pensionable salary. Inter Pipeline’s policy is to fund the amount of benefit as required by governing legislation.
Independent actuaries perform the required calculations to determine the pension expense in accordance with GAAP. The
most recent actuarial valuations of the UK and Ireland plans were carried out in 2013, while the German plan was carried
out in 2014.
The cost of pension benefits earned by certain employees in the UK, Ireland and Germany covered by the defined benefit
pension plans is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. The determination of benefit expense
requires assumptions such as the expected return on assets available to fund pension obligations, the discount rate used
to measure obligations, expected mortality and the expected rate of future compensation. There is measurement
uncertainty inherent in the actuarial valuation process because the determination of the cost and obligations associated
with employee future benefits requires the use of various assumptions. Actual results will differ from results which are
estimated based on assumptions.
Plan assets are measured at fair value for the purpose of determining the expected return on plan assets. Adjustments for
plan amendments are expensed over the vesting period of the employee benefits. The expected return on Inter Pipeline’s
pension plan assets is calculated using the same interest rate as applied for the purpose of discounting the benefit
obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in assumptions and differences between assumptions and the
actual experience of the pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in
other comprehensive income. Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or
changes to, a pension plan, past service costs are recognized immediately.
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Long-Term Incentive Plan
Under Inter Pipeline’s long-term incentive plan (LTIP) awards are paid in cash, therefore a fair value basis of accounting is
used whereby changes in the liability are recorded in each period based on the number of awards outstanding and current
market price of Inter Pipeline’s shares plus an amount equivalent to cash dividends declared to date. The expense is
recognized over the vesting periods of the respective awards. Compensation expense and the long-term incentive liability
are adjusted to reflect the use of actual historical forfeiture rates as well as estimated future forfeiture rates. The marketbased value of the award approximates the intrinsic value as the awards have no exercise price.

Income Taxes
Current Income Taxes

Certain of Inter Pipeline’s subsidiaries are taxable corporations in Canada and Europe.
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to taxation authorities. The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in countries where Inter Pipeline and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. The actual amount of income tax expense is final only when the tax return is filed and accepted
by relevant tax authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the annual consolidated financial statements.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in Inter Pipeline’s entity tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation. Provisions are established if appropriate.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity is recognized in equity and not the income
statement.

Deferred Income Taxes

Inter Pipeline uses the liability method where deferred income taxes are recognized based on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recorded for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and carried forward tax losses can be utilized. Assessing the recoverability of deferred
taxes requires management to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of
future taxable income are based on forecast FFO * and the application of existing tax laws.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. The tax rates are those that are expected to apply in the year the asset is to be realized or the liability is to
be settled. Future changes in tax laws affecting existing tax rates could limit the ability of Inter Pipeline to obtain tax
deductions in future periods.

*

Please refer to the NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES section

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 47
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

I3-149_Backend_V9_PT_Digital.indd 47

47

2015-03-05 3:02 PM

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside net income is recognized outside net income. Deferred tax items are
recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current income tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes are related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Revenue Recognition
Capital fee revenue on the Cold Lake pipeline system is determined by the nature of the contract and is recognized based
on either a fixed fee or volumes transported and services provided to each shipper. In addition, an operating fee
equivalent to substantially all of Cold Lake LP’s operating costs is recovered from the Cold Lake shippers.
Revenue on the Corridor pipeline system is recognized as services are provided in accordance with terms prescribed by the
Corridor FSA with the shippers. Under the terms of the Corridor FSA, revenues are determined by an agreed upon annual
revenue requirement formula which allows for the recovery of prescribed expenditures and costs associated with the
operation of the Corridor pipeline system, including debt financing costs, operating costs, Rate Base (as defined in the
Corridor FSA) depreciation and taxes, as well as a rate of return on the equity component of the Rate Base determined
with reference to a spread over a long-term bond yield reported by the Bank of Canada.
The Polaris pipeline system recognizes capital fee revenue determined by the nature of the contract and is based on either
a fixed fee or volumes transported and services provided to each shipper, with an adjustment, if necessary, to reflect each
shipper’s minimum “ship-or-pay” revenue commitment. In addition, an operating fee equivalent to substantially all of the
pipeline’s operating costs is recovered from the Polaris pipeline system’s shippers.
Revenues associated with the transportation, storage and processing of hydrocarbons on the conventional oil pipelines
gathering systems, namely trunk line tariffs and gathering tariffs are recognized as the services are provided. The majority
of volumes are transported on the conventional oil pipelines gathering systems under short-term contracts with a fixed
tolling arrangement and no volume commitment made by the shipper.
Volumes purchased by Inter Pipeline to be used in the blending process that are then resold at a pre-arranged differential
are recognized on a net basis. Sales of additional volumes created through the blending process are recognized on a gross
basis with corresponding product purchases of blend components. Revenue is recognized when title is transferred.
Revenue for the NGL extraction facilities is recognized when the earnings process is complete. This is as the service is
provided or when products are shipped to the customer in accordance with the terms of the sales contract, title or risk of
loss has been transferred and pricing is either fixed or determinable. Revenue recognition is based on three
methodologies: according to the terms of the profit share agreements which include an annualized adjustment; fee based
revenue which is recognized when volumes are produced; and cost of service revenue, which is predominantly based on a
fixed monthly fee.
Revenues are derived from the storage and handling of bulk liquid products and provision of complementary services and
are recognized as the services are provided. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding
discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duties. Revenue received in advance is recognized over the duration of the contract
to which it applies.

48

48 INTER PIPELINE
INTER PIPELINE

I3-149_Backend_V9_PT_Digital.indd 48

2015-03-05 3:02 PM

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized as part of the cost of the related assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended productive use. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs include interest and other costs incurred in connection with the
borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are amortized over the estimated service life of the assets to which the borrowings
relate.

Consolidation of Non-Controlling Interest
On January 2, 2003 Inter Pipeline acquired an additional 70% interest in Cold Lake which, combined with its initial 15%
investment acquired on October 5, 2000, resulted in Inter Pipeline owning an 85% interest in Cold Lake. The remaining
15% is owned by an unrelated third party.
Upon initial adoption of IFRS in 2011, and specifically IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27) and
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures (IAS 31), Inter Pipeline determined that it had joint, rather than sole, control of Cold Lake.
Under IAS 27, control was defined as “the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities”. IAS 31 indicated that joint control existed when strategic financial and operating decisions
relating to the activity required the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Cold Lake’s Unanimous Shareholder Agreement (USA) establishes the decision-making abilities of Cold Lake’s shareholders
in relation to the Cold Lake pipeline system. Cold Lake is administered by a management committee, with each owner
represented by two voting members. The USA splits decisions into two categories: those that require minimum approval
and those that require special majority approval. Decisions that are subject to minimum approval require an affirmative
vote by members of the management committee representing at least 50% of the shareholders. Therefore, Inter Pipeline
is the only owner that has the ability to approve items requiring minimum approval unilaterally. Decisions that are subject
to special majority approval require the affirmative vote of at least two members representing 75% or more of the
shareholders. Therefore, neither Cold Lake owner can unilaterally approve items requiring special majority approval.
Inter Pipeline and the third party owner had joint control given that both owners shared control over financing decisions
that required majority approval pursuant to the USA. As a result, Inter Pipeline’s interest in Cold Lake was treated as a joint
venture under IAS 31, and its 85% interest was proportionately consolidated.
In 2013, Inter Pipeline adopted IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS 10), which revised the definition of control
from IAS 27. Under IFRS 10, a single control model was established that focused on relevant activities, which are defined as
“activities of an investee that significantly affect the investee’s returns" (Relevant Activities), and specifically an investor’s
power to direct those activities, exposure to variable returns and the ability to use power to affect the amount of an
investor’s returns. Compared with the requirements of IAS 27, IFRS 10 requires management to exercise significant
judgment in its assessment of control including, but not limited to, the determination of the investee’s Relevant Activities,
the investor’s ability to direct those Relevant Activities, the investor’s exposure to returns of the investee, as well as rights
of other parties. IFRS 10 also requires management to continuously assess control over an investee.
In accordance with IFRS 10, Inter Pipeline determined that it had control over Cold Lake upon the acquisition of the
additional 70% interest in 2003. Inter Pipeline, as 85% owner of the Cold Lake pipeline system, has the ability to
unilaterally approve all Relevant Activities, which require minimal approval pursuant to the USA. The most significant
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Relevant Activities include the identification of expansion and other transportation service opportunities, performance of
due diligence, undertaking economic feasibility studies and managing decisions to undergo non-Cold Lake TSA capital
projects, where a feasibility study has been undertaken. Management believes the ability to exclusively decide to proceed
with such capital projects, including the $1.5 billion (Inter Pipeline’s share) capital program to construct a bitumen blend
pipeline and associated facilities in support of the Foster Creek project, will significantly affect Cold Lake’s returns, which is
a key determination of control under IFRS 10. Such project returns are commercially negotiated by Inter Pipeline
separately from the fixed returns contained within the Cold Lake TSA.
Financing activities are not considered to be significant Relevant Activities given that Cold Lake does not have any external
debt, nor does Cold Lake have any intentions at this time to obtain debt financing in the future.
As a result of the foregoing, Inter Pipeline has the ability to unilaterally impact Cold Lake’s returns by proceeding with
significant capital projects, on a negotiated basis, without the approval or consent of the other third party owner. Projects
that require special majority approval are based on returns prescribed within the Cold Lake TSA and have limited
applicability to the determination of control under IFRS 10. Based on these considerations, Inter Pipeline has control over
Cold Lake.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES ADOPTED IN 2014
Inter Pipeline’s annual consolidated financial statements for December 31, 2014 have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS as issued by the IASB.

IFRS Interpretations Committee Interpretation 21 Levies (IFRIC 21)
Inter Pipeline adopted IFRIC 21 on January 1, 2014. IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the
activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The adoption of IFRIC 21 did not result in
any changes to the accounting for levies by Inter Pipeline.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the IASB that are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 or later periods with early adoption permitted. The standards
impacted are as follows:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)
IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations and shall be applied to annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. IFRS 15 establishes a control based revenue
recognition model under which revenue is recognized when control of the underlying goods or services for the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Inter Pipeline is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15; however
the extent of the impact has not yet been determined.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9)
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and shall be applied to annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 9 establishes principles for the financial
reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities that will present relevant and useful information to users of financial
statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of an entity’s future cash flows. Inter Pipeline is
currently assessing the impact of IFRS 9; however the extent of the impact has not yet been determined.

RISK FACTORS
The risks summarized in the following sections may require Inter Pipeline to invest additional capital, pursue alternative
business plans, or could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and/or results of operations of
Inter Pipeline and its future ability to make cash dividends to shareholders. Readers are cautioned that this summary of
risks may not be exhaustive, as there may be risks that are unknown and other risks that may pose unexpected
consequences. Further, many of the risks are beyond Inter Pipeline’s control and, in spite of Inter Pipeline’s active
management of its risk exposure, there is no guarantee that risk management activities will successfully mitigate such
exposure.

Risks Associated with the Pipelines – The Oil Sands Transportation and
Conventional Oil Pipelines Businesses
Throughput and Demand Risks

Over the long term, Inter Pipeline’s business will depend, in part, on the level of demand for petroleum in the geographic
areas in which deliveries are made by the pipelines and the ability and willingness of shippers having access or rights to
utilize the pipelines to supply such demand. Inter Pipeline cannot predict the impact of future economic conditions, fuel
conservation measures, increasing demand for alternative fuel requirements, government regulation (including those
resulting from the ratification of greenhouse gas legislation, including the initiatives discussed below) or technological
advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices, all of which could reduce the demand for petroleum and major
changes may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future
prospects.

Supply Risks and Commodity Prices

Future throughput on the pipelines and replacement of petroleum reserves in the pipelines’ service areas are dependent
upon the success of producers operating in those areas in exploiting their existing reserve bases and exploring for,
developing and acquiring additional reserves. Reserve bases necessary to maintain long-term supply cannot be assured,
and petroleum price declines, without corresponding reductions in costs of production, may reduce or eliminate the
profitability of production and therefore the supply of petroleum for the pipelines. While reserve additions and increased
recovery rates can offset natural declines in petroleum production in the areas serviced by the pipelines, reserve additions
tend to not be sufficient to offset natural declines in produced volumes in certain service areas over the long term, which
reduces the likelihood that reserve additions and increased recovery rates will offset natural declines in petroleum
production in the future. Sustained low petroleum prices could lead to a decline in drilling or mining activity and
production levels or the shutting-in or abandonment of wells or oil sands operations. Drilling and mining activity,
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production levels and shut-in or abandonment decisions may also be affected by the availability of capital to producers for
drilling, allocation by producers of available capital to produce oil as compared to natural gas, current or projected
petroleum price volatility, overall supply and demand expectations and light crude oil to heavy crude oil price differentials.
The pipelines are dependent on producers' continuing petroleum exploration and development activity and on
technological improvements leading to increased recovery rates in order to offset natural declines in petroleum
production in the areas serviced by the pipelines. Absent the continuation of such activities and improvements, the
volumes of petroleum transported on the pipelines will decline over time as reserves are depleted.
The Cold Lake and Corridor pipeline systems service the Cold Lake and Athabasca oil sands regions of Alberta, respectively,
and the Polaris pipeline system services both the Cold Lake and Athabasca oil sands regions of Alberta. Both areas contain
substantial oil sands deposits. Bitumen is produced in the Athabasca region using an open-pit mine operation. In addition,
in-situ recovery techniques such as cyclic steam stimulation (CSS) and steam-assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) are utilized
in both the Cold Lake and Athabasca regions. These techniques require higher levels of capital investment and, as a result,
bitumen production in these areas is more sensitive to lower producer netback prices than crude oil production in the
conventional oil pipeline business segment. Producer net-back prices are affected by several factors including bitumen
prices, natural gas and diluent costs, light crude oil to heavy crude oil price differentials and government royalties. Natural
gas is required to either heat water or generate steam in order to extract bitumen from the oil sands deposits. As well, the
viscosity of bitumen requires diluent, a light petroleum product, to be blended with the bitumen to allow it to be
transported through the pipeline. High natural gas prices or a shortage of diluent supply may increase the overall costs of
producing bitumen, which may reduce production and/or delay development of new production in the Cold Lake and
Athabasca oil sands regions.
The revenue generated from Inter Pipeline’s midstream marketing activities relies on the availability and pricing of
different crude oil streams and other commodities. The variability of supply, or an increase or decrease in the price of such
crude oil or commodities, could reduce the level of profit from these activities.

Competition and Contracts

The majority of transportation revenue associated with Inter Pipeline’s conventional pipeline business has been and will
continue to be derived primarily from contracts or arrangements of 30 days duration or less with producers in the
geographic areas served by its pipelines. While Inter Pipeline attempts to renew contracts on the same or similar terms
and conditions, there can be no assurance that such contracts will continue to be renewed or, if renewed, will be renewed
upon terms favourable to Inter Pipeline. Inter Pipeline's transportation contracts with producers in the areas serviced by
the conventional oil pipelines business are based on market-based toll structures negotiated from time to time with
individual producers, rather than the cost-of-service recovery or fixed rate of return structures applicable to certain other
pipelines. The conventional oil pipelines business is, and will continue to be, subject to market competitive factors.
The pipelines are subject to competition for volumes transported by rail, trucking, or by other pipelines near the areas
serviced by the pipelines. Competing pipelines could be constructed in areas serviced by the pipelines. Rail has emerged as
a transportation option as producers seek to access higher value markets due to capacity constraints on pipelines.
The Cold Lake pipeline system is operated pursuant to long-term contracts with shippers (including the Cold Lake pipeline
system’s founding shippers) who have committed to utilizing the Cold Lake pipeline system and who pay for such usage
over the term of the contract. Pursuant to the Cold Lake TSA, the capital fee paid by the Cold Lake pipeline system’s
founding shippers is not subject to a minimum ship-or-pay threshold. Although volumes that are shipped by the Cold Lake
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pipeline system’s founding shippers from the reserves dedication area while under the Cold Lake TSA are generally
committed to the Cold Lake pipeline system, the Cold Lake founding shippers may utilize alternative transportation
methods (if certain minimum volume levels are maintained) subject to Cold Lake LP's right to match the alternative
proposal. Consequently, there is no assurance that the level of volumes or revenues received from the Cold Lake founding
shippers will be sustained. The new bitumen blend pipeline system that Cold Lake LP constructed pursuant to contracts
with FCCL Partnership commenced operations in January, 2015, and the FCCL Partnership is obligated to transport
bitumen blend under a long-term ship-or-pay agreement that has an initial term of 20 years, with options to extend up to
an additional 30 years. However, there is no assurance that FCCL Partnership will be able to perform its obligations under
the contract with Cold Lake LP, or that revenues received from FCCL Partnership following the expiry of the term of the
contract will be sustained.
The Corridor pipeline system is operated pursuant to a long-term ship-or-pay contract with the Corridor shippers, who are
contractually obligated to utilize the Corridor pipeline system for the transportation of all bitumen and diluent used or
produced from the Athabasca oil sands project. The initial term of the agreement is 26 years, extending through 2028 with
options for further extensions. However, there is no assurance that the Corridor shippers will be able to perform their
obligations under the contract with Inter Pipeline, or that revenues received from the Corridor shippers following the
expiry of the term of the contract will be sustained.
The Polaris pipeline system is operated pursuant to long-term ship-or-pay contracts with various counterparties that are
contractually obligated to utilize the Polaris pipeline system. The Polaris pipeline system is being expanded pursuant to
long-term ship-or-pay contracts with various counterparties. A portion of such expansion was operational in mid-2014.
Once an expansion to the Polaris pipeline system is in service, the counterparties, in accordance with their respective
contracts, are obligated to use the expanded Polaris pipeline system. However, there is no assurance that these
counterparties will be able to perform their obligations under the contracts with Inter Pipeline, or that revenues received
from the counterparties following the expiry of the term of each contract will be sustained.
Corridor, Cold Lake LP and Inter Pipeline Polaris Inc. can supplement revenues by marketing excess capacity on all three oil
sands pipeline systems, including the excess capacity installed as part of the Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline system
expansions for the FCCL Partnership, to third parties, but there can be no assurance that they will be successful in doing so.
Furthermore, any potential third party capacity rights on the Corridor pipeline system are also subject to the approval of
the current Corridor shippers.

Operational Factors

The pipelines are connected to various third party mainline systems such as the Enbridge system, Express pipeline, Trans
Mountain pipeline, and the Milk River pipeline, as well as refineries and third party storage terminals in those areas where
deliveries are made by the pipelines. Operational disruptions, apportionment, or changes to operating parameters on third
party systems or refineries may prevent the full utilization of the pipelines, and could have an otherwise adverse effect on
Inter Pipeline’s overall operating results. The pipelines are reliant on electrical power for their operations. A failure or
disruption within the local or regional electrical power supply or distribution or transmission systems could significantly
affect ongoing pipeline operations. In addition, a significant increase in the cost of power, fuel or other operating costs in
relation to the pipelines could have a materially negative effect on the level of profit realized by the pipeline business in
certain cases where the relevant contracts do not provide for recovery of such costs.
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In the event of a major pipeline or facility incident resulting in the release of large quantities of product, dependent on the
location and applicable insurance coverage, there could be a significant impact to the revenues and continuing operation
of the impacted pipeline.

Rights-of-Way and Access

Successful development of the pipelines through construction of new pipelines or extensions to existing pipelines depends
in part on securing leases, easements, rights-of-way, permits and/or licenses from landowners or governmental authorities
allowing access for such purposes. In general, the process of securing rights-of-way or similar access is becoming more
complex, particularly in more densely populated, environmentally sensitive and other areas. The Cold Lake, Corridor,
Polaris and Central Alberta pipeline systems have portions of their operations in the Edmonton area, with the Cold Lake
pipeline system also having operations in the Hardisty area and within the Cold Lake air weapons range. Although pipelines
have been constructed in these areas in recent years, these are three of the more difficult areas in which to secure
pipeline rights-of-way in the Province of Alberta.

Regulatory Factors

The pipelines are subject to intra-provincial and multi-jurisdictional regulation, including regulation by the Alberta Energy
Regulator (AER) in Alberta, and the Ministry of the Economy in Saskatchewan. As a result, Inter Pipeline’s operations may
be affected by changes implemented by such regulatory authorities or in the legislation governing such authorities.
The Bow River, Central Alberta, Cold Lake, Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems are wholly within the boundaries of the
Province of Alberta and are primarily subject to regulation under the Pipeline Act (Alberta) and Pipeline Regulation
(Alberta), and by the AER. The Mid-Saskatchewan pipeline system is wholly within the boundaries of the Province of
Saskatchewan and is subject to regulation under the Pipelines Act (Saskatchewan) and the Pipelines Regulation
(Saskatchewan) and by the Ministry of the Economy in Saskatchewan. None of the pipelines are subject to regulation by
the National Energy Board (NEB).
Oil pipelines in Alberta may be subject to rate regulation pursuant to the Public Utilities Act (Alberta). In Saskatchewan, oil
pipelines may similarly be subject to rate regulation under the Pipelines Act (Saskatchewan).
Legislation in the Province of Alberta exists to ensure that shippers and producers have fair and reasonable opportunities
to produce, transport, process, and market their reserves. Under the Oil and Gas Conservation Act (Alberta), the AER may,
on application, declare the proprietor of a pipeline to be a common carrier of oil or natural gas such that the proprietor
must not discriminate among shippers and producers who seek access to the pipeline. If a pipeline is designated a
common carrier and agreement cannot be reached between a proprietor and a shipper as to the tariff to be charged, then
either party may apply to the Alberta Utilities Commission. Transportation service on the pipelines has been made
available on an open access, non-discriminatory basis and the pipelines’ tolls have not been set or restricted by any
regulatory agency. Should an order for access or for the setting of tolls be made, it could result in a toll reduction and
decreased revenue for Inter Pipeline.

Risks Associated with the NGL Extraction Business
Natural Gas Availability and Composition

The volumes of natural gas processed by the NGL extraction business depend on the throughput of the Foothills Pipeline
and TransCanada Alberta systems from which the NGL extraction facilities source their natural gas supply. Without reserve
additions or other new sources of gas supply, throughputs will decline over time as reserves are depleted in the areas
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these pipeline systems service. Natural gas producers in these service areas may not be successful in exploring for and
developing additional reserves or commodity prices may not remain at a level that encourages gas producers to explore
for and develop additional reserves or to produce existing marginally economic reserves. Also, to continue to have the
right to reprocess natural gas for the purpose of NGL extraction from gas being transported on the natural gas
transmission systems, Inter Pipeline will be required to continue to negotiate extraction agreements with the various
natural gas shippers and there is no assurance that Inter Pipeline will be able to renew contracts related to the NGL
extraction business to extract NGL on terms favourable to Inter Pipeline.
The production of NGL from the NGL extraction facilities is largely dependent on the quantity and composition of the NGL
within the natural gas streams that supply the NGL extraction business. The quantity and composition of NGL may vary
over time. Also, marketable natural gas on the Foothills Pipeline and TransCanada Alberta systems contains contaminants
such as carbon dioxide and various sulphur compounds that are concentrated in the NGL products through the extraction
process. Increased content of these contaminants in the natural gas supply may require incurring additional capital and
operating costs at the NGL extraction facilities. Other factors, such as an increased level of NGL recovery conducted at field
processing plants upstream of or in parallel to the NGL extraction facilities (including the Harmattan co-stream facility
described below), increased intra-Alberta consumption of natural gas or processing completed at any new extraction
plants constructed upstream of or in parallel to the NGL extraction facilities, or changes in the quantity and composition of
the natural gas produced from the reservoirs that supply the NGL extraction facilities, could have a materially negative
effect on NGL production from the NGL extraction business.

Operational Factors

The NGL extraction facilities are connected to various third party systems, including the TransCanada Alberta System,
Foothills Pipeline System, Kerrobert Pipeline, Co-Ed Pipeline and the Alberta Ethane Gathering System. Operational
disruptions or apportionment on those third party systems and/or disruptions at the other facilities in the Empress area
may prevent the full utilization of the NGL extraction facilities.
The NGL extraction facilities are reliant on electrical power for their operations. A failure or disruption within the local or
regional electrical power supply or distribution or transmission systems could significantly affect ongoing NGL extraction
operations. In addition, a significant increase in the cost of power, fuel or other operating costs in relation to the NGL
extraction facilities could have a materially negative effect on the level of profit realized by the NGL extraction business in
certain cases where the relevant contracts do not provide for recovery of such costs.
In the event of a major facility incident, such as a fire or major equipment damage, there could be a significant impact to
the revenues and continuing operation of the impacted NGL extraction facility should insurance not cover the incident.

Competition

The NGL extraction facilities are subject to natural gas markets and, as such, are subject to competition for gas supply from
all natural gas markets served by the TransCanada Alberta System or the Foothills Pipeline System. The NGL extraction
facilities are subject to competition from other extraction plants that are in the general vicinity of the NGL extraction
facilities or that may be constructed upstream of or in parallel to the NGL extraction facilities, including the Harmattan costream facility, described below. The NGL extraction facilities are also subject to competition from field processing facilities
that extract NGL from the natural gas streams before injection into the TransCanada Alberta System or the Foothills
Pipeline System.
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The Harmattan co-stream project, which became operational in late 2012, consisted of modifications to the Harmattan
facility and a new bypass pipeline around the Cochrane plant for the purpose of extracting NGL from up to 490 mmcf/d of
natural gas on the Foothills Pipeline and TransCanada Alberta systems directly upstream of and in parallel to the Cochrane
plant. This project has caused and has further potential to cause a significant reduction in volumes available for processing
at the Cochrane plant. The Harmattan co-stream facility competes directly with the Cochrane plant for the right to
reprocess gas volumes on the Foothills Pipeline and TransCanada Alberta systems.
To the extent that (i) other gas market participants are willing to pay for gas supply, (ii) existing or newly constructed
extraction or field processing plants are successful in securing natural gas supply currently processed at the NGL extraction
facilities or are successful in removing significant amounts of NGL from the gas supply upstream of the NGL extraction
facilities or (iii) products derived from the production at the NGL extraction facilities cannot be priced competitively, Inter
Pipeline will be adversely affected.
Similarly, there is no assurance that new sources of natural gas supply that may be developed in frontier areas such as
Alaska and the Mackenzie Delta in the Northwest Territories will be transported via the natural gas transmission systems
connected to the NGL extraction facilities or that new extraction plants will not be constructed upstream of or in parallel
to the NGL extraction facilities to process that natural gas.
Volumes of natural gas processed by the NGL extraction business are also dependent on commodity pricing competition
between the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin (WCSB) natural gas and other recently developed natural gas basins
such as Marcellus. A growing supply of North American natural gas from such developments will compete with historical
supplies and may significantly change traditional natural gas flow patterns. Such natural gas flow patterns may also be
impacted by the development of Liquified Natural Gas (LNG) export facilities competing for volumes, potentially adversely
affecting natural gas to the NGL extraction facilities.
The NGL produced at the NGL extraction facilities or derivatives produced at downstream customer facilities must
compete with similar products from other facilities on a local, regional or continental scale. The NGL markets in which Inter
Pipeline markets its production are exposed to new infrastructure additions, repurposing of existing infrastructure, and
significant changes in supply and demand associated with development of shale resources.

Commodity Price; Frac-spread

At the Cochrane plant, Inter Pipeline is exposed to frac-spread risk or the relative price differential between the propaneplus produced and the natural gas used to replace the heat content removed during extraction of the NGL from the natural
gas stream. The level of profit obtained from this portion of the NGL extraction business will increase or decrease as the
difference between the price of the applicable NGL and the price of natural gas varies. Propane-plus produced at the
Cochrane plant is also sold in US currency, exposing Inter Pipeline’s frac-spread margin to currency risk.

Extraction Premiums

Further influencing the profitability of the NGL extraction business is the cost of natural gas feedstock in excess of the
market price of natural gas. Currently, extraction premiums are paid to export shippers in exchange for the ability to
reprocess their natural gas for the purpose of NGL extraction. Historically, these premiums have been moderate relative to
the selling price of NGL, but it is possible that they could increase, which would adversely affect the NGL extraction
business.
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Reliance on NOVA Chemicals, Dow Chemical, and Plains Midstream

NOVA Chemicals, Dow Chemical, and Plains Midstream are the principal customers of the NGL extraction business and
represent the majority of the revenue from the NGL extraction business. Plains Midstream also operates the Empress II
plant and the Empress V plant. If, for any reason, any of the aforementioned parties were unable to perform their
obligations under the various agreements with Inter Pipeline, the financial results of the NGL extraction business or the
operations of the Empress II plant and the Empress V plant could be negatively impacted.

Regulatory Factors

The Alberta Energy and Utilities Board (EUB) concluded its inquiry into NGL Extraction Matters (Inquiry) related to the
common natural gas streams transported by the pipeline transmission systems in Alberta in 2009. Of significance to Inter
Pipeline is the review of business and regulatory practices relating to the acquisition of NGL extraction rights from the
common stream, public interest criteria used to determine the need and timing of NGL processing capacity additions and
the potential for NGL content dilution of the common stream caused by increases in non-conventional gas production.
Currently, straddle plants in Alberta are not commercially regulated and all such facilities operate under similar proprietary
commercial arrangements known as the “NGL Extraction Convention”. The EUB recommended that the current extraction
convention be replaced by a receipt point contracting extraction convention, specifically, the NGL EXTraction model (NEXT
model) as then proposed by Nova Gas Transmission Ltd. Subsequent to the conclusion of the Inquiry, TransCanada
Pipelines Limited (TCPL), including the Alberta System became federally regulated and submitted an application to the NEB
to implement the NEXT model. In May 2012 the NEB set a hearing process for the implementation of the NEXT model
thereafter TCPL withdrew the application. If the NEXT model was to be implemented it would require changes to
contracting counterparties and commercial arrangements, and potentially business process changes to Inter Pipeline’s NGL
extraction business segment. There is a risk that a change in convention, if implemented, could adversely affect the NGL
extraction business.

Risks Associated with the Bulk Liquid Storage Business
Demand for Bulk Liquid Storage

The Inter Terminals business in the UK, Ireland and Germany is primarily involved in the storage and handling of liquids for
regional petroleum refining and petrochemical businesses. The products stored and handled at these storage terminals are
generally either feedstock for petrochemical plants and refineries or are products produced from those facilities. As a
result, a sustained slowdown in either the petroleum refining, biofuels or petrochemical sectors serviced by the Inter
Terminals business could adversely affect the bulk liquid storage business.
Inter Terminals business in Denmark is primarily involved in the storage and handling of liquids for the petroleum refining
and general oil-trading business. Therefore, a sustained slowdown in the petroleum sector could adversely affect the Inter
Terminals business. Sustained periods of backwardation in the oil products markets served by Inter Terminals Denmark
could also adversely affect the Inter Terminals business.
The Inter Terminals Immingham terminals are highly integrated with two local refineries, the Phillips66 Humber refinery
and the Total Lindsey refinery. The closure of one or both refineries, or amalgamation under ownership by a single party,
could significantly reduce revenue from the Inter Terminals business. Inter Terminal’s Asnaes terminal handles some fuel
oil exports from the adjacent Statoil refinery. Any closure of this refinery would reduce revenue from the Inter Terminals
business. Furthermore, if this Statoil refinery were to subsequently be converted into a competing storage facility,
revenues from the Inter Terminals business could be significantly reduced.
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Customs and Excise Warehouses

Inter Terminals operates approved customs warehouses and approved excise warehouses, thereby permitting their
respective customers to store products on a duty-suspended basis. Failure to comply with legal and regulatory
requirements governing the operation of such warehouses could lead to liability for customs and excise duties, value
added tax and penalties, including the withdrawal of the related authorizations, which in turn could result in a reduction in
commercial activity at the facilities.

Post Buncefield Regulation

Following the Buncefield oil terminal incident in December 2005, the UK’s regulatory authorities have been in the process
of formulating policies which require additional integrity systems and controls on gasoline tanks and associated
infrastructure. A report issued in December 2009 by the Process Safety Leadership Group details all of the required
improvements and also contains a list of other hydrocarbon and petrochemical products to which these improvements are
required in future years.
The UK’s regulatory authorities issued a Containment Policy in respect of the storage of fuels on February 20, 2008 which
will require substantially enhanced tank and bund facilities both for new build tankage and for existing facilities at the Inter
Terminals’ UK terminals. The policy states a 10 to 20 year timeline for improvements to be effected, and a suggested
timeline for retrospective improvements of between two and five years for sites categorized by the regulator as higher
risk, including the Seal Sands storage terminal. As a consequence, sustaining capital expenditures * are likely to increase in
the foreseeable future, although the timing of such increases remains uncertain. However, based upon the policy as
currently applied by the regulatory authorities, Inter Terminals has estimated that it will incur between $5 million and $7
million on containment costs over the next seven years. The amount of such costs will depend in part on the acceptability
to the regulatory authorities of innovative solutions which are being considered by Inter Terminals.

Activity Restrictions

For the three fuel oil terminals at Ensted, Asnaes and Stigsnaes, Inter Terminals Denmark, in late 2014, received approved
new conditions for activity levels that support the theoretical maximum activity level for each terminal. However, Gulfhavn
oil terminal remains limited to 1.5 million tons of transshipment a year.

Operational Factors

In the event of a major facility incident resulting in a major fire or the release of large quantities of product, the location of
the bulk liquid storage facilities adjacent to water courses and large bodies of water could significantly impact the
revenues and continuing operation of the bulk liquid storage business.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

A defined benefit pension plan exists for certain employees of Inter Terminals’ UK and Irish business. The plan holds
interests in various securities invested in equities, fixed income instruments and real estate. Fluctuations in the value of
the plan’s assets and the factors which are applied to calculate the plan’s liabilities could result in a requirement for
additional cash to be contributed by Inter Pipeline.

*
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Competition

The bulk liquid storage business faces competition from other independent bulk liquid terminals which operate in several
of the regions serviced by Inter Terminals. Certain of the bulk liquid storage business' customers also have the option to
store products at their own storage facilities or to adopt alternative logistics solutions. As a result, customers could elect in
the future to make alternative arrangements for the storage and handling of their products resulting in a decline in the
bulk liquid storage business' revenue.

Land Lease Renewals

Certain storage terminals and associated infrastructure are located on lands leased or licensed from third parties that must
be renewed from time to time. Failure to renew the leases or licenses on terms acceptable to Inter Pipeline could
significantly reduce the operations of the bulk liquid storage business, and could result in related decommissioning costs
for Inter Pipeline, pursuant to the terms of such leases or licenses. Where there is such a legal obligation, decommissioning
costs have been provided in the financial statements in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The bulk liquid storage business' earnings and cash flows are subject to foreign exchange rate variability, primarily arising
from the denomination of such earnings and cash flows in British Pounds, Euros, Danish Kroner and US dollars.

Risks Common to the Oil Sands Transportation, Conventional Oil Pipelines, NGL
Extraction and Bulk Liquid Storage Businesses
Volatility in Commodity Prices

Petroleum prices are determined by a wide range of political and economic factors external to Inter Pipeline and beyond
its control. These factors include economic conditions in the US and Canada and worldwide, the actions of Organization of
the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), governmental regulation, political stability in the Middle East and elsewhere,
weather conditions, the foreign supply of oil and natural gas, risks of supply disruption, the price of foreign imports and
the availability of alternative fuel sources. Any substantial and extended decline in the price of oil and gas may have an
adverse effect on Inter Pipeline’s borrowing capacity, revenues, profitability and FFO * and may have a material adverse
effect on Inter Pipeline's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future prospects. Lower
commodity prices may render Inter Pipeline's development and expansion plans uneconomic.
Petroleum prices are expected to remain volatile as a result of market uncertainties over the supply and demand of these
commodities that are caused by changing world economies, OPEC actions, credit and liquidity concerns and Middle East
political unrest. Volatile commodity prices make it difficult to estimate the value of projects and often cause disruption in
the market for oil and gas projects, as buyers and sellers have difficulty agreeing on such value. Price volatility also makes
it difficult to budget for and project the return on acquisition and development and expansion projects.

Execution Risk

Inter Pipeline’s ability to successfully execute the development of its growth projects may be influenced by capital
constraints, third party opposition, changes in customer support over time, delays in or changes to government and

*
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regulatory approvals, cost escalations, construction delays, shortages and in-service delays. Inter Pipeline’s growth plans
may strain its resources and may be subject to high cost pressures in the North American and European energy sectors.
Early stage project risks include right-of-way procurement, special interest group opposition, Crown consultation, and
environmental and regulatory permitting. Cost escalations may impact project economics. Construction delays due to slow
delivery of materials, contractor non-performance, weather conditions and shortages may impact project development
and timing of related revenue. Labour shortages, inexperience and productivity issues may also affect the successful
completion of projects.

Reputational Risk

Reputational risk is the potential for negative impacts that could result from the deterioration of Inter Pipeline’s reputation
with key stakeholders. The potential for harming Inter Pipeline’s reputation exists in every business decision and all risks
can have an impact on reputation, which in turn can negatively impact Inter Pipeline’s business and the value of common
shares. Reputational risk cannot be managed in isolation from other forms of risk. Credit, market, operational, insurance,
liquidity and regulatory and legal risks must all be managed effectively to safeguard Inter Pipeline’s reputation. Negative
impacts from a compromised reputation could include reductions in cash flow and customer base, and decreases in the
value of common shares.
Inter Pipeline’s reputation as a reliable and responsible energy services provider with consistent financial performance and
long-term financial stability is one of its most valuable assets. The key to effectively building and maintaining Inter
Pipeline’s reputation is fostering a culture that promotes integrity and ethical conduct. Ultimate responsibility for Inter
Pipeline’s reputation lies with the executive team that examines reputational risk and issues as part of all business
decisions. Nonetheless, every employee of Inter Pipeline and other representatives of Inter Pipeline have a responsibility
to contribute in a positive way to Inter Pipeline’s reputation. This means ensuring compliance with applicable policies,
legislation and regulations, that ethical practices are followed at all times, and that interactions with our stakeholders are
positive. Reputational risk is most effectively managed when every individual works continuously to protect and enhance
Inter Pipeline’s reputation.

Credit Risk

Inter Pipeline is subject to credit risk arising out of its operations. A majority of Inter Pipeline’s accounts receivable are
with customers in the oil and gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risk. Credit risk is managed through
credit approval and monitoring procedures. The credit worthiness assessment takes into account available qualitative and
quantitative information about the counterparty, including, but not limited to, financial status and external credit ratings.
Depending on the outcome of each assessment, guarantees, letters of credit or some other form of credit enhancement
may be requested as security, however, Inter Pipeline cannot be sure that counterparties are able to or will provide such
requested security. Inter Pipeline attempts to mitigate its exposure by entering into contracts with customers that may
entitle Inter Pipeline to lien or take product in kind and/or allow for termination of the contract on the occurrence of
certain events of default.

Royalty Regimes

Inter Pipeline's pipeline and NGL extraction businesses may be impacted by changes to the oil and gas royalty regime in
effect in Alberta and Saskatchewan. Future royalty regime modifications could have adverse impacts on production of oil
and gas volumes. Such changes may directly or indirectly impact Inter Pipeline in a materially different manner and/or in a
manner that is more adverse to Inter Pipeline than the current royalty regime and regulatory framework.
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Operational Factors

Inter Pipeline's operations are subject to the customary hazards of the petroleum transportation, storage, marketing and
processing business. Inter Pipeline’s operations could be impacted by failures of pipelines (including pipeline leaks), power
infrastructure, equipment, information systems, the performance of equipment at levels below those originally intended
(whether due to misuse, unexpected degradation, design errors, or construction or manufacturing defects), failure to
maintain an adequate inventory of supplies or spare parts, operator error, labour disputes, disputes with owners of
interconnected facilities and carriers, and catastrophic events such as natural disasters, fires, flooding, explosions,
chemical releases, fractures, or other events beyond Inter Pipeline`s control, including acts of terrorists, eco-terrorists and
saboteurs, and other third party damage to Inter Pipeline’s assets. Operational errors could cause a process safety incident
that additionally results in reputational damage to the business. The occurrence or continuance of any of these events
could increase the cost of operating facilities and/or reduce their processing, throughput or storage capacity. A casualty
occurrence might result in the loss of equipment or life, as well as injury and property damage. Inter Pipeline carries
insurance with respect to some, but not all, casualty occurrences and disruptions. However, such coverage may not be
sufficient to compensate for all casualty occurrences.
Insurance of Inter Pipeline’s operations is susceptible to appetite for risk within the insurance market. Either general
market conditions or a poor claims record could result in significantly increased premiums or the impossibility of obtaining
coverage for certain risks.
Inter Pipeline has extensive integrity management programs in all of its business segments. While Inter Pipeline believes
its programs are consistent with industry practice, increasingly strict operational regulations or new data on the condition
of Inter Pipeline’s assets could result in repair or upgrading activities that are more extensive and costly than in the past.
Such developments could contribute to higher operating costs for Inter Pipeline or the termination of operations on the
affected portion of Inter Pipeline’s assets.
A significant operating cost for Inter Pipeline is electrical power. Deregulation of the Alberta electrical power market has
contributed to increased volatility in electrical power prices. Factors such as a shortage of electrical power supply or high
natural gas prices could contribute to higher electrical power prices, which may result in higher operating costs for Inter
Pipeline.
Inter Pipeline continues to build on its business continuity planning, which involves analyzing critical activities,
interdependencies and vulnerabilities to assist in prioritizing key functions and planning strategies and to recover or
maintain them in the event of a significant business disruption. Critical infrastructure, personnel, supervisory control and
data acquisition (SCADA) and information technology systems have redundancy established, which is intended to minimize
both the probability and impact of disruptive events, however there is no guarantee that such measures will be effective in
the event of a worst case scenario.

Regulatory Intervention and Changes in Legislation

Although fees charged to customers of the pipelines and the NGL extraction business have not been set or restricted by
any regulatory agency, an application to the Alberta or Saskatchewan regulators for the setting of fees could result in a
reduction of fees and revenue for Inter Pipeline.
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Income tax laws relating to the oil and natural gas industry or Inter Pipeline, environmental and applicable operating
legislation, and the legislation and regulatory framework governing the oil and natural gas industry may be changed in a
manner which adversely affects Inter Pipeline.
Failure of Inter Pipeline to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions, fines, litigation, or other adverse
outcomes.
New regulations or legislation introduced may result in a significant increase in operating costs to ensure compliance. Such
changes could have a materially negative effect on the level of profit realized by the pipeline business in certain cases
where the relevant contracts do not provide for recovery of such costs.

Decommissioning, Abandonment and Reclamation Costs

Inter Pipeline is responsible for compliance with all laws, regulations and relevant agreements regarding the abandonment
of its assets at the end of their economic lives and all associated costs, which costs may be substantial. Abandonment costs
are a function of regulatory requirements at the time of abandonment, and the characteristics (such as diameter, length
and location) of the pipeline or the size and complexity of the NGL extraction or storage facility.
Abandonment requirements can vary considerably. For example, in the context of the pipelines, requirements can range
from simply emptying the pipeline and capping all open ends, to the removal of the pipeline and reclamation of the related
right-of-way. With respect to pipelines, the costs of abandonment have been limited primarily to the costs associated with
the removal of petroleum from the lines, refilling with inert gas and capping all open ends, the removal of any associated
surface facilities and surface reclamation of the disturbed site. However, future requirements are expected to be more
stringent.
Abandonment and reclamation costs for the NGL extraction facilities are regulated by the AER, pursuant to Directive 001
and Directive 024. The NGL extraction facilities are included in the AER’s Large Facilities Liability and Reclamation
Regulations and have defined reclamation requirements and financial tests to ensure that end of life costs can be funded.
However, future requirements may be more stringent.
In the future, Inter Pipeline may determine it prudent to establish and fund one or more reclamation trusts to address
anticipated abandonment costs. The payment of the costs of abandonment of the pipelines, the NGL extraction facilities,
or the assets of the bulk liquid storage business, or the establishment of reserves for that purpose, could have a materially
negative effect on the level of profit realized by Inter Pipeline.

Environmental Costs and Liabilities

Inter Pipeline’s operations are subject to the laws and regulations of the European Union, UK, Germany, Ireland, Denmark,
Alberta, Saskatchewan and the Canadian federal government relating to environmental protection and operational safety.
Inter Pipeline believes it is in material compliance with all required environmental permits and reporting requirements.
In order to continuously improve environmental performance and address regulatory requirements, Inter Pipeline
routinely reviews systems, programs and processes critical to protecting the environment, including integrity programs,
leak detection systems, air monitoring systems, contaminated sites program and maintenance standards. Improvement
opportunities are implemented as deemed appropriate, with costs budgeted during Inter Pipeline’s normal budget cycle in
accordance with applicable accounting practices. Operation of certain of the pipelines, bulk liquid storage business assets
and NGL extraction facilities has spanned several decades. While the remediation of releases or contamination during such
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period may have met then-current environmental standards, such remediation may not meet current or future
environmental standards and historical contamination may exist for which Inter Pipeline may be liable. Inter Pipeline has
completed internal environmental reviews that have identified locations of historical contamination and several locations
have been remediated. While Inter Pipeline believes such reviews have identified all locations of historical contamination,
others may exist. The remaining identified, but unremediated, sites will be addressed in a prioritized manner, utilizing
industry practices, with some locations being subject to multi-year restoration plans.
It is possible that other developments, such as increasingly strict environmental and safety laws, regulations and
enforcement policies thereunder, and claims for damages to property or persons resulting from Inter Pipeline's operations
and previously undetected locations of historical contamination, could result in substantial costs and liabilities for Inter
Pipeline. If, at any time, regulatory authorities deem any one of the NGL extraction facilities, oil sands transportation,
conventional oil pipelines or bulk liquid storage business assets unsafe or not in compliance with applicable laws, they may
order it shut down. Inter Pipeline could be adversely affected if it was not able to recover such resulting costs through
insurance or other means.
While Inter Pipeline maintains insurance in respect of damage caused by seepage or pollution in amounts it considers
prudent and in accordance with industry standards, certain provisions of such insurance may limit the availability thereof
in respect of certain occurrences unless such seepage or pollution is both sudden and unexpected, and discovered and
reported within fixed time periods. If Inter Pipeline is unaware of a problem or is unable to locate the problem within the
relevant time period, insurance coverage may not be available.

Greenhouse Gas Regulations

Inter Pipeline's facilities and other operations and activities emit greenhouse gases (GHG) and require Inter Pipeline to
comply with greenhouse gas emissions legislation in Alberta. Alberta facilities emitting more than 100,000 tonnes of GHGs
a year are subject to compliance with the Climate Change and Emissions Management Act (CCEMA) which requires a
reduction in emissions intensity over a period of years. The CCEMA and the associated Specified Gas Emitters Regulation
require certain facilities to reduce their emissions intensity to 88% of their baseline for 2008 and subsequent years, with
their baseline being established by the average of the ratio of the total annual emissions to production for the years 2003
to 2005. The Cochrane plant is the only asset of Inter Pipeline that is subject to provincial GHG regulations. Regulated
emitters can meet their emissions intensity targets by contributing to the Climate Change and Emissions Management
Fund or by purchasing emissions credits.
The Copenhagen Summit on Climate Change (COP) in 2009 resulted in the Copenhagen Accord, which expresses the
intention for global and national emissions to decline as soon as possible. Under the Copenhagen Accord, Canada has
announced a non-binding commitment to reduce GHG emissions by 17% of the base year 2005 by 2020. The Government
of Canada has also announced its intention to regulate GHG emissions in compliance with the Copenhagen Accord. Inter
Pipeline may be required to comply with the regulatory scheme for GHG emissions ultimately adopted by the federal
government, which is expected to be modified to ensure consistency with the regulatory scheme for GHG emissions to be
adopted by the US. The future implementation or modification of GHG regulations, whether to meet the limits regulated
by the Copenhagen Accord or as otherwise determined, could have an adverse effect on Inter Pipeline's business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
The adoption of legislation or other regulatory initiatives designed to reduce GHG and air pollutants from oil and gas
producers, refiners and petrochemical producers and electric generators in the geographic areas served by the pipelines,
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NGL extraction facilities and bulk liquid storage business could result in, among other things, increased operating and
capital expenditures for those operators. This may make certain production of petroleum and gas by those producers
uneconomic, resulting in reduced or delayed production, or reduced scope in planned new development or expansion
projects. The operation of certain refineries and petrochemical plants may also become uneconomic. In addition, the
adoption of new regulations concerning climate change and the reduction of GHG emissions and other air pollutants or
other related federal or provincial legislation, including the Specified Gas Emitters Regulation, may also result in higher
operating and capital costs for the pipelines and NGL extraction facilities. Given the evolving nature of the debate related
to climate change and the control of GHG and resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict the impact on Inter
Pipeline and its operations and financial condition.

Dependence on Key Personnel

The success of Inter Pipeline is largely dependent on the skills and expertise of key personnel who manage Inter Pipeline's
business. The continued success of Inter Pipeline will be dependent upon its ability to hire and retain such personnel. Inter
Pipeline does not have any "key man" insurance.

International Operations

A portion of Inter Pipeline's operations are conducted in the UK, Germany, Ireland, and Denmark. Operations outside of
Canada are subject to various risks, including: currency exchange rate fluctuations; foreign economic conditions; credit
conditions; trade barriers; exchange controls; national and regional labour strikes; political risks and risks of increases in
duties; taxes and changes in tax laws; and changes in laws and policies governing operations of foreign-based companies.

Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of Acquisitions

Inter Pipeline has completed a number of acquisitions and, as part of its business plan, anticipates making additional
acquisitions in the future. Achieving the benefits of completed and future acquisitions depends in part on successfully
consolidating functions and integrating operations, procedures and personnel in a timely and efficient manner, as well as
Inter Pipeline's ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from combining the acquired
businesses and operations with those of Inter Pipeline. The integration of acquired businesses requires the dedication of
substantial management effort, time and resources, which may divert management's focus, and resources from other
strategic opportunities and from operational matters. The integration process may also result in the loss of key employees
and the disruption of ongoing business, customer and employee relationships that may adversely affect Inter Pipeline's
ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of past and future acquisitions. Acquisitions may expose Inter Pipeline to
additional risks, including entry into markets or businesses in which Inter Pipeline has little or no direct prior experience,
increased credit risks through the assumption of additional debt, costs and contingent liabilities and exposure to liabilities
of the acquired business or assets.

Capital Maintenance Levels

Inter Pipeline maintains and periodically replaces portions of its assets to sustain facility performance, provide a high level
of asset integrity and ensure reliable operations. The funds associated with these efforts may be in the form of sustaining
capital * or maintenance expenses. Maintenance expenses are a subset of “operating expenses” and are not reported
separately.

*
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Inter Pipeline typically maintains its assets with reasonable levels of sustaining capital* and maintenance expenditures.
However, both sustaining capital* and maintenance expenditures may vary considerably from current and forecast
amounts as a result of a number of factors, including high equipment failure rates, more stringent government regulations
and any additional efforts deemed necessary by Inter Pipeline to improve the reliability of its assets. An increase in capital
and/or maintenance expenditures could result in significant additional costs to Inter Pipeline.

Possible Downgrade of Investment Grade Credit Ratings

Inter Pipeline and its unsecured MTNs have investment grade credit ratings of BBB+ and BBB (high), by S&P and DBRS,
respectively. Corridor’s debentures have been assigned investment grade credit ratings of A, A2 and A by DBRS, Moody’s
and S&P, respectively. Should these credit ratings fall below investment grade, Inter Pipeline or Corridor may have to
provide security, pay additional interest or pay in advance for goods and services. The perceived creditworthiness of Inter
Pipeline and changes in its credit ratings may also affect the value of Inter Pipeline’s common shares. There is no assurance
that any credit rating assigned to Inter Pipeline or Corridor will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any
rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by the relevant rating agency. A lowering or withdrawal of such rating
may have an adverse effect on the market value of Inter Pipeline’s common shares.
Corridor’s commercial paper is rated R-1 (low) by DBRS. If Corridor’s commercial paper rating falls below this level,
Corridor may not be able to issue commercial paper and be required to use higher cost financing to fund its financial
obligations.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Inter Pipeline will not be able to meet its financial obligations. To manage this risk, Inter
Pipeline forecasts its cash requirements to determine whether sufficient funds will be available. Inter Pipeline’s primary
sources of liquidity and capital resources are FFO *, draws under committed credit facilities and the issuance of new equity
capital or debt securities. Inter Pipeline maintains a current base shelf prospectus with Canadian securities regulators,
which enables, subject to market conditions, ready access to Canadian public capital markets.

Refinancing Risk

Inter Pipeline's credit facilities, MTNs and other outstanding financing instruments or debt securities each have a maturity
date, on which date, absent replacement, extension or renewal, the indebtedness under the respective loan agreement
becomes repayable in its entirety. To the extent any of the loan agreements are not replaced or extended on or before
their respective maturity dates or are not replaced, extended or renewed for the same or similar amounts or on the same
or similar terms, Inter Pipeline's ability to fund ongoing operations and pay dividends could be impaired.
Inter Pipeline’s ability to refinance its indebtedness under its credit facilities, MTNs, and other outstanding financing
instruments or debt securities will depend upon its future operating performance and FFO*, which are subject to prevailing
economic and credit conditions, prevailing interest rate levels and financial, competitive, business and other factors, many
of which are beyond its control.

*
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Litigation or Arbitration

Inter Pipeline is not a party to any material litigation or arbitral matters. However, if any legitimate cause of action or
arbitral matter arose which was successfully prosecuted against Inter Pipeline, Inter Pipeline’s operations or results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Aboriginal Land Claims

Aboriginal peoples have claimed aboriginal title and rights to a substantial portion of the lands in western Canada. Such
claims, if successful, could have a significant adverse effect on Inter Pipeline’s Canadian operations.

Crown Duty to Consult First Nations

The federal and provincial governments in Canada have a duty to consult and, where appropriate, accommodate
aboriginal people where the interests of the aboriginal peoples may be affected by a Crown action or decision.
Accordingly, the Crown’s duty may result in regulatory approvals being delayed or not being obtained in relation to Inter
Pipeline’s Canadian operations.

Weather Conditions

Weather conditions can affect the demand for and price of natural gas and NGL. As a result, changes in weather patterns
can affect throughput, as well as Inter Pipeline’s NGL extraction and storage activities. For instance, colder winter
temperatures generally increase demand for natural gas and NGL used for heating which tends to result in increased
throughput volumes at facilities and higher prices in the extraction and storage businesses. In its storage facilities and NGL
extraction business, Inter Pipeline attempts to position itself to be able to handle increased volumes of throughput and
storage at its facilities to meet changes in seasonal demand; however, at any given time, facility and storage capacity is
finite.
Weather conditions may influence Inter Pipeline’s ability to complete capital projects or facility turnarounds on time,
potentially resulting in delays and increasing costs of such capital projects and turnarounds. Weather may also affect the
operations and projects of Inter Pipeline’s customers or shippers, thereby influencing the supply of products.
With respect to construction activities, in areas where construction can be conducted in non-winter months, Inter Pipeline
attempts to schedule its construction timetables so as to minimize delays due to cold winter weather. While availability of
trades and supplies does not always make this possible, Inter Pipeline has been relatively successful in minimizing
construction delays due to weather issues.

Labour Relations

Inter Pipeline may from time to time have labour unions. Unionized labour disruptions could restrict the ability of Inter
Pipeline to carry out its business and therefore affect Inter Pipeline's financial results.

Policies and Procedures

Inter Pipeline has a number of formal and informal policies and procedures in place to govern certain business processes
and the entering into and administration of contracts. Deviations from such policies and procedures, or a lack of policies
and procedures, could result in negative impacts, including failure to realize all available revenue from contracts,
inefficiencies, potential litigation and decreases in the value of common shares.
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Reliance on Information Technology

Inter Pipeline’s operations are dependent on the functioning of several information technology systems. Failure of any or
all of these systems could result in operational outages, delays, lost profits, lost data, and other adverse outcomes, which
could include a loss of communication links or reliable information and the inability to automatically process commercial
transactions or engage in similar automated or computerized business activities.

Risks Inherent in the Corporation
Fluctuating Dividends; Dividends Are Not Guaranteed

There is uncertainty with respect to future dividend payments by Inter Pipeline and the level thereof. Funds available for
the payment of dividends will be dependent upon, among other things, FFO *, the execution of its growth strategy,
financial requirements for Inter Pipeline's operations and limitations under its credit facilities as well as the satisfaction of
liquidity and solvency tests imposed by the Alberta Business Corporations Act (ABCA) on corporations for the declaration
and payment of dividends.

Market Price of the Common Shares

The prices at which Inter Pipeline’s common shares will trade cannot be predicted. The annual yield on the common shares
as compared to annual yield on other financial instruments may also influence the price of Inter Pipeline’s common shares.
One of the factors that may influence the market price of Inter Pipeline’s common shares is the level of prevailing interest
rates relative to the yield achieved by shareholders based on annual dividends on the common shares. Accordingly, an
increase in market interest rates may lead purchasers of common shares to expect a higher effective yield, which could
adversely affect the market price of the common shares. In addition, the market price for Inter Pipeline’s common shares
may be affected by changes in general market or economic conditions, legislative changes, fluctuations in the markets for
equity securities, interest rates, commodity prices and numerous other factors beyond the control of Inter Pipeline.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain directors of Inter Pipeline are also directors of other entities engaged in the oil and gas business generally. As a
result, situations may arise where the interest of such directors conflict with their interests as directors of other
companies. The resolution of such conflicts is governed by applicable corporate laws, which require that directors act
honestly, in good faith and with a view to the best interests of the company. Conflicts, if any, will be handled in a manner
consistent with the procedures and remedies set forth in the ABCA. The ABCA provides that in the event that a director has
an interest in a contract or proposed contract or agreement, the director shall disclose his interest in such contract or
agreement and shall refrain from voting on any matter in respect of such contract or agreement unless otherwise provided
by the ABCA.

Capital Resources

Future expansions of Inter Pipeline’s assets and other capital expenditures will be financed out of FFO*, sales of additional
equity or debt securities and borrowings. There can be no assurance that sufficient capital will be available to Inter
Pipeline on acceptable terms, or in an amount sufficient, to fund expansion or other required capital expenditures.

*
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Leverage

Borrowings made by Inter Pipeline (including, for clarity, various subsidiaries thereof) introduce leverage into Inter
Pipeline’s business which increases the level of financial risk in the operations of Inter Pipeline, and, to the extent interest
rates are not fixed, increases the sensitivity of dividends by Inter Pipeline to interest rate variations.

Debt Restrictive Covenants

The credit facilities, MTNs and the Corridor debentures described in the LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES section
contain numerous restrictive covenants that limit the discretion of Inter Pipeline’s management with respect to certain
business matters. These loan agreements may contain covenants that place restrictions on, among other things, the ability
of Inter Pipeline to create liens or other encumbrances, to pay dividends or make certain other payments, loans and
guarantees, and to sell or otherwise dispose of assets and merge or consolidate with another entity. In addition, the loan
agreements contain various financial covenants that require Inter Pipeline to meet certain financial ratios and financial
condition tests. A failure to comply with these obligations could result in a default which, if not cured or waived, could
result in a reduction or termination of dividends by Inter Pipeline and permit acceleration of the relevant indebtedness. In
addition, in some circumstances, it may become necessary to restrict or terminate dividends by Inter Pipeline in order to
avoid a default of such obligations.

Issues of Additional Common Shares; Dilution

Inter Pipeline may issue additional common shares in the future to finance certain of Inter Pipeline’s capital expenditures,
including acquisitions. Any issuance of common shares may have a dilutive effect to existing shareholders.

Foreign Exchange Risk on Dividends
Inter Pipeline's cash dividends will be declared and paid in Canadian dollars. As a consequence, non-resident shareholders,
and shareholders who calculate their income in currencies other than the Canadian dollar, will be subject to foreign
exchange risk. To the extent that the Canadian dollar strengthens with respect to the reporting currency of a shareholder,
the amount of the dividend will be reduced when converted to that currency.

NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
Certain non-GAAP financial measures referred to in this MD&A, namely “adjusted working capital deficiency”, “EBITDA”,
“adjusted EBITDA” “enterprise value”, “growth capital expenditures”, “sustaining capital expenditures”, “normalized net
income”, “interest coverage”, “payout ratio” and “total debt to total capitalization” are not measures recognized by GAAP.
Certain additional GAAP financial measures presented in the consolidated financial statements and referred to in this
MD&A, namely “funds from operations”, “funds from operations per share”, and “total recourse debt to capitalization” are
not measures recognized by GAAP. These non-GAAP and additional GAAP financial measures do not have standardized
meanings prescribed by GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
Investors are cautioned that non-GAAP and additional GAAP financial measures should not be construed as alternatives to
other measures of financial performance calculated in accordance with GAAP.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
The following non-GAAP financial measures are provided to assist investors with their evaluation of Inter Pipeline,
including their assessment of its ability to generate cash and fund monthly dividends. Management considers these nonGAAP financial measures to be important indicators in assessing its performance.
Adjusted working capital deficiency is calculated by subtracting current liabilities from current assets including cash and
excluding the fair value of derivative financial instruments, convertible shares, commercial paper and current portion of
long-term debt.

(millions)
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other deposits
Current income taxes receivable
Current liabilities
Dividends payable
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions
Current income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Adjusted working capital deficiency

2014
$

$

December 31
2013

61.1 $
156.8
27.0
11.5

47.2
246.3
41.3
-

(40.0)
(390.2)
(18.8)
(192.6) $

(33.0)
(578.7)
(31.2)
(6.8)
(314.9)

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA are reconciled from the components of net income as noted below. EBITDA is expressed as net
income before total interest less capitalized interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization; adjusted EBITDA also
includes additional adjustments for loss (gain) on disposal of assets, non-cash expense, non-cash financing charges and
unrealized change in fair value of derivative financial instruments. These additional adjustments are made to exclude
various non-cash items, or items of an unusual nature that are not reflective of ongoing operations. These adjustments are
also made to better reflect the historical measurement of EBITDA used in the investment community as an approximate
measure of an entity’s operating cash flow based on data from its income statement.

(millions)
Net income (loss)
Financing charges
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Non-cash financing charges
Non-cash expense
Unrealized change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
General partner internalization
Adjusted EBITDA
Less adjusted EBITDA attributable to non-controlling
interest
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to shareholders

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
79.6 $
84.6 $
27.5
21.8
(2.1)
14.9
33.3
13.0
39.7
32.6
178.0
166.9
2.9
2.0
(2.1)
(1.5)
3.9
1.0

2014
349.5
93.6
45.4
69.6
142.8
700.9
(2.1)
(6.6)
5.2

$

0.3
183.0 $

1.3
169.7 $

(1.0)
696.4 $

9.1
348.6
615.8

$

(4.4)
178.6 $

(3.9)
165.8 $

(16.8)
679.6 $

(12.8)
603.0

$

Years Ended
December 31
2013
$
(47.0)
91.9
57.1
29.5
126.7
258.2
3.7
(5.8)
2.0
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Enterprise value is calculated by multiplying the period-end closing common share price by the total number of common
shares outstanding and adding total debt (excluding discounts and debt transaction costs). This measure, in combination
with other measures, is used by the investment community to assess the overall market value of the business. Enterprise
value is calculated as follows:

(millions, except per share amounts)
Closing share price
Total closing number of common shares outstanding

$

Total debt
Enterprise value

$

2014
35.94 $
326.2
11,724.1
4,590.7
16,314.8 $

December 31
2013
25.83
306.8
7,924.6
3,960.8
11,885.4

Growth capital expenditures are generally defined as expenditures which incrementally increase cash flow or earnings
potential of assets, expand the capacity of current operations or significantly extend the life of existing assets. This
measure is used by the investment community to assess the extent of discretionary capital spending.
Sustaining capital expenditures are generally defined as expenditures which support and/or maintain the current
capacity, cash flow or earnings potential of existing assets without the associated benefits characteristic of growth capital
expenditures. This measure is used by the investment community to assess the extent of non-discretionary capital
spending.

(millions)
Oil sands transportation
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage
Corporate
Capital expenditures

$

$
(1)

Capital expenditures funded by Inter Pipeline

(millions)
Oil sands transportation
Conventional oil pipelines
NGL extraction
Bulk liquid storage
Corporate
Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures funded by Inter Pipeline(1)
(1)

$

$

$
$

Growth
121.9 $
21.1
1.3
4.9
149.2 $
145.8

Three Months Ended December 31
2014
2013
Sustaining
Total
Total
1.3 $
123.2 $
535.3
0.9
22.0
7.3
2.5
3.8
4.9
5.4
10.3
10.9
3.7
3.7
2.0
13.8 $
163.0 $
560.4

$

Growth
1,126.6 $
48.4
6.3
12.7
1,194.0 $
1,141.5 $

13.8

$

Sustaining
1.9 $
4.3
5.6
21.2
9.2
42.2 $
42.1 $

159.6

$

381.1

Years Ended December 31
2014
2013
Total
Total
1,128.5 $
1,855.4
52.7
17.2
11.9
35.1
33.9
34.4
9.2
6.9
1,236.2 $
1,949.0
1,183.6 $
1,763.7

Capital expenditures funded by Inter Pipeline exclude the 15% non-controlling interest in Cold Lake.

Normalized net income is calculated as net income (loss) from the comparative periods in 2013 excluding the one-time
non-cash general partner internalization expense of $348.6 million. This measure is used by the investment community to
better gauge the change in net income after excluding the large one-time charge.
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Interest coverage is calculated as net income (loss) attributable to shareholders plus income taxes, and borrowing costs,
divided by the sum of borrowing costs, capitalized borrowing costs and any retirement of obligations. This measure is used
by the investment community to determine the ease with which borrowing costs are satisfied.
Payout ratio is calculated by expressing dividends declared to shareholders for the period as a percentage of funds from
operations attributable to shareholders. This measure, in combination with other measures, is used by the investment
community to assess the sustainability of the current dividends.
Total debt to total capitalization is calculated by dividing the sum of total debt including demand facilities and excluding
discounts and debt transaction costs by total capitalization. Total capitalization includes the sum of total debt (as above)
and shareholders’ equity. This measure in combination with other measures, are used by the investment community to
assess the financial strength of the entity.

Additional GAAP Financial Measures
The following additional GAAP financial measures are provided to assist investors with their evaluation of Inter Pipeline,
including their assessment of its ability to generate cash and fund monthly dividends. Management considers these
additional GAAP financial measures to be important indicators in assessing its performance.
Funds from operations are reconciled from the components of net income as noted below. Funds from operations is
expressed before changes in non-cash working capital, see the DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS section of this report for
further discussion. Funds from operations per share are calculated on a weighted average basis using basic common
shares outstanding during the period. These measures, together with other measures, are used by the investment
community to assess the source, sustainability and cash available for dividends.

(millions)
Net income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Non-cash expense
Unrealized change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Deferred income tax expense
General partner internalization
Funds from operations
Less funds from operations attributable to
non-controlling interest
Funds from operations attributable to shareholders
Funds from operations
Total interest less capitalized interest
Current income tax expense
Adjusted EBITDA
Less adjusted EBITDA attributable to non-controlling
interest
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to shareholders

$

$
$

$

Three Months Ended
December 31
2014
2013
79.6 $
84.6 $
39.7
32.6
2.9
2.0
3.9
1.0

Years Ended
December 31
2013
$
(47.0)
126.7
3.7
2.0

2014
349.5
142.8
(2.1)
5.2

0.3
33.3
159.7

1.3
13.0
134.5

(1.0)
69.6
564.0

9.1
29.5
348.6
472.6

(4.4)
155.3 $

(3.9)
130.6 $

(16.8)
547.2 $

(12.8)
459.8

159.7 $
25.4
(2.1)
183.0

134.5 $
20.3
14.9
169.7

564.0 $
87.0
45.4
696.4

472.6
86.1
57.1
615.8

(4.4)
178.6 $

(3.9)
165.8 $

(16.8)
679.6 $

(12.8)
603.0
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Total recourse debt to capitalization is calculated by dividing the sum of debt facilities outstanding with recourse to Inter
Pipeline (excluding discounts and debt transaction costs) by total capitalization excluding outstanding debt facilities with
no recourse to Inter Pipeline. This measure in combination with other measures, are used by the investment community to
assess the financial strength of the entity.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information relating to Inter Pipeline, including Inter Pipeline’s Annual Information Form is available on SEDAR
at www.sedar.com
The MD&A has been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of Inter Pipeline.
Dated at Calgary, Alberta this 19th day of February, 2015.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The management of Inter Pipeline Ltd. (Inter Pipeline) is responsible for the presentation and preparation of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Inter Pipeline.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Inter Pipeline in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles as contained within Part 1 of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook and,
where necessary, include amounts based on the best estimates and judgments of the management of Inter Pipeline.
The management of Inter Pipeline recognizes the importance of Inter Pipeline maintaining the highest possible standards
in the preparation and dissemination of statements presenting its financial condition. If alternative accounting methods
exist, management has chosen those policies it deems the most appropriate in the circumstances. In discharging its
responsibilities for the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, management has developed and maintains a
system of accounting and reporting supported by internal controls designed to ensure that transactions are properly
authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition, and liabilities are recognized.
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent firm of chartered accountants, was appointed to audit Inter Pipeline’s financial
statements and provide an independent audit opinion. To provide their opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, Ernst & Young LLP review Inter Pipeline’s system of internal controls and conduct their work to the
extent they consider appropriate.
The Audit Committee, comprised entirely of independent directors, is appointed by the Board of Directors of Inter
Pipeline. The Audit Committee meets quarterly to review Inter Pipeline’s interim consolidated financial statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and recommends their approval to the Board of Directors. As well, the Audit
Committee meets annually to review Inter Pipeline’s annual consolidated financial statements and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and recommends their approval to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors approves Inter
Pipeline’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements and the accompanying Management’s Discussion and
Analysis.
Inter Pipeline Ltd.

(Signed) Christian P. Bayle
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Signed) Brent C. Heagy
Chief Financial Officer

February 19, 2015
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Inter Pipeline Ltd., which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated statements of changes in equity, net
income (loss), comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Inter
Pipeline Ltd. as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended,
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Calgary, Canada
February 19, 2015

Chartered Accountants
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at
December 31
2013

December 31
2014

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 22)
Accounts receivable
Current income taxes receivable (note 12)
Derivative financial instruments (note 18)
Prepaid expenses and other deposits
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Derivative financial instruments (note 18)
Property, plant and equipment (note 6)
Goodwill and intangible assets (note 7)
Total Assets

$

$

61,098
156,827
11,474
424
27,007
256,830

7,793,693
596,663
8,647,186

$

$

47,236
246,310
5,051
41,302
339,899

395
6,699,702
617,704
7,657,700

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Dividends payable (note 8)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions (notes 10 and 11)
Current income taxes payable (note 12)
Derivative financial instruments (note 18)
Deferred revenue
Convertible shares (notes 13 and 25)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 9)
Commercial paper (note 9)
Total Current Liabilities

$

Non-Current Liabilities
Long-term debt (note 9)
Convertible shares (notes 13 and 25)
Long-term payable
Provisions (note 10)
Employee benefits (note 11)
Long-term deferred revenue and other liabilities
Deferred income taxes (note 12)
Total Liabilities

39,961
390,228
169
18,762
170,000
149,990
1,277,530
2,046,640

$

32,980
578,748
31,232
1,394
6,763
287,983
1,309,452
2,248,552

3,143,941
66,702
20,088
13,848
481,333
5,772,552

2,345,591
170,000
395
65,102
11,886
16,461
415,446
5,273,433

2,513,408
34,731
2,548,139
326,495
2,874,634
8,647,186

2,045,954
54,296
2,100,250
284,017
2,384,267
7,657,700

Commitments (notes 6 and 16)
Shareholders' Equity
Shareholders' equity (note 13)
Total reserves (note 13)
Total Shareholders' Equity
Non-Controlling Interest (note 14)
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Inter Pipeline Ltd.:

(Signed) Richard A. Shaw
Director

(Signed) William D. Robertson
Director
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$

-

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
TM
Denotes trademark of Canaccord Genuity Corp.

Cancellation of Class B partnership units (notes 13 and 25)
Balance, December 31, 2013

Exchanged on Corporate Conversion (notes 13 and 25)
-

(2,484,485)

656,129

-

$

$

$

$

3,096,752

2,484,485

-

-

178,584

-

-

334,221

99,462

-

2,625,942

-

264,472
291,218
(1,026,500)

-

-

3,096,752

(note 13)

Capital

Share

$

$

$

$

2,489
(1,053,255) $

-

(659,247)

(218)

-

-

-

-

-

- $
(58,095)
(338,184)

(114,991) $

-

1,026,500

(423,070)

334,834

(1,053,255) $

(note 13)

(Deficit)

Earnings /

2,457

-

2,457

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,457

-

-

-

-

2,457

(note 13)

Surplus

Contributed

Attributable to Shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd.

(2,489)
- $

-

661

-

-

-

-

-

147

1,681
-

-

Amalgamation on Corporate Conversion (note 25)

Reclassifications (note 13)

$

-

-

147,082

Issuance of common shares (notes 13 and 25)

Transactions due to Corporate Conversion:

to non-controlling interest
Capital contributions received from Cold Lake
non-controlling interest

Cash distributions paid by Cold Lake

Issued for cash (net of issue costs)

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Issued under Premium Dividend™ and

1,681,274
-

-

-

$

-

-

Balance, January 1, 2013
Net (loss) income for the year
Other comprehensive income
Dividends declared (note 8)
Issuance of common shares (note 13)

-

-

$

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive loss
Dividends declared (note 8)
Issuance of common shares (note 13)
Issued under Premium Dividend™ and
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Issued for cash (net of issue costs)
Stated capital adjustment (note 13)
Cash distributions paid by Cold Lake
to non-controlling interest
Capital contributions received from Cold Lake
non-controlling interest
Balance, December 31, 2014
$

$

Units
(note 13)

-

Units
(note 13)

Partnership

-

$

Liability
Partnership

Liability

Unlimited

Class B

Limited

Class A

Net income for the year

Balance, January 1, 2014

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

$

$

$

$

$

$

54,296 $

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(23,504) $
77,800
-

34,731

-

-

(19,565)
-

-

54,296

(note 13)

Reserves

$

2,100,250 $

-

-

(218)

178,584

-

-

334,221

246,691

1,659,451 $
(58,095)
77,800
(338,184)

2,548,139

-

264,472
291,218
-

(19,565)
(423,070)

334,834

Equity
2,100,250 $

Shareholders'

Total

Non-

$

$

$

284,017 $

-

-

-

-

191,425

(11,865)

-

-

93,357
11,100
-

44,340
326,495

(16,509)

-

-

14,647

284,017

(note 14)

Interest

Controlling
Total

2,384,267

-

-

(218)

178,584

191,425

(11,865)

334,221

246,691

1,752,808
(46,995)
77,800
(338,184)

44,340
2,874,634

(16,509)

264,472
291,218
-

(19,565)
(423,070)

349,481

Equity
2,384,267

Consolidated Statements of Net Income (Loss)
Yea rs Ended December 31
2014

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2013

REVENUES
Operating revenues (note 23)

$

1,556,261

$

1,362,713

EXPENSES
Shrinkage gas
Midstream product purchases
Operating (note 21)
Depreciation and amortization
Financing charges (note 20)
General and administrative (note 21)
Unrealized change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 18)
Management and incentive fees to general partner (note 15)
General partner internalization (note 25)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets

296,987
107,319
368,324
142,777
93,630
85,875
(985)
(2,126)
1,091,801

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Provision for income taxes (note 12)
Current
Deferred

235,652
75,820
346,652
126,686
91,882
77,070
9,065
7,971
348,584
3,729
1,323,111

464,460

39,602

45,352
69,627
114,979

57,114
29,483
86,597

NET INCOME (LOSS)

$

349,481

$

(46,995)

Net income (loss) attributable to
Shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd.
Non-controlling interest (note 14)

$

$

$

334,834
14,647
349,481

$

(58,095)
11,100
(46,995)

$
$

1.05
1.02

$
$

(0.20)
(0.20)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to
shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd. (note 13)
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Yea rs Ended December 31
2014

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

NET INCOME (LOSS)

$

349,481

2013

$

(46,995)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (note 13)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to net income (loss)
Unrealized (loss) gain on translating financial statements of foreign operations
Items that will not be reclassified to net income (loss)
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension plan (note 11)
Income tax relating to defined benefit pension reserve (note 12)

(15,179)

80,978

(5,495)
1,109
(19,565)

(3,492)
314
77,800

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

$

329,916

$

30,805

Comprehensive income attributable to
Shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd.
Non-controlling interest (note 14)

$

315,269
14,647

$

19,705
11,100

$

329,916

$

30,805

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Yea rs Ended December 31
2014
2013

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Non-cash expense
Unrealized change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
General partner internalization (note 25)
Deferred income tax expense
Funds from operations
Net change in non-cash operating working capital (note 22)
Cash provided by operating activities

$

349,481

$

(46,995)

142,777
(2,126)
5,250
(985)
69,627
564,024
7,650
571,674

126,686
3,729
2,004
9,065
348,584
29,483
472,556
(3,882)
468,674

(1,236,085)
7,469
(118,797)
(1,347,413)

(1,948,471)
1,790
(218)
201,385
(1,745,514)

(158,598)
44,340
(16,509)
629,869
(4,614)
300,560
(11,849)
7,067
790,266

(91,493)
191,425
(11,865)
833,119
(4,894)
345,045
(14,356)
8,739
1,255,720

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures on property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of assets
Net change on amalgamation (note 25)
Net change in non-cash investing working capital (note 22)
Cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash dividends paid to shareholders of Inter Pipeline Ltd. (note 8)
Cash contributions received from Cold Lake non-controlling interest
Cash distributions paid by Cold Lake to non-controlling interest
Increase in debt
Transaction costs on debt
Issuance of common shares
Share issue costs
Net change in non-cash financing working capital (note 22)
Cash provided by financing activities

(665)

Effect of foreign currency translation on foreign currency denominated cash
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash taxes paid
Cash interest paid

3,377

$

13,862
47,236
61,098

$

(17,743)
64,979
47,236

$
$

87,441
137,802

$
$

35,146
105,517

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

(tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

1. STRUCTURE OF THE CORPORATION
Inter Pipeline Ltd. (Inter Pipeline or the Corporation) was incorporated under the provisions of the Business Corporations Act
(Alberta) on January 29, 2013. On May 31, 2013, the Corporation changed its name to Inter Pipeline Ltd. from 1726761 Alberta
Ltd. On September 1, 2013, the Corporation carried on the business of Inter Pipeline Fund (the Fund) following the conversion
from a limited partnership to a dividend paying corporation (Corporate Conversion) pursuant to a plan of arrangement under
the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the Arrangement). The Fund was dissolved and, as a result, comparative figures in
these and future financial statements reflect the history of the Fund, as previously reported, to the date of Corporate
Conversion (refer to note 25 for more details on Corporate Conversion).
In these consolidated financial statements, Inter Pipeline will refer to common shares, shareholders, restricted share units
(RSUs) and dividends, which were formerly referred to as partnership units, unitholders, deferred unit rights and distributions
under the partnership structure.
Inter Pipeline is comprised of four industry operating segments located in two geographic segments: oil sands transportation
business, conventional oil pipelines business and natural gas liquids (NGL) extraction business, all operating in Canada, and the
bulk liquid storage business, which operates in Europe. The head office, principal address and records office of Inter Pipeline
are located at 2600, 237 – 4th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
These audited consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors of Inter Pipeline on February 19, 2015.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to
match the current year presentation. The accounting policies that follow have been consistently applied to all years presented.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Measurement Basis
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention except for derivative
financial assets and liabilities and long-term payable/long-term receivable that have been measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL) and long-term incentive plan (LTIP) awards that have been measured at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise judgment in applying Inter Pipeline’s significant accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in note 3d.
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b) Basis of Consolidation
These audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Inter Pipeline, its subsidiary companies, partnerships
and any joint arrangements. The financial statements of the subsidiary companies, partnerships and joint arrangements are
prepared for the same reporting period as Inter Pipeline, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which Inter Pipeline obtained control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Intercompany balances, transactions, and unrealized gains
and losses from intercompany transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. Ownership interests in subsidiaries represented by
other parties that do not control the entity are presented in the consolidated statements as balances and activities attributable
to non-controlling interest.

Non-controlling Interest
Inter Pipeline has an indirect 85% ownership interest in the Cold Lake Pipeline Limited Partnership (Cold Lake LP) and an 85%
ownership interest in its general partner, Cold Lake Pipeline Ltd. (collectively Cold Lake). Non-controlling interest represents a
15% ownership interest in Cold Lake attributable to an unrelated third party. The portion of equity in entities not owned by
Inter Pipeline is reflected as non-controlling interest within total equity on the consolidated balance sheets.

Interest in Joint Operation
Inter Pipeline has a 50% interest in the Empress V NGL extraction facility which is accounted for as a joint operation. Empress V
is not a separate legal entity and all strategic financial and operating decisions must be jointly agreed by all parties to the joint
arrangement. All parties have direct exclusive rights to their joint interest share of the Empress V assets and the economic
benefit generated from them. Accordingly, the results of Empress V are consolidated in a manner that reflects Inter Pipeline’s
50% interest in the individual income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows of Empress V on a line by line basis in the
consolidated results.

Business Combinations
Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting at the date control of a business is
obtained. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of the assets given or equity instruments
issued, net of liabilities incurred or assumed, and is allocated to the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets acquired,
including intangible assets. Goodwill is recognized when the cost of the acquisition exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired. Costs directly associated with the acquisition are expensed.

c) Accounting Policies Adopted in 2014
IFRS Interpretations Committee Interpretation 21 Levies (IFRIC 21)
Inter Pipeline adopted IFRIC 21 on January 1, 2014. IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the
activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The adoption of IFRIC 21 did not result in any
changes to the accounting for levies by Inter Pipeline.
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d) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.
The amounts recorded for derivative financial instruments; long-term payable/long-term receivable; consolidation of noncontrolling interest; impairment of non-financial assets; depreciation and amortization; provisions; deferred income taxes; and
business combinations are based on estimates and judgments. By their nature, these estimates and judgments are subject to
measurement uncertainty and the effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates and judgments in future
years could be material. The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that Inter Pipeline
has made in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Long-term Payable/Long-term Receivable
Inter Pipeline may utilize derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to market risk relating to commodity prices,
foreign exchange and interest rates. All derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/long-term receivable are
measured at fair value.
The fair values of derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/long-term receivable are based on an
approximation of the amounts that would have been paid to or received from counterparties to settle the instruments
outstanding. The fair values of derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/long-term receivable are calculated
by Inter Pipeline using a discounted cash flow methodology with reference to actively quoted forward prices and/or published
price quotations in an observable market and market valuations provided by counterparties. Forward prices for NGL swaps are
less transparent because they are less actively traded. These forward prices are assessed based on available market information
for the time frame for which there are derivative financial instruments in place. These fair values are discounted using a riskfree rate plus a credit premium that takes into account the credit quality of the instrument. By their nature, these estimates are
subject to measurement uncertainty and the effect on the financial statements of changes in these estimates could be material.
These estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that could be realized or settled in a current market
transaction and differences could be significant. A significant change in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates or interest
rate assumptions underlying mark-to-market valuations of derivative financial instruments and the long-term payable/longterm receivable would change the fair value reported in the consolidated balance sheets and unrealized change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statements of net income.

Consolidation of Non-controlling Interest
On January 2, 2003 Inter Pipeline acquired an additional 70% interest in Cold Lake which, combined with its initial 15%
investment acquired on October 5, 2000, resulted in Inter Pipeline owning an 85% interest in Cold Lake. The remaining 15% is
owned by an unrelated third party.
Cold Lake’s Unanimous Shareholder Agreement (USA) establishes the decision-making abilities of Cold Lake’s shareholders in
relation to the Cold Lake pipeline system. Cold Lake is administered by a management committee, with each owner
represented by two voting members. The USA splits decisions into two categories: those that require minimum approval and
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those that require special majority approval. Decisions that are subject to minimum approval require an affirmative vote by
members of the management committee representing at least 50% of the shareholders. Therefore, Inter Pipeline is the only
owner that has the ability to approve items requiring minimum approval unilaterally. Decisions that are subject to special
majority approval require the affirmative vote of at least two members representing 75% or more of the shareholders.
Therefore, neither Cold Lake owner can unilaterally approve items requiring special majority approval.
As outlined in the USA, the following items require minimum approval:
x

Decision to proceed with a feasibility study for a non-Transportation Service Agreement (Cold Lake TSA) expansion;

x

Decision to proceed with non-Cold Lake TSA expansions where a feasibility study has been undertaken and no
adverse economic impact is identified; and

x

Cold Lake TSA expansions required by founding shippers pursuant to the existing Cold Lake TSA.

As outlined in the USA, the following items require special majority approval:
x

Decision to proceed with laterals and extensions;

x

Entering into new agreements which create obligations for Cold Lake in excess of a minimum dollar threshold;

x

Decision to proceed with a proposed non-Cold Lake TSA expansion where no feasibility study has been undertaken;

x

The timing, nature and amount of any debt financing to be undertaken; and

x

Approval of Cold Lake’s annual operating and capital budgets.

Upon initial adoption of IFRS in 2011, and specifically IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27) and IAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures (IAS 31), Inter Pipeline determined that it had joint, rather than sole, control of Cold Lake. Under IAS
27, control was defined as “the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities”. IAS 31 indicated that joint control existed when strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
required the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Inter Pipeline and the third party owner had joint control given
that both owners shared control over financing decisions that required majority approval pursuant to the USA. As a result, Inter
Pipeline’s interest in Cold Lake was treated as a joint venture under IAS 31, and its 85% interest was proportionately
consolidated.
In 2013, Inter Pipeline adopted IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS 10), which revised the definition of control from
IAS 27. Under IFRS 10, a single control model was established that focused on relevant activities, which are defined as “activities
of an investee that significantly affect the investee’s returns" (Relevant Activities), and specifically an investor’s power to direct
those activities, exposure to variable returns and the ability to use power to affect the amount of an investor’s returns.
Compared with the requirements of IAS 27, IFRS 10 requires management to exercise significant judgment in its assessment of
control including, but not limited to, the determination of the investee’s Relevant Activities, the investor’s ability to direct those
Relevant Activities, the investor’s exposure to returns of the investee, as well as rights of other parties. IFRS 10 also requires
management to continuously assess control over an investee.
In accordance with IFRS 10, Inter Pipeline determined that it had control over Cold Lake upon the acquisition of the additional
70% interest in 2003. Inter Pipeline, as 85% owner of the Cold Lake pipeline system, has the ability to unilaterally approve all
Relevant Activities, which require minimal approval pursuant to the USA. The most significant Relevant Activities include the
identification of expansion and other transportation service opportunities, performance of due diligence, undertaking economic
feasibility studies and managing decisions to undergo non-Cold Lake TSA capital projects, where a feasibility study has been
undertaken. Management believes the ability to exclusively decide to proceed with such capital projects, including the major
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capital program to construct a bitumen blend pipeline and associated facilities in support of the Foster Creek project, will
significantly affect Cold Lake’s returns, which is a key determination of control under IFRS 10. Such project returns are
commercially negotiated by Inter Pipeline separately from the fixed returns contained within the Cold Lake TSA.
Capital projects to construct laterals and extensions are not considered to be Relevant Activities as the returns from those
projects are fixed based on provisions within the existing Cold Lake TSA. In addition, financing activities are not considered to
be significant Relevant Activities given that Cold Lake does not have any external debt, nor does Cold Lake have any intentions
at this time to obtain debt financing in the future.
As a result of the foregoing, Inter Pipeline has the ability to unilaterally impact Cold Lake’s returns by proceeding with
significant capital projects, on a negotiated basis, without the approval or consent of the other third party owner. Projects that
require special majority approval are based on returns prescribed within the Cold Lake TSA and have limited applicability to the
determination of control under IFRS 10. Based on these considerations, Inter Pipeline has control over Cold Lake.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
For the purposes of Inter Pipeline’s impairment testing, fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology. This
method estimates fair value less costs of disposal using a discounted ten year forecasted cash flow with a terminal value, based
on Inter Pipeline’s assessment of the long-term outlook for each business. Cash flows are estimated from several sources
including internal budgets and long-term contractual transportation agreements with shippers. Observable market data is used
to develop discount rates for each business, which approximate the discount rate from a market participant’s perspective. The
fair value measurement is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (note 3r).
The determination of the magnitude of impairment involves the use of estimates, assumptions and judgments on highly
uncertain matters particularly with respect to determining fair value less costs of disposal. Such estimates, assumptions and
judgments include, but are not limited to, the choice of discount rates that reflect appropriate asset-specific risks, timing of
revenue and customer turnover, inflation factors for projected operating and maintenance capital expenditures and commodity
prices.
Impairment indicators include a significant decline in an asset’s market value, significant adverse changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment in which the assets are operated, evidence of obsolescence or physical damage of an
asset, significant changes in the planned use of an asset, or ongoing under-performance of an asset. Application of these factors
to the facts and circumstances of a particular asset requires a significant amount of judgment.
For the purposes of Inter Pipeline’s goodwill impairment testing, the recoverable value of a cash generating unit (CGU)
calculated in a preceding year may be used in the current year if certain conditions are met. These conditions include: that the
assets and liabilities of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated have not changed significantly since the recoverable value
was previously calculated; the most recent recoverable value calculation exceeded the CGU’s carrying amount by a substantial
margin; and based on an analysis of events that have occurred and circumstances that have changed since the most recent
recoverable value was calculated, the likelihood that a current recoverable value calculation would be less than the current
carrying amount of the CGU is remote. In 2014, Inter Pipeline calculated the recoverable value for all CGU’s to which goodwill
has been allocated.
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Depreciation and Amortization
Calculation of the net book value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets requires Inter Pipeline to make
estimates of the useful life of the assets, residual value at the end of the asset’s useful life, method of depreciation and
amortization and whether impairment in value has occurred. Residual values of the assets, estimated useful lives and
depreciation and amortization methodology are reviewed annually with prospective application of any changes, if deemed
appropriate. Changes to estimates and specifically those related to pipeline assets, which could be significant, could be caused
by a variety of factors, including changes to the physical life of the assets as well as the estimated remaining life of crude oil
reserves expected to be gathered and shipped on these pipeline systems. A change in any of the estimates would result in a
change in the amount of depreciation and, as a result, a charge to net income recorded in the period in which the change
occurs, with a similar change in the carrying value of the asset on the consolidated balance sheets.

Provisions
Inter Pipeline is required to apply a number of assumptions in estimating provisions recorded for decommissioning and
environmental remediation associated with Inter Pipeline’s sites. Liabilities are calculated based on current price estimates
using current technologies in accordance with current legal or constructive requirements. Liabilities are adjusted for inflation to
reflect the timing of when the decommissioning or remediation activity is anticipated. Where a range of estimates exists, the
possible outcomes are weighted to determine a probable settlement value or the midpoint is used where all outcomes are
equally likely. Inter Pipeline’s decommissioning obligations are expected to occur when the assets are no longer economically
viable. The economic lives of these assets are estimated based on future expectations involving the supply of petroleum,
chemical and other products and demand for certain services and therefore the timing of decommissioning may change
significantly in the future. Actual costs and cash outflows may differ from these estimates due to changes in laws or regulations,
timing of projects, costs and technology. As a result, there could be material adjustments to the provisions established. If the
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax risk-free rate.
Oil Sands Transportation Business and Conventional Oil Pipelines Business
Property, plant and equipment related to the oil sands transportation and conventional oil pipelines businesses consist
primarily of underground pipelines and above ground equipment and facilities. The potential cost of future decommissioning
activities is a function of several factors, including regulatory requirements at the time of pipeline abandonment, the size of the
pipeline and the pipeline's location. Decommissioning requirements can vary considerably, ranging from purging product from
the pipeline, refilling with inert gas and capping all open ends to removal of the pipeline and reclamation of the right-of-way.
Under current regulations, the estimated cost for the decommissioning obligation include: purging product from the pipeline,
refilling with inert gas and capping all open ends and removal of surface facilities and reclamation of the surface facility sites.
NGL Extraction Business and Bulk Liquid Storage Business
NGL extraction and the bulk liquid storage businesses consist mainly of three NGL extraction facilities and twelve bulk liquid
storage facilities, respectively. Inter Pipeline’s decommissioning obligation represents the present value of the expected cost to
be incurred upon the termination of operations and closure of the NGL extraction facilities and leased bulk liquid storage sites.
The estimated costs for decommissioning obligations include such activities as dismantling, demolition and disposal of the
facilities and equipment, as well as remediation and restoration of the facility sites.
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Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and carried forward tax losses can be utilized. Assessing the recoverability of deferred taxes
requires management to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future
taxable income are based on forecasted funds from operations and the application of existing tax laws.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income taxes contain uncertainties because of the assumptions made about when deferred tax assets are likely to
reverse, and a judgment as to whether or not there will be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the tax assets when they
do reverse. This requires assumptions regarding future profitability and is therefore inherently uncertain.

Business Combinations
The consideration transferred of an acquired business is allocated to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over the amount allocated to net
assets is recorded as goodwill. All available information is used to estimate fair values. External consultants are typically
engaged to assist in the fair value determination of identifiable intangible assets and other significant assets or liabilities. The
preliminary allocation of consideration transferred may be adjusted, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing
date due to additional information impacting asset valuation and liabilities assumed.
The allocation process of the consideration transferred involves uncertainty as management is required to make assumptions
and apply judgment to estimates of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities, including highest and best use of assets.
Quoted market prices and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses
are used to estimate the fair market value of the assets and liabilities and depreciated replacement costs is used for the
valuation of tangible assets. These estimates include assumptions on inputs within the discounted cash flow calculations related
to forecasted revenues, cash flows, contract renewals, asset lives, industry economic factors and business strategies.

e) Segment Reporting
Inter Pipeline determines its reportable segments based on the nature of its operations and geographic location, which is
consistent with how the business is managed and results reported to the chief operating decision maker. Each operating
segment, which is equivalent to a reportable segment, also uses a measure of profit and loss that represents income before
income taxes. Operating segment assets and liabilities are measured on the same basis as consolidated assets and liabilities.

Industry Segments
The oil sands transportation business consists of three pipeline systems that transport petroleum products and diluent and
provide related blending and handling services in northern Alberta. The Corridor, Cold Lake and Polaris pipeline systems
operate under long-term contracts with a limited number of customers. The conventional oil pipelines business primarily
involves the transportation, storage and processing of hydrocarbons, as well as midstream marketing blending and handling
services. The NGL extraction business consists of processing natural gas to extract NGLs including ethane and a mixture of
propane, butane and pentanes plus (collectively known as propane-plus). The bulk liquid storage business was rebranded Inter
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Terminals, effective January 1, 2015, bringing together the Simon Storage operations in the United Kingdom (UK), Germany and
Ireland under the same trading banner as Inter Terminals, Denmark. The combined Inter Terminals business involves the
primary storage and handling of bulk liquid products through the operation of twelve bulk liquid storage terminals.

Geographic Segments
Inter Pipeline has two geographic segments, Canada and Europe. The bulk liquid storage business is located in Europe, while all
other operating segments are located in Canada.

f) Revenue Recognition
Oil Sands Transportation Business
Capital fee revenue on the Cold Lake pipeline system is determined by the nature of the contract and is recognized based on
either a fixed fee or volumes transported and services provided to each shipper. In addition, an operating fee equivalent to
substantially all of Cold Lake LP’s operating costs is recovered from the Cold Lake shippers.
Revenue on the Corridor pipeline system is recognized as services are provided in accordance with terms prescribed by the Firm
Service Agreement (Corridor FSA) with the shippers. Under the terms of the Corridor FSA, revenues are determined by an
agreed upon annual revenue requirement formula which allows for the recovery of prescribed expenditures and costs
associated with the operation of the Corridor pipeline system, including debt financing costs, operating costs, Rate Base (as
defined in the Corridor FSA) depreciation and taxes, as well as a rate of return on the equity component of the Rate Base
determined with reference to a spread over a long-term bond yield reported by the Bank of Canada.
The Polaris pipeline system recognizes capital fee revenue determined by the nature of the contract and is based on either a
fixed fee or volumes transported and services provided to each shipper, with an adjustment, if necessary, to reflect each
shipper’s minimum “ship-or-pay” revenue commitment. In addition, an operating fee equivalent to substantially all of the
pipeline’s operating costs is recovered from the Polaris pipeline system’s shippers.

Conventional Oil Pipelines Business
Revenues associated with the transportation, storage and processing of hydrocarbons on the conventional oil pipelines
gathering systems, namely trunk line tariffs and gathering tariffs are recognized as the services are provided. The majority of
volumes are transported on the conventional oil pipelines gathering systems under short-term contracts with a fixed tolling
arrangement and no volume commitment made by the shipper.
Volumes purchased by Inter Pipeline to be used in the blending process that are then resold at a pre-arranged differential are
recognized on a net basis. Sales of additional volumes created through the blending process are recognized on a gross basis
with corresponding product purchases of blend components. Revenue is recognized when title is transferred.

NGL Extraction Business
Revenue for the NGL extraction facilities is recognized when the earnings process is complete. This is as the service is provided
or when products are shipped to the customer in accordance with the terms of the sales contract, title or risk of loss has been
transferred and pricing is either fixed or determinable. Revenue recognition is based on three methodologies: according to the
terms of the profit share agreements which include an annualized adjustment; fee based revenue which is recognized when
volumes are produced; and cost of service revenue, which is predominantly based on a fixed monthly fee.
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Bulk Liquid Storage Business
Revenues are derived from the storage and handling of bulk liquid products and provision of complementary services and are
recognized as the services are provided. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding
discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duties. Revenue received in advance is recognized over the duration of the contract to
which it applies.

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents cash received in excess of revenues recognized.

g) Net Income (Loss) per Common Share
Basic net income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year attributable to common
shareholders of Inter Pipeline by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net
income (loss) per common share is determined by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares, using the treasury stock method. Outstanding shares issued under the
Premium Dividend and Dividend Reinvestment Plan are assumed to have been converted to common shares at the date of
record, and convertible shares outstanding at the end of the period are assumed to have been converted to common shares at
their date of issuance or the beginning of the period, whichever is later.

h) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank accounts and overnight deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

i) Long-Term Payable and Long-Term Receivable
Inter Pipeline (Corridor) Inc. (Corridor) may utilize interest rate derivatives to manage a portion of its interest rate risk. Gains or
losses arising on the interest rate swap contract were payable to, or recoverable from, the Corridor shippers, respectively;
therefore the long-term portion of the unrealized gain or loss was recorded as a long-term liability or asset. The current portion
is included in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions or accounts receivable. Inter Pipeline chose to designate the
long-term payable/receivable due to/from the Corridor shippers as FVTPL as it represented unrealized gains or losses on
interest rate swaps that were classified as FVTPL (note 3r).

j) Property, Plant and Equipment
The calculation of depreciation for property, plant and equipment includes assumptions related to useful lives and residual
values. The assumptions are based on management’s experience with similar assets and corporate policies.

Oil Sands Transportation Business
Property, plant and equipment in the oil sands transportation business consist of pipelines and related facilities. Depreciation of
capital costs is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated service life of the assets, which is 80 years. The cost of
pipelines and facilities includes all expenditures directly attributable to bringing the pipeline to the location and condition
necessary for its intended use, including costs incurred for system construction, expansion and betterments until the assets are



Denotes trademark of Canaccord Genuity Corp.
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available for use. Pipeline system costs also include an allocation of directly attributable overhead costs and capitalized
borrowing costs. Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the related property, plant and equipment is substantially
complete and ready for its intended productive use.
Pipeline line fill and tank working inventory for the Cold Lake, Corridor, and Polaris pipeline systems represent petroleum based
product purchased for the purpose of charging the pipeline system and partially filling the petroleum product storage tanks
with an appropriate volume of petroleum products to enable commercial operation of the facilities and pipeline. The majority
of pipeline line fill for the Polaris pipeline system is owned by the shippers directly. The cost of line fill includes all direct
expenditures for acquiring the petroleum based products. These product volumes will be recovered upon the ultimate
retirement and decommissioning of the pipeline system under the terms of the agreement. Cold Lake and Polaris line fill is
carried at cost and Corridor line fill is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Proceeds from the sale of Cold Lake and
Polaris line fill will be fully available to Inter Pipeline, whereas proceeds from the sale of Corridor’s line fill will be used to fund
the cost of any decommissioning obligations and to the extent Corridor’s decommissioning obligations exceed the value of the
line fill, Inter Pipeline will be obligated to fund the excess. To the extent the value of the line fill exceeds the decommissioning
obligation; the excess funds will be refunded to the Corridor shippers. Depreciation of Corridor line fill is calculated on the same
basis as the related property, plant and equipment.

Conventional Oil Pipelines Business
Expenditures on conventional oil pipelines system expansions and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance, pipeline integrity
verification and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of pipeline facilities and equipment commences when the
pipelines are available for use. Depreciation of the capital costs is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 80 year
service life of the Bow River pipeline system assets and 30 year service life of the Central Alberta and Mid-Saskatchewan
pipeline system assets. These estimates are connected to the estimated remaining life of the crude oil reserves expected to be
gathered and shipped on these pipeline systems. Pipeline line fill and tank working inventory for the conventional oil pipelines
system represents petroleum based product purchased for the purpose of charging the pipeline system and partially filling the
petroleum product storage tanks with an appropriate volume of petroleum products to enable commercial operation of the
facilities and pipeline. The cost of line fill includes all direct expenditures for acquiring the petroleum based products. These
product volumes will be recovered upon the ultimate retirement and decommissioning of the pipeline system and are carried
at cost.

NGL Extraction Facilities and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment of the NGL extraction business are comprised primarily of three NGL extraction facilities and
associated equipment. Expenditures on facility expansions, major repairs and maintenance, or betterments are capitalized,
while routine maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of the extraction facilities and additions
thereto is charged once the assets are ready for their intended use, and is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 30 year
estimated useful life of the assets.

Storage Facilities and Equipment
The bulk liquid storage business’ property, plant and equipment consist of storage facilities and associated equipment.
Expenditures on expansion and betterments are capitalized, while maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation of the property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated service life of the
assets, the majority of which ranges from four to 75 years.
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k) Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Inter Pipeline has goodwill in four of its CGU’s: the Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems in the oil sands transportation business
and Inter Terminals UK, Germany and Ireland and Inter Terminals Denmark in the bulk liquid storage business. Assets are
grouped in CGU’s which are the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows. Goodwill represents the
excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the Corridor, Polaris, Inter Terminals
UK, Germany and Ireland and Inter Terminals Denmark CGU’s. After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less any write
downs for impairment. During each fiscal year and as economic events dictate, management conducts an impairment test
taking into consideration any events or circumstances which might have impaired the recoverable amount. If the carrying
amount of the individual CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying
amount of the goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount, determined on a fair value less costs of disposal discounted cash flow
basis.
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the CGU retained.

Intangible Assets
Inter Pipeline’s intangible assets are amortized using an amortization method and term based on estimates of the useful lives of
these assets.
Cold Lake Transportation Services Agreement
The Cold Lake TSA intangible asset is the estimated value, using a discounted cash flow analysis, of the shipping agreement
entered into with the Cold Lake founding shippers on the Cold Lake pipeline system as valued on January 2, 2003. Although the
ship-or-pay portion of the Cold Lake TSA expired on December 31, 2011, the term of the Cold Lake TSA extends until Cold Lake
LP gives notice that it forecasts it will earn less than $1.0 million of capital fees in the year. The Cold Lake founding shippers may
contract with a third party to transport their dedicated petroleum after giving Cold Lake LP notice of at least 20 months prior to
the effective date and meeting certain conditions. Cold Lake LP has the right to match any new service offer from a third party.
This intangible asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. The remaining amortization period of the Cold
Lake TSA is approximately 18 years.
Customer Contracts and Relationships
The NGL extraction business’ intangible assets consist of customer contracts for the sales of ethane and propane-plus.
Contracts include fee-based contracts, cost-of-service contracts and commodity-based arrangements. The value of these
contracts, calculated assuming anticipated renewals, is estimated to be realized over an average period of 30 years since the
date of acquisition of July 28, 2004, which is the period over which amortization is being charged using the straight-line
method. Should the useful life or the likelihood of the renewal of the customer contracts change, the amortization of the
remaining balance would change accordingly. The average remaining amortization period of the customer contracts is
approximately 20 years.
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Within the bulk liquid storage business segment, Inter Terminals UK’s intangible assets consist of a customer contract for the
storage and handling of bulk liquid products. This asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. Should the
likelihood of the renewal of the customer contract change, the amortization of the remaining balance would change
accordingly. The remaining amortization period of the customer contract is approximately 21 years.
Patent
A patented operational process utilized in one of the NGL extraction facilities is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 14
years from the acquisition of the NGL extraction business on July 28, 2004. The remaining amortization period of the patent is
approximately four years.

l) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized as part of the cost of the related assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended productive use. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs include interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Borrowing costs are amortized over the estimated service life of the assets to which the borrowings relate.

m) Provisions
A provision is recognized when it is determined that an obligation has arisen as a result of a past event, the obligation can be
reliably estimated and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Inter
Pipeline’s provisions represent legal or constructive obligations associated with decommissioning tangible long-lived assets at
the end of their useful lives and loss contingencies, including environmental remediation costs arising from claims, assessments,
litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources.
On initial recognition of a decommissioning obligation, an amount equal to the estimated present value of the obligation is
capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life. Any
subsequent changes to the decommissioning cost estimate or discount rate will result in a similar adjustment to the cost of the
related long-lived asset. The provision will accrete to its full value over time through charges to income, or until Inter Pipeline
settles the obligation. Recoveries from third parties which are virtually certain to be realized are recorded separately and are
not offset against the related provision.

n) Employee Benefits
Long-term Incentive Plan
Awards are paid in cash under Inter Pipeline’s LTIP, therefore a fair value basis of accounting is used whereby changes in the
liability are recorded in each period based on the number of awards outstanding and the current market price of Inter
Pipeline’s shares plus an amount equivalent to cash dividends declared to date. The expense is recognized over the vesting
periods of the respective awards. Compensation expense and the long-term incentive liability are adjusted to reflect the use of
actual historical forfeiture rates as well as estimated future forfeiture rates. The market-based value of the award approximates
the intrinsic value as the awards have no exercise price.
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Pension Plans
The cost of pension benefits earned by certain employees in the UK, Ireland and Germany covered by the defined benefit
pension plans is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. Plan assets are measured at fair value for the
purpose of determining the actual return on plan assets. Adjustments for plan amendments are expensed over the vesting
period of the employee benefits. Interest on Inter Pipeline’s pension plan assets is calculated using the same interest rate as
applied for the purpose of discounting the benefit obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in assumptions and
differences between assumptions and the actual experience of the pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in
full in the period in which they occur in other comprehensive income (OCI). Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits have already vested, immediately
following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service costs are recognized immediately.

o) Income Taxes
Current Income Taxes
Certain of Inter Pipeline’s subsidiaries are taxable corporations in Canada and Europe.
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to taxation authorities. The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted
or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in countries where Inter Pipeline and its subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. The actual amount of income tax expense is final only when the tax return is filed and accepted by relevant tax
authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the annual consolidated financial statements.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in Inter Pipeline’s entity tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation. Provisions are established if appropriate.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity is recognized in equity and not the consolidated
statements of net income.

Deferred Income Taxes
Inter Pipeline uses the liability method where deferred income taxes are recognized based on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recorded for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. The tax rates are those that are expected to apply in the year the asset is to be realized or the liability is to be
settled. Future changes in tax laws affecting existing tax rates could limit the ability of Inter Pipeline to obtain tax deductions in
future periods.
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside net income is also recognized outside net income. Deferred tax items are
recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current income tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes are related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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p) Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign Currency Transactions
Items included in the financial statements of each of Inter Pipeline’s subsidiaries are measured using the functional currency of
that subsidiary being the currency of the primary economic environment in which that subsidiary operates. Transactions that
are in a currency other than the functional currency of the subsidiary are translated at exchange rates in effect at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the reporting date are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate in effect at the reporting date with the resulting exchange gains or losses recognized in
the statements of net income.

Foreign Operations
The results of all of Inter Pipeline’s subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than the Canadian dollar are translated
into Canadian dollars as follows:
a.

All assets and liabilities, including goodwill and other fair value adjustments arising on business combinations, at foreign
exchange rates at the end of the applicable reporting period; and

b.

All income and expenses at monthly average exchange rates over the reporting periods.

The resulting translation gains and losses are included in OCI as foreign currency translation adjustments.
Currently only Inter Pipeline Europe Limited (IPEL) and its respective subsidiaries have functional currencies that differ from the
Canadian dollar. Neither IPEL nor any of its subsidiaries operate in hyperinflationary economies. IPEL comprises all of the
operations in the bulk liquid storage business.

q) Asset Impairment
Non-Financial Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives are tested for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment
regardless of whether indicators of impairment exist.
For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped in CGU’s, which are the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows. The recoverable amount is the higher of a CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs of disposal, the best evidence of fair value is the value obtained from recent market
transactions or the value stated in a binding sale agreement. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation
model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators. Inter Pipeline
calculates the fair value less costs of disposal using a projected cash flow model applying a fair value less costs of disposal
discounted cash flow methodology. After-tax cash flows are discounted using a weighted average cost of capital discount rate
that reflects the relative risk of the asset. Projected future cash flows used in the goodwill impairment assessment represent
management’s best estimate of the future operating performance of these businesses at the current time. A significant change
in these assumptions or unanticipated future events could require a provision for impairment in the future which would be
recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill with a charge against net income.
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An impairment test is performed by comparing a CGU’s carrying amount to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognized to the extent a CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Goodwill acquired through a business combination is allocated to each CGU, or group of CGU’s, that are expected to benefit
from the business combination. A group of CGU’s represents the lowest level within the entity at which goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes, which may not be higher than an operating segment.
An impairment loss is recognized in the period it occurs. The impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then on a pro-rata basis to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the CGU with
an offset to net income. Impairment losses, other than goodwill impairment, are subsequently evaluated for potential reversal
when events or circumstances warrant such consideration.

Financial Assets
Financial assets carried at amortized cost are assessed by Inter Pipeline at each reporting date to determine whether objective
evidence of impairment exists. Significant assets are tested for impairment individually then assessed collectively in a group of
assets with similar credit risk characteristics. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if one or more events have occurred
that would impact the estimated future cash flows of that asset. If evidence of impairment exists, an entity recognizes an
impairment loss, the difference between the amortized cost of the financial asset and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is then reduced
by this amount with an offsetting entry to net income. Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost may be
reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized.

r) Financial Instruments
Inter Pipeline may utilize derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to market risks relating to commodity prices,
foreign exchange and interest rates. Inter Pipeline has a risk management policy that defines and specifies the controls and
responsibilities associated with those activities managing market exposure to changing commodity prices (power, crude oil,
natural gas, and NGL’s) as well as changes within the financial market relating to interest rates and foreign exchange exposure
for Inter Pipeline. Inter Pipeline’s risk management policy prohibits the use of derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes.

Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial assets and financial liabilities “held-for-trading” or designated
as FVTPL on initial recognition. Financial assets or financial liabilities are classified as “held-for-trading” if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling in the near term. Financial assets or financial liabilities are designated as FVTPL if Inter Pipeline manages
such investments and makes purchases and sales decisions based on their fair value in accordance with Inter Pipeline’s
documented risk management policy, or if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency. Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value with changes in those fair values
recognized in net income. Financial assets “available-for-sale” are measured at fair value, with changes in those fair values
recognized in OCI. Financial assets “held-to-maturity”, “cash, loans and receivables” and “other financial liabilities” are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization. Investments in equity instruments classified as
“available-for-sale” that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are measured at fair value.
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Inter Pipeline has classified its financial instruments as follows: certain components of prepaid expenses and other deposits are
classified as “held-for-trading” and measured at carrying value. Cash and cash equivalents and the majority of accounts
receivable are classified as “cash, loans and receivables”. Dividends payable, the majority of accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and provisions, certain components of deferred revenue, convertible shares and long-term debt, short-term debt and
commercial paper are classified as “other financial liabilities”. Derivative financial instruments and the related current and longterm payable/long-term receivable are classified as FVTPL.
Determination of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities requires the use of valuation techniques that involve many
estimates, assumptions and judgments including the timing and magnitude of cash flows, discount rates and reference prices.
Estimates of the fair value of derivative contracts outstanding at the end of each financial reporting period are recognized on
the consolidated balance sheets and any unrealized changes in these estimates are recognized in the consolidated statements
of net income. These amounts are estimates of the fair value at a point in time and the final amount will be determined on the
date or interim dates that the derivative contract is settled.
Inter Pipeline capitalizes debt transaction costs, premiums and discounts within long-term debt, short-term debt and
commercial paper.

Financial Instruments – Fair Value Hierarchy
Financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the fair value hierarchy
of inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows:
Level 1 inputs involve limited use of judgments as fair value inputs are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities. Inter Pipeline does not use level 1 inputs for any of its derivative financial instruments and fixed
rate debt fair value measurements.
Level 2 inputs require slightly more judgment than level 1 but still involve observable and corroborated, either directly or
indirectly, market factors. Inter Pipeline’s level 2 inputs include quoted market prices for commodities, foreign exchange,
interest rates and credit risk premiums. Financial instruments in this category include non-exchange traded derivatives such as
over-the-counter commodity forwards, interest rate swaps, and fixed rate debt. Inter Pipeline obtains information from sources
including independent price publications, third party pricing services, market exchanges and investment dealer quotes. Inter
Pipeline uses level 2 inputs for all of its derivative financial instruments, convertible shares and fixed rate debt fair value
measurements.
Level 3 inputs require the most significant judgments and consist primarily of unobservable or non-market based inputs. Level 3
inputs include longer term transactions, transactions in less active markets or transactions at locations for which pricing
information is not available. In these instances, internally developed methodologies are used to determine fair value which
primarily includes extrapolation of observable future prices to similar locations, similar instruments or later time periods. Level
3 inputs may include items based on pricing services or broker quotes, but the inputs are not observable and cannot be verified.
Inter Pipeline does not use level 3 inputs for any of its derivative financial instruments and fixed rate debt fair value
measurements.

s) Financial Guarantees
Financial guarantees are issued contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
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guarantees are initially recognized as a liability at their fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of the unamortized
balance of the related fees received and the amount expected to settle at the balance sheet date.

t) Reserves
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve includes exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations.

Defined Benefit Pension Reserve
The defined benefit pension reserve includes actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension obligations.

u) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or the arrangement conveys
a right to use an asset. Leases which transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership to Inter Pipeline are classified
as finance leases. The leased asset is recognized at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Finance lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term. Other leases are classified as operating leases and payments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

4. FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the IASB that are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 or later periods with early adoption permitted. The standards
impacted are as follows:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)
IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations and shall be applied to annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. IFRS 15 establishes a control based revenue
recognition model under which revenue is recognized when control of the underlying goods or services for the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Inter Pipeline is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15; however the
extent of the impact has not yet been determined.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9)
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and shall be applied to annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 9 establishes principles for the financial reporting of financial
assets and financial liabilities that will present relevant and useful information to users of financial statements for their
assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of an entity’s future cash flows. Inter Pipeline is currently assessing the
impact of IFRS 9; however the extent of the impact has not yet been determined.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ADDITIONS

Property, pl a nt a nd equi pment - net book va l ue
Goodwi l l a nd i nta ngi bl e a s s ets - net book va l ue
Other a s s ets

TOTAL ASSETS

(1) Includes (gain) loss on disposal of assets
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Depreci a ti on a nd a morti za ti on
Non-ca s h expens e (recovery)
Unrea l i zed cha nge i n fa i r va l ue of
ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů

ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)

(1)

$

$

FUNDS FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Provi s i on (recovery) for i ncome ta xes
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Items not i nvol vi ng ca s h:

REVENUES
EXPENSES
Shri nka ge ga s
Mi ds trea m product purcha s es
Opera ti ng
Depreci a ti on a nd a morti za ti on
Fi na nci ng cha rges
Genera l a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve
Unrea l i zed cha nge i n fa i r va l ue of
ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů

ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets

6,437,583

6,112,960
222,985
101,638

$

$
$
$

$

566,236

522,587
43,649

52,629

262
191,119

44,037
306,130
1,128,456

10,620
784

57,000
318

$

$

179,453
179,453

262
(114)
184,489

(35)
219,687
256,982
52,207
204,775

107,319
65,861
10,734
427
-

117,011
57,035
33,919
11,757

Oi l Sa nds Conventi ona l
Tra ns porta ti on Oi l Pi pel i nes
Bus i nes s
Bus i nes s
$
476,669 $
363,942

$

$
$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

651,548

412,179
189,975
49,394

11,910

$

$
$
$

$

(1,247)
142,323 $

32,376
408

110,786
110,786

(1,247)
2,331
437,815

296,987
109,424
30,045
275
-

NGL
Extra cti on
Bus i nes s
548,601

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Ca na da

Inter Pi pel i ne opera tes i ts bus i nes s under the fol l owi ng pri nci pa l bus i nes s s egments :
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32,045

19,003
13,042

9,180

$

$
$
$

$

27,386
(150,931) $

3,797
4,485

(123,603)
62,996
(186,599) $

123,603

3,797
57,077
62,729

Corpora te
-

7,687,412

7,066,729
412,960
207,723

1,202,175

(985)
71,423
488,641

103,793
5,995

423,618
115,203
308,415

(985)
2,182
965,594

296,987
107,319
292,296
101,611
91,698
74,486

Tota l
Ca na di a n
Opera ti ons
$
1,389,212

$

$
$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

1,236,152

(985)
69,627
564,024

140,651
5,250

(985)
(2,126)
1,091,801
464,460
114,979
349,481

296,987
107,319
368,324
142,777
93,630
85,875

Tota l
Ca na di a n
a nd Europea n
Opera ti ons
$
1,556,261

959,774

$

8,647,186

As at December 31, 2014
726,964
$
7,793,693
183,703
$
596,663
49,107
$
256,830

33,977

(1,796)
75,383

36,858
(745)

40,842
(224)
41,066

(4,308)
126,207

76,028
41,166
1,932
11,389

Bul k Li qui d
Stora ge
Bus i nes s
$
167,049

Europe
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ADDITIONS

Property, pl a nt a nd equi pment - net book va l ue
Goodwi l l a nd i nta ngi bl e a s s ets - net book va l ue

Other a s s ets
TOTAL ASSETS

(1) Includes (gain) loss on disposal of assets

$

$

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Provi s i on for (recovery of) i ncome ta xes
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Items not i nvol vi ng ca s h:
(1)
Depreci a ti on a nd a morti za ti on
Non-ca s h (recovery) expens e
Unrea l i zed cha nge i n fa i r va l ue of
ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů

ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ
G e n e r a l p a r t n e r i n t e r n a l i z a t i o n
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
FUNDS FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS

REVENUES
EXPENSES
Shri nka ge ga s
Mi ds trea m product purcha s es
Opera ti ng
Depreci a ti on a nd a morti za ti on
Fi na nci ng cha rges
Genera l a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve
Unrea l i zed cha nge i n fa i r va l ue of
ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů

ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ
Management fees to general partner
General partner internalization
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets

153,737
5,418,267

5,039,268
225,262

1,855,408

22,316
219,636

46,480
(42)

$
$

$
$

$

$

(129)
206,154
182,309
31,427
150,882 $

112,768
46,609
34,948
11,958

$

65,048
544,809

479,761
-

17,150

$
$

$
$

$

(117)
174,900 $

10,399
338

(117)
365
137,897
164,280
164,280 $

75,820
51,176
10,034
619
-

Oi l Sa nds Conventi ona l
Tra ns porta ti on Oi l Pi pel i nes
Bus i nes s
Bus i nes s
$
388,463 $
302,177

73,014
696,090

422,890
200,186

35,049

9,182
170,718

30,411
251

9,182
1,787
389,847
130,874
130,874

235,652
114,349
28,624
253
-

NGL
Extra cti on
Bus i nes s
520,721

Yea r Ended December 31, 2013
Ca na da

$
$

$
$

$

$

$

$

405
14,951

14,546
-

6,933

$
$

$
$

$

348,584
14,770
(165,881) $

2,645
338

7,971
348,584
470,231
(470,231)
61,987
(532,218) $

2,645
54,758
56,273

Corpora te
-

292,204
6,674,117

5,956,465
425,448

1,914,540

9,065
348,584
37,086
399,373

89,935
885

9,065
7,971
348,584
2,023
1,204,129
7,232
93,414
(86,182)

235,652
75,820
278,293
87,912
90,578
68,231

Tota l
Ca na di a n
Opera ti ons
$
1,211,361

$
$

$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

1,948,957

9,065
348,584
29,483
472,556

130,415
2,004

9,065
7,971
348,584
3,729
1,323,111
39,602
86,597
(46,995)

235,652
75,820
346,652
126,686
91,882
77,070

Tota l
Ca na di a n
a nd Europea n
Opera ti ons
$
1,362,713

48,090
983,583

$
$

340,294
7,657,700

As a t December 31, 2013
743,237
$
6,699,702
192,256
$
617,704

34,417

(7,603)
73,183

40,480
1,119

1,706
118,982
32,370
(6,817)
39,187

68,359
38,774
1,304
8,839

Bul k Li qui d
Stora ge
Bus i nes s
$
151,352

Europe

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Pi pel i nes ,
Fa ci l i ti es a nd
Equi pment
COST
Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
(1)
Addi ti ons /tra ns fers from cons tructi on

$

Di s pos a l s /compl eted cons tructi on (1)
Forei gn currency tra ns l a ti on a djus tments

5,092,910
635,497

$

273,829
-

(7,914)
82,445
5,802,938

273,829

1,384,382
(8,661)
(11,218)
7,167,441 $

14,141
287,970

Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013

904,631 $
102,770
(1,500)
13,051
1,018,952

11,998
2,905
14,903

Depreci a ti on
Di s pos a l s
Forei gn currency tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Balance, December 31, 2014
$

122,931
(3,318)
147
1,138,712 $

2,905
17,808

NET BOOK VALUE
At December 31, 2013
At December 31, 2014

4,783,986
6,028,729

258,926
270,162

Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013
(1)

Addi ti ons /tra ns fers from cons tructi on
(1)
Di s pos a l s /compl eted cons tructi on
Forei gn currency tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Balance, December 31, 2014
$
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
$
Depreci a ti on
Di s pos a l s
Forei gn currency tra ns l a ti on a djus tments

$
$

Cons tructi on
Work i n
Progres s

Pi pel i ne
Li ne Fi l l

$
$

$

343,398
1,946,788

Tota l
$

(633,328)
(68)
1,656,790

$

$

(641,242)
82,377
7,733,557

1,220,291
(1,382,662)
383
1,494,802 $

-

5,710,137
2,582,285

$

2,618,814
(1,391,323)
(10,835)
8,950,213

916,629
105,675
(1,500)
13,051
1,033,855

$

-

$

125,836
(3,318)
147
1,156,520

$
$

1,656,790
1,494,802

$
$

6,699,702
7,793,693

(1) The majority of property, plant and equipment additions are related to constructed assets and are initially recorded as construction work in progress before
being transferred to pipelines, facilities and equipment or pipeline line fill when the related asset is available for use.

At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline expects to spend $711.6 million on property, plant and equipment, of which $401.9
million is due within one year and $309.7 million is due in one to five years. These amounts do not include capital expenditures
related to the 15% non-controlling interest in Cold Lake.
The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2014, was $49.3 million (December 31, 2013 –
$26.3 million). The weighted average rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was
3.73% (December 31, 2013 – 3.90%).
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7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Inta ngi bl e As s ets
Cus tomer
Contra cts a nd
Goodwi l l Rel a ti ons hi ps
COST
Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
$
Forei gn currency
tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013
Addi ti ons
Di s pos a l s
Forei gn currency
tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Balance, December 31, 2014
$

324,077
17,727
341,804

Amorti za ti on
Di s pos a l s
Forei gn currency
tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Balance, December 31, 2014
$

$
$

$

$

8,727

8,727

133,125
20,249

5,247
623

2,174
155,548

-

13,781
(23,572)

$

-

(439)
402,096 $

-

Tra dena me

8,727

812
(23,572)

(4,223)
337,581 $

-

422,605
2,690
425,295

-

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
$
Amorti za ti on
Forei gn currency
tra ns l a ti on a djus tments
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013

NET BOOK VALUE
At December 31, 2013
At December 31, 2014

$

Pa tent

$

Tota l
Inta ngi bl e
As s ets

$

$

5,870
623
-

4,174

$

435,506

Tota l
Goodwi l l a nd
Inta ngi bl e
As s ets
$

759,583

374
4,548

3,064
438,570

20,791
780,374

(4,616)

812
(28,188)

812
(28,188)

(371)
410,823 $

(4,594)
748,404

139,381
21,011

139,381
21,011

68
-

1,009
139

$

$

$

104
1,252

2,278
162,670

2,278
162,670

2,537
(3,804)

16,941
(27,376)

16,941
(27,376)

-

$

(509)
145,248 $

6,493

$

15
-

$

(494)
151,741 $

(494)
151,741

341,804
337,581

$
$

269,747
256,848

2,857
2,234

$
$

3,296
-

$
$

275,900
259,082

617,704
596,663

$
$

$
$

a) Goodwill
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems in the oil sands transportation business
are $52.6 million and $104.3 million, respectively, in both 2014 and 2013. Goodwill was originally assigned to the Corridor and
Polaris CGU’s, respectively, upon original acquisition. The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the Inter Terminals UK,
Germany and Ireland and Inter Terminals Denmark bulk liquid storage business CGU’s are $61.0 million and $119.7 million,
respectively (December 31, 2013 - $60.5 million and $124.4 million, respectively).

Corridor and Polaris Pipeline Systems
In arriving at the fair value less costs of disposal, after-tax discount rates of 3.5% and 6.5% were applied to after-tax cash flows
from the Corridor and Polaris pipeline systems, respectively. Cash flow projections are based on long-term contractual
transportation agreements with shippers. These cash flows are then aggregated with a ‘terminal value’. The terminal value
represents the value of cash flows beyond the tenth year, incorporating a declining growth rate of 1.7% for Corridor and no
growth rate for Polaris. The key assumption to which the calculation of fair value less costs of disposal for the Corridor and
Polaris pipeline systems are most sensitive is the discount rate used to present value cash flow projections.

Bulk Liquid Storage Business
Goodwill relating to the bulk liquid storage business has been assessed, applying an after-tax discount rate of 7.5% to after-tax
cash flows of both the Inter Terminals UK, Germany and Ireland and Inter Terminals Denmark CGU’s. Valuations are based on
100 INTER PIPELINE
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cash flow projections that incorporate best estimates of revenue, operating and maintenance expenditures, administrative
expenses and capital expenditures over 10 years. These cash flow projections are then aggregated with a ‘terminal value’,
representing the value of cash flows beyond the tenth year incorporating an annual growth rate of 2.5% for Inter Terminals UK,
Germany and Ireland and an annual growth rate of 2.0% for Inter Terminals Denmark. The calculation of fair value less costs of
disposal is most sensitive to assumptions about discount rates and revenue.
The key assumptions used by Inter Pipeline in calculating fair value less costs of disposal are as follows:

Discount Rates
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, taking into consideration the time
value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow forecasts. The
discount rate or weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is based on the specific circumstances of each CGU. The WACC
calculation takes into account appropriate debt and equity weightings. The cost of equity is derived from the expected risk-free
rate of return plus an appropriate equity risk premium, and the after-tax cost of debt is based on expected borrowing rates for
each CGU. Segment-specific risks are also considered and are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Revenues
Revenues in the Corridor and Polaris CGU’s are based on long-term contractual transportation agreements with shippers.
Revenues in the Inter Terminals UK, Germany and Ireland and Inter Terminals Denmark CGU’s are based on management’s best
estimates, taking into consideration existing contracts, timing of contract renewals, as well as relevant market factors. The
market in which Inter Terminals Denmark operates transitioned from backwardation to contango during the second half of
2014 and management’s cash flow estimates assume periods of continuation of contango during the ten year forecast period.
Management believes, at December 31, 2014, that there are no reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions that
would lead to the recoverable amounts being less than the carrying amounts.

b) Intangible Assets
On January 1, 2015, Simon Storage was rebranded as Inter Terminals. As a result, the Simon Storage tradename intangible asset
was fully written down during 2014.

8. DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS
Di vi dends decl a red to s ha rehol ders of Inter Pi pel i ne
Di vi dends s ettl ed wi th the i s s ua nce of s ha res under the Premi um Di vi dend™
a nd Di vi dend Rei nves tment Pl a n
Ca s h di vi dends pa i d to s ha rehol ders of Inter Pi pel i ne
Decl a red a mount ($ per s ha re)
TM Denotes

$

$
$

December 31
2014
423,070

December 31
2013
$
338,184

(264,472)
158,598 $
1.3200 $

(246,691)
91,493
1.1775

trademark of Canaccord Genuity Corp.

As at December 31, 2014, dividends of $40.0 million were payable on 326.2 million outstanding common shares at $0.1225 per
share (December 31, 2013 - $33.0 million payable on 306.8 million outstanding common shares at $0.1075 per share).
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On January 8, 2015, Inter Pipeline declared dividends of $0.1225 per share. The dividends were paid on February 17, 2015, to all
shareholders of record on January 22, 2015. The total declared dividends were approximately $40.0 million. On February 10,
2015, Inter Pipeline declared dividends of $0.1225 per share. The dividends will be paid on or about March 16, 2015, to all
shareholders of record on February 24, 2015. The total estimated declared dividends are approximately $40.9 million.

9. LONG-TERM DEBT, SHORT-TERM DEBT AND COMMERCIAL
PAPER
$1,550 mi l l i on Uns ecured Revol vi ng Credi t Fa ci l i ty (a )
$1,250 mi l l i on Uns ecured Revol vi ng Credi t Fa ci l i ty (b)
Loa n pa ya bl e to Pri va te Pl a cement notehol ders (c)
Corri dor Debentures (d)
Seni or Uns ecured MTN (e)
Long-term debt, s hort term debt a nd commerci a l pa per
(excl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts a nd di s counts )
Les s : current porti on of l ong-term debt a nd commerci a l pa per(1)
Long-term debt (excl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts a nd di s counts )
Tra ns a cti on cos ts , net of a ccumul a ted a morti za ti on
Di s count, net of a ccumul a ted a morti za ti on
Add: Current porti on of tra ns a cti on cos ts a nd di s counts
Long-term debt
Current porti on of l ong-term debt i ncl udi ng tra ns a cti on
cos ts a nd di s counts
(1)
Commerci a l pa per i ncl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts a nd di s counts (a )

December 31
2014
$
1,279,700
686,000
300,000
2,325,000

$

December 31
2013
$
1,312,200
635,000
288,648
300,000
1,425,000

4,590,700
(1,429,700)
3,161,000
(17,022)
(2,217)
2,180
3,143,941

3,960,848
(1,600,848)
2,360,000
(15,588)
(2,234)
3,413
2,345,591

149,990
1,277,530
4,571,461

287,983
1,309,452
3,943,026

$

(1) Commercial paper issued by Corridor is fully supported and management expects that it will continue to be supported by the $1,550 million Unsecured
Revolving Credit Facility that has no repayment requirements until December 2018.

a)

On December 15, 2014, Corridor extended the maturity date of the $1,550 million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility
to December 14, 2018, which can be extended again under certain conditions. No amounts were outstanding on the
$25.0 million demand facility at December 31, 2014 (2013 - $nil), with the exception of letters of credit valued at $0.2
million (2013 – $0.2 million).
Fees on amounts borrowed at floating rates based on bankers’ acceptances are 85 basis points, while fees on
unborrowed amounts are 35 basis points (2013 – 100 basis points and 40 basis points, respectively). If Corridor’s credit
rating changes, the fees on floating rate amounts could increase by up to 60 basis points or reduce by up to 10 basis
points, while fees on undrawn amounts could increase by up to 23 basis points and decrease by up to 5 basis points.
The effective rate of interest incurred in 2014 was 1.28% (2013 – 1.32%) for the $1,550 million Unsecured Revolving
Credit Facility. Fees on amounts borrowed under the demand facility match the $1,550 million Unsecured Revolving
Credit Facility while undrawn amounts are not charged standby fees.

b)

On April 19, 2013, Inter Pipeline increased the size of its Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility from $750 million to $1,250
million. On September 2, 2013, as a result of Corporate Conversion, Inter Pipeline restated its $1,250 million Unsecured
Revolving Credit Facility on terms similar to the previous facility. On December 5, 2014, Inter Pipeline extended the
maturity date of its $1,250 million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility to December 5, 2019, which can be extended
again under certain conditions.
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Fees on amounts borrowed at floating rates based on bankers’ acceptances are 120 basis points, while fees on
unborrowed amounts are 24 basis points (2013 – 120 basis points and 24 basis points, respectively). If Inter Pipeline’s
credit rating changes, fees on floating rate amounts could increase by up to 105 basis points or be reduced by up to 35
basis points, while fees on undrawn amounts could increase by up to 21 basis points and decrease by up to 7 basis
points. The effective rate of interest incurred in 2014 was 2.44% (2013 – 2.42%).
Inter Pipeline increased the size of its demand facility from $20 million to $40 million on May 14, 2013. Inter Pipeline
replaced this $40 million demand line with a new $40 million demand facility on September 2, 2013, as a result of the
Corporate Conversion. Fees on amounts borrowed under the facility are based on the prime rate plus 20 basis points,
while unborrowed amounts are not charged standby fees. No amounts were drawn on this facility at December 31,
2014 or 2013.
At December 31, 2014, letters of credit of $0.4 million were issued by Inter Pipeline under its demand facility (2013 $0.5 million).
c)

On October 28, 2014, the loan payable to Private Placement noteholders of $288.6 million matured and was repaid with
funds available under Inter Pipeline’s $1,250 million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility.

d)

Corridor Debentures are defined as the $150 million 5.033% Series B debentures and the $150 million 4.897% Series C
debentures.
On February 2, 2015, the $150 million 5.033% Series B debentures matured and were repaid with funds available under
Corridor’s $1,550 million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility.
Corridor used a derivative instrument to exchange its fixed rate of interest to floating rates of interest on the $150
million 5.033% Series B debentures (note 19). This resulted in an average effective interest rate that is different from
the stated interest rate on the $150 million 5.033% Series B debentures of 1.81% (2013 – 1.84%). The interest rate swap
terminated on February 2, 2015, concurrent with the maturity of the $150 million 5.033% Series B debentures.
The $150 million 4.897% Series C debentures due February 3, 2020, are unsecured obligations subject to the terms and
conditions of a trust indenture dated February 1, 2005 and a supplemental indenture dated February 2, 2010. Interest is
payable semi-annually in equal installments in arrears on February 2 and August 2 of each year, except for 2020 in
which case interest is payable on February 3, 2020 for interest accrued for the period from and including August 2, 2019
to and including February 2, 2020.
The $150 million 4.897% Series C debentures are redeemable in whole, or in part, at the option of Corridor at a price
equal to the principal amount to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest including a premium above the implied
yield to maturity.

e)

On December 9, 2013, Inter Pipeline filed a short form base shelf prospectus with Canadian regulatory authorities.
Under provisions detailed in the short form base shelf prospectus, Inter Pipeline may offer and issue, from time to time:
(i) common shares; (ii) preferred shares; (iii) debt securities and (iv) subscription receipts (collectively, the “Securities”)
of up to $3.0 billion aggregate initial offering price of Securities during the 25 month period that the short form base
shelf prospectus is valid. Securities may be offered separately or together, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be
determined based on market conditions at the time of sale and set forth in one or more prospectus supplements. This
short form base shelf prospectus replaced the previous one filed by the Fund on November 30, 2012.
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The Senior Unsecured Medium-Term Notes (MTN) are comprised of the following:
i)

On February 2, 2011, Inter Pipeline issued $325 million of 4.967% Unsecured MTN Series 1 (MTN Series 1) due
February 2, 2021, in the Canadian public debt market. The MTN Series 1 bear interest at the rate of 4.967% per
annum, payable semi-annually in equal instalments in arrears.

ii)

On July 29, 2011, Inter Pipeline issued $200 million of 3.839% Unsecured MTN, Series 2 (MTN Series 2) due July
30, 2018, in the Canadian public debt market. The MTN Series 2 bear interest at a rate of 3.839% per annum,
payable semi-annually in equal instalments in arrears.

iii)

On May 28, 2012, Inter Pipeline issued $400 million of 3.776% Senior Unsecured MTN, Series 3 (MTN Series 3) due
May 30, 2022, in the Canadian public debt market. The MTN Series 3 bear interest at the rate of 3.776% per
annum, payable semi-annually in equal instalments in arrears.

iv)

On July 19, 2013, Inter Pipeline issued $500 million of 3.448% Senior Unsecured MTN, Series 4 (MTN Series 4) due
July 20, 2020, in the Canadian public debt market. The MTN Series 4 bear interest at the rate of 3.448% per
annum, payable semi-annually in equal instalments in arrears.

v)

On May 30, 2014, Inter Pipeline issued $500 million and $400 million of Senior Unsecured MTN in the Canadian
public debt market. The $500 million MTN series 5 (MTN Series 5), due May 30, 2044, bear interest at the rate of
4.637% per annum, payable semi-annually in equal instalments in arrears on May 30 and November 30 of each
year. The $400 million floating rate MTN series 6 (MTN Series 6), due May 30, 2017, bear interest at the three
month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate plus 49 basis points, payable and reset quarterly in arrears on February 28,
May 30, August 30 and November 30 in each year. The proceeds from these issuances were used to repay bank
indebtedness incurred through funding Inter Pipeline’s capital expenditure program and for other general
corporate purposes.

10. PROVISIONS
Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Revi s i ons to es ti ma ted a mount of l i a bi l i ti es
Obl i ga ti ons di s cha rged
Accreti on expens e
Forei gn currency a djus tments
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013
Revi s i ons to es ti ma ted a mount of l i a bi l i ti es
Obl i ga ti ons di s cha rged
Accreti on expens e
Forei gn currency a djus tments
ĂůĂŶĐĞ͕ĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϰ

Decommi s s i oni ng
Envi ronmenta l
Obl i ga ti ons
Li a bi l i ti es
$
41,914 $
18,039 $
70
(357)
(22)
1,469
435
3,020
534
46,473
18,629

$

134
2,263
(781)
48,089

$

(103)
(21)
277
(169)
18,613

$

Tota l
59,953
(287)
(22)
1,904
3,554
65,102
31
(21)
2,540
(950)
66,702

The following estimates of expected economic life and inflation rates were used to calculate the undiscounted amount of
estimated expenditures expected to be incurred on decommissioning of active pipeline systems, NGL extraction facilities and
leased bulk liquid storage sites and remediation of known environmental liabilities. The long-term risk-free rates were used to
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discount the future cash flows for decommissioning obligations and the 5 to 10 year risk-free rates were used to discount the
future cash flows for environmental liabilities:

Oi l s a nds tra ns porta ti on bus i nes s
Conventi ona l oi l pi pel i nes bus i nes s
NGL extra cti on bus i nes s
Bul k l i qui d s tora ge bus i nes s

Expected
Economi c
Li fe (yea rs ) (1)
(2)
80 to 500
(2)
40 to 500
40
40

Long-Term
Ri s k-Free
Di s count Ra te
3.4%
3.4%
3.4%
3.2% to 3.95%

Infl a ti on Ra te
1.8%
1.8%
1.8%
1.7% to 2.4%

5 to 10 Yea r
Ri s k-Free
Di s count Ra te
n/a
2.05% to 3.0%
n/a
0.75% to 2.7%

(1) Environmental liabilities are being accreted over 5 to 10 years.
(2) The expected economic life of the Corridor, Cold Lake, Polaris and Bow River pipeline systems is 80 to 500 years. The mid-point value of 290 years is used in the
decommissioning obligation assessment.

In addition to the above provisions, $50.1 million is included in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions related to
construction reclamation work at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 - $41.2 million).

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Long-term i ncenti ve pl a n l i a bi l i ty
Pens i on l i a bi l i ty

$

Empl oyee benefi ts

$

December 31
2014
8,541
11,547
20,088

December 31
2013
$
5,632
6,254
$
11,886

a) Long-Term Incentive Plan
Effective January 1, 2006, Inter Pipeline implemented an LTIP for its employees, officers, and directors. The LTIP is governed by
a Restricted Share Unit (RSUP) document that defines how awards made under the RSUP will be determined and administered.
An RSU, as granted under the RSUP, is valued based on Inter Pipeline’s share price plus credit for cash dividends paid to
shareholders during the period the RSUs are held. Unless otherwise provided in an individual grant agreement, the RSU will vest
one-third on each of the successive anniversary dates from the date of grant. The life of RSUs granted is three years. Upon
exercise of an RSU, the amount owing will be paid out in cash net of applicable withholding taxes.
At December 31, 2014, the current portion of the liability included in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions was
$22.9 million (December 31, 2013 - $18.5 million). At December 31, 2014, 573,984 RSUs are exercisable. Inter Pipeline’s closing
share price at December 31, 2014, was $35.94.
The total intrinsic value of RSUs vested and not exercised as at December 31, 2014 was $21.1 million (December 31, 2013 $17.6 million).
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding RSUs as at December 31, 2014, was 1.5 years (December
31, 2013 - 1.5 years).
For the year ended December 31, 2014, RSU costs of $7.6 million were included in operating expenses and $22.7 million were
included in general and administrative expenses (2013 - $4.4 million and $19.4 million, respectively).
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The following table summarizes the status of Inter Pipeline’s RSUs as at December 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013:

Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Gra nted
Exerci s ed
Forfei tures
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013
Gra nted
Exerci s ed
Forfei tures
Balance, December 31, 2014

Number of RSUs
1,294,485
663,635
(794,226)
(31,651)
1,132,243
637,164
(580,099)
(46,955)
1,142,353

b) Pension Liability
Inter Pipeline acquired Inter Terminals UK and Ireland on October 4, 2005 and Inter Terminals Germany on January 1, 2006. At
the time of acquisitions, the fair values of the pension plan liabilities were recognized on Inter Pipeline’s consolidated balance
sheet and there were no unrecognized gains or losses.

UK
Inter Pipeline operates a defined benefit funded pension plan (Pension Fund), providing benefits for its employees based
primarily on years of service and final pensionable salary. The Pension Fund is administered by a corporate trustee and its
assets are independent of Inter Pipeline’s finances. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Pension Fund was carried out as
at April 6, 2013. Professionally qualified actuaries performed the actuarial valuation and then adjusted and updated the results
to the reporting date, with the obligation measured using the projected unit method. The Pension Fund was closed to new
entrants from September 30, 2010. At the same time, a change was made to the Pension Fund’s rules, which restricts the level
of future increases in pensionable salaries to the lower of price inflation and 5.0% each year. This change came into effect on
April 6, 2011. The next valuation date for funding purposes is April 6, 2016.

Ireland
Inter Pipeline operates a defined benefit funded pension plan (Pension Scheme), which provides benefits for its employees
based on years of service and final pensionable salary. The Pension Scheme is administered by a corporate trustee and its
assets are independent of Inter Pipeline’s finances. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Pension Scheme was carried out
as at September 1, 2013. Professionally qualified actuaries performed the actuarial valuation and then adjusted the results to
the reporting date, with the obligation measured using the projected unit method. With effect from September 1, 2010, the
Pension Scheme was closed to future benefit accrual. The next valuation date for funding purposes is September 1, 2016.

Germany
The German benefit plans included in Inter Pipeline’s financial reporting relate to defined benefit retirement pensions and longservice awards. The German arrangements are unfunded and therefore have no assets. The most recent actuarial valuation of
the long-term employee and post-retirement benefits under local tax and accounting rules was carried out as at December 31,
2014, by professionally qualified actuaries. For Inter Pipeline's financial reporting purposes the defined benefit obligations are
calculated on a triennial basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method, with approximate updates in
interim years.
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Plan Assets
The pension plans’ assets are not Inter Pipeline’s assets and therefore are not included in the consolidated balance sheets.
Assets are shown at market value using the bid price. The actual distribution of the respective pension plan assets as of
December 31 is as follows:
Pension Plan Assets by
Asset Category
Equi ty s ecuri ti es
Debt s ecuri ti es
Rea l es ta te

UK
2014
42%
37%
20%

Deferred a nnui ty contra ct
Tota l

100%

Irel a nd
2014
-

2013
-

100%

100%

100%

100%

2013
47%
41%
12%

1%

100%

Actuarial Assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring Inter Pipeline’s accrued benefit obligations are as follows:
Weighted Average Assumptions
for Expense

UK
2014

2013

Irel a nd
2014

2013

Germa ny
2014

2013

Di s count ra te
Ra te of pri ce i nfl a ti on
Compens a ti on i ncrea s e
Ra te of pens i on pa yment i ncrea s e

3.7%
3.1%
3.0%
3.0%

4.6%
3.5%
3.4%
3.4%

2.3%
2.0%
n/a
2.8%

4.0%
2.0%
n/a
2.8%

1.8%
2.0%
n/a
1.5%

3.6%
2.0%
n/a
1.5%

Funded Status and Defined Benefit Obligations
The following tables set forth the respective pension plans’ funded status and amount included in the accrued liability on Inter
Pipeline’s consolidated balance sheets.
December 31, 2014
Change in Accrued Benefit
Obligation

UK

Irel a nd Germa ny

Accrued benefi t
obl i ga ti on, begi nni ng
of yea r
$ 100,074 $
Current s ervi ce cos t
1,956
Empl oyee contri buti ons
293
Interes t cos t
4,686
Benefi ts pa i d
(2,743)
Actua ri a l l os s (ga i n)
due to:
Cha nges i n fi na nci a l
a s s umpti ons
12,039
Cha nges i n
demogra phi c
a s s umpti ons
Experi ence
a djus tments
Forei gn currency
a djus tments
2,518
Accrued benefi t
obl i ga ti on, end of yea r $ 118,823 $

929
36
-

$

December 31, 2013

Tota l

UK

1,209 $ 102,212 $
7
1,963
293
42
4,764
(87)
(2,830)

Irel a nd Germa ny

80,346 $
1,830
454
3,428
(3,376)

838 $
32
(3)

Tota l

1,105 $
6
35
(95)

82,289
1,836
454
3,495
(3,474)

-

2,296

145

439

12,623

2,331

-

-

-

3,728

-

-

3,728

3,921

-

37

3,958

2,416

7,412

97

121

7,630

$ 121,428

$ 100,074

1,209

$ 102,212

(13)

-

(42)
1,055

(60)
$

1,550

(13)

(35)

$

929

$
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December 31, 2014
Change in Pension Plan
Assets
Fa i r va l ue of pens i on
pl a n a s s ets ,
begi nni ng of yea r
Interes t on pl a n a s s ets
Actua l return l es s
i nteres t on pl a n
a s s ets
Runni ng cos ts
Empl oyer contri buti ons
Empl oyee contri buti ons
Benefi ts pa i d
Forei gn currency
a djus tments
Fa i r va l ue of pens i on
pl a n a s s ets , end of
yea r

UK

$

94,713
4,504

Irel a nd Germa ny

$

1,245
49

7,144
(377)
2,781
293
(2,743)

(29)
(6)
-

2,357

(50)

$ 108,672

$

1,209

Pens i on (l i a bi l i ty) a s s et $ (10,151) $

154

$

-

-

Tota l

$

95,958
4,553

UK

$

78,848
3,079

Irel a nd Germa ny

$

1,045
40

7,115
(383)
2,868
293
(2,830)

6,507
(379)
2,220
454
(3,376)

(17)
(3)
56
(3)

-

2,307

7,360

127

-

$ 109,881

87
(87)

$

December 31, 2013

$

December 31, 2014
$ (1,550) $ (11,547) $

94,713

$

1,245

(5,361) $

316

$

-

Tota l

$

95
(95)

6,490
(382)
2,371
454
(3,474)

-

$

-

79,893
3,119

7,487

$

95,958

December 31, 2013
$ (1,209) $ (6,254)

12. INCOME TAXES
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
December 31
2014
Current i ncome ta xes
Current i ncome ta x cha rge
Adjus tments i n res pect of current i ncome ta x of the previ ous yea r
Current i ncome ta x
Deferred i ncome ta xes
Rel a ti ng to the ori gi na ti on a nd revers a l of tempora ry di fferences
Adjus tments i n res pect of deferred i ncome ta x of the previ ous yea r
Adjus tments to deferred ta x a ttri buta bl e to cha nges i n ta x ra tes a nd l a ws
Deferred i ncome ta x
Provi s i on for i ncome ta xes

$

$

41,416
3,936
45,352

December 31
2013
$

73,107
(3,480)
69,627
114,979 $

56,983
131
57,114
36,513
(700)
(6,330)
29,483
86,597

Income taxes recognized directly in shareholders’ equity are as follows:

Deferred i ncome ta x recovery on defi ned benefi t pens i on res erve
Deferred i ncome ta x recovery on s ha re i s s ue cos ts
Current i ncome ta x recovery on s ha re i s s ue cos ts
Income ta x credi ted to Sha rehol ders ' Equi ty

$

$

December 31
2014
1,109
2,507
627
4,243

December 31
2013
$
314
3,532
$
3,846
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The provision for income taxes is summarized by jurisdiction as follows:
December 31
2014
Current i ncome ta xes
Ca na da
Europe

$

Deferred i ncome ta xes
Ca na da
Europe
$

43,780
1,572
45,352

December 31
2013
$

71,423
(1,796)
69,627
114,979 $

56,328
786
57,114
37,086
(7,603)
29,483
86,597

The components of income before income taxes are summarized below:

Ca na da
Europe

$
$

December 31
2014
423,618
40,842
464,460

December 31
2013
$
7,232
32,370
$
39,602

Income tax expense varies from amounts computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rates
to income before income taxes as shown in the following table:

$

Income before i ncome ta xes per cons ol i da ted fi na nci a l s ta tements
Income before i ncome ta xes a ttri buta bl e to non-control l i ng i nteres t
Adjus ted i ncome before i ncome ta xes
Ta x ra te

Genera l pa rtner i nterna l i za ti on
Deducti bl e i ntercompa ny i nteres t expens e
Impa ct of ra te reducti ons
Other
Provi s i on for i ncome ta xes

$

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
464,460 $
39,602
(14,656)
(11,135)
449,804
28,467
25.0%
25.0%
112,451
7,117
(4,393)
6,921
114,979 $

87,369
(3,698)
(6,330)
2,139
86,597

The tax rates used in the reconciliation above are the combined federal and provincial tax rates payable by Inter Pipeline in
Canada.
Deferred income taxes relate to the following temporary differences:

Property, pl a nt a nd equi pment
Non-ca pi ta l l os s es
Goodwi l l a nd i nta ngi bl e a s s ets
Empl oyee benefi ts
Worki ng ca pi ta l
Provi s i ons
Deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments

$

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31
December 31
2014
2013
(522,442) $
(439,875) $
103,690
95,541
(89,772)
(86,299)
2,203
1,081
296
317
24,650
13,500
42
289
$

Deferred i ncome ta x expens e
Net deferred ta x l i a bi l i ty

$

(481,333) $

Consolidated Statements of
Net Income (Loss)
December 31
December 31
2014
2013
(82,928) $
(38,836)
7,769
7,182
(4,480)
(2,059)
(5)
(91)
(529)
453
10,793
1,598
(247)
2,270
(69,627) $

(29,483)

(415,446)
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Reconciliation of net deferred income tax liabilities:
$

Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1
Ta x expens e recogni zed i n net i ncome
Ta x recovery recogni zed i n equi ty
Ta x recovery recogni zed i n OCI
Reva l ua ti on of forei gn deferred i ncome ta x l i a bi l i ti es a nd other
Ba l a nce, December 31

$

2014
(415,446) $
(69,627)
2,507
1,109
124
(481,333) $

2013
(384,531)
(29,483)
3,532
314
(5,278)
(415,446)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount of the
consolidated balance sheet items and their corresponding tax values as well as for the benefit of losses available to be carried
forward to future tax years that are likely to be realized. The amount of unrecognized losses at December 31, 2014 is $8.3
million (2013 - $5.5 million).

13. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares, with voting rights and no par value.
Class A preferred shares, limited to not more than 20% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares, with no
voting rights.

Issued, Fully Paid and Outstanding

Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Is s ued under Premi um Di vi dend™
a nd Di vi dend Rei nves tment Pl a n
Excha nged on Corpora te Convers i on
Ca ncel l a ti on of Cl a s s B uni ts
Common s ha res i s s ued on Corpora te
Convers i on, net of i s s ue cos ts (note 25)
Common s ha res i s s ued, net of i s s ue cos ts
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013

Number of
Cl a s s A
Uni ts
274,880,318
6,639,917
(281,520,235)
-

Is s ued under Premi um Di vi dend™
a nd Di vi dend Rei nves tment Pl a n
Common s ha res i s s ued, net of i s s ue cos ts
Sta ted ca pi ta l a djus tment
Balance, December 31, 2014

Number of
Cl a s s B
Uni ts
275,422
6,657
(282,079)

Number of
Common
Sha res
4,143,952
281,520,235
-

Tota l
Number
275,155,740

$

10,790,526
(282,079)

-

-

7,411,683
13,719,500
306,795,370

7,411,683
13,719,500
306,795,370

-

-

9,016,871
10,400,000
326,212,241

9,016,871
10,400,000
326,212,241

Sha re
Ca pi ta l
2,339,745
246,691
(2,489)

$

$

$

178,584
334,221
3,096,752

264,472
291,218
(1,026,500)
2,625,942

Contributed Surplus
Upon completion of the Corporate Conversion, Inter Pipeline reclassified $2.5 million to contributed surplus, which was
previously recorded as partners’ equity attributable to Class A and Class B partnership units.

TM

Denotes trademark of Canaccord Genuity Corp.
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Deficit
Upon completion of the Corporate Conversion, Inter Pipeline reclassified $659.2 million to deficit, which was previously
recorded as partners’ equity attributable to Class A and Class B partnership units.

Common Share Issuance
On March 26, 2014, Inter Pipeline closed an equity offering to sell 10,400,000 common shares at $28.90 per share for gross
proceeds of $300.6 million. Share issue costs of $11.9 million were incurred and a decrease in the deferred tax liability of $2.5
million was recognized, resulting in net proceeds of $291.2 million.

Stated Capital Adjustment
On May 12, 2014, Inter Pipeline’s Board of Directors approved a legal stated capital amount of $1,636.6 million for Inter
Pipeline’s common shares on the date of Corporate Conversion pursuant to the Arrangement. As a result, Inter Pipeline’s share
capital was reduced by $1,026.5 million to correspond with the revised legal stated capital amount of the common shares and
Inter Pipeline’s deficit on the date of Corporate Conversion was eliminated. This stated capital adjustment did not result in any
changes to Inter Pipeline’s total shareholders’ equity, only the components therein.

Premium Dividend™ and Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Effective September 16, 2014, Inter Pipeline suspended the Premium Dividend™ component of the Premium Dividend™ and
Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Concurrently, the dividend reinvestment discount was reduced from 5% to 2%.

Calculation of Net Income (Loss) per Common Share
Net i ncome (l os s ) a ttri buta bl e to s ha rehol ders – ba s i c a nd di l uted
Wei ghted a vera ge s ha res outs ta ndi ng – ba s i c
Effect of Premi um Di vi dend™ a nd Di vi dend Rei nves tment Pl a n

$

(1)

(1)

Effect of converti bl e s ha res
Wei ghted a vera ge s ha res outs ta ndi ng – di l uted
Net i ncome (l os s ) per common s ha re a ttri buta bl e to s ha rehol ders –
Ba s i c
Di l uted

$
$

December
2014
334,834
320,210,398

December 31
2013
$
(58,095)
285,942,828

546,464

-

7,055,406
327,812,268

285,942,828

1.05
1.02

$
$

(0.20)
(0.20)

(1) The effect of 689,706 shares issued under the Premium Dividend and Dividend Reinvestment Plan and 2,338,915 convertible shares was not included in the
calculation of diluted net loss per common share attributable to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2013, as they are anti dilutive.

Convertible Shares
The convertible shares issued on September 1, 2013, following Corporate Conversion, were partially contingent on the outcome
of certain organic growth projects in the Foster Creek and Christina Lake areas. These projects had not been completed prior to
December 31, 2014. As a result, the convertible shares were classified as a current liability at December 31, 2014.
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In January 2015, as a result of successful completion of transportation infrastructure related to the FCCL Foster Creek and
Christina Lake expansion projects, the $170 million second instalment, recorded as a current liability at December 31, 2014, and
consisting of 7,055,406 convertible shares was satisfied when the convertible shares were converted on a one-for-one basis
into common shares of Inter Pipeline. Subsequently, the common shares were recorded as shareholders` equity in January
2015.

Reserves
Reserves are summarized as follows:

Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Other comprehens i ve i ncome (l os s )
Ba l a nce, December 31, 2013

$

Ba l a nce, Ja nua ry 1, 2014
Other comprehens i ve l os s
Balance, December 31, 2014

$

$

$

Forei gn
Currency
Tra ns l a ti on
Res erve
(13,437) $
80,978
67,541 $
67,541 $
(15,179)
52,362 $

Defi ned
Benefi t
Pens i on
Res erve
(10,067) $
(3,178)
(13,245) $
(13,245)
(4,386)
(17,631)

$
$

Tota l
Res erves
(23,504)
77,800
54,296
54,296
(19,565)
34,731

14. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Summarized information on the balance sheets and results of operations relating to the 15% non-controlling interest in Cold
Lake, which has its principal place of business in Calgary, Alberta, are:

Current a s s ets
Non-current a s s ets
Current l i a bi l i ti es
Non-current l i a bi l i ti es
WƌŽƉŽƌƚŝ ŽŶĂ ƚĞƐ ŚĂ ƌĞŽĨŶĞƚĂ Ɛ Ɛ ĞƚƐ

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
$
7,023 $
21,703
328,734
273,229
(9,220)
(10,884)
(42)
(31)
$
326,495 $
284,017

Revenues
Expens es
Current i ncome ta x
Proporti ona te s ha re of net i ncome a nd comprehens i ve i ncome

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
$
25,632 $
21,024
(10,976)
(9,889)
(9)
(35)
$
14,647 $
11,100

At December 31, 2014, purchase obligations related to Cold Lake totalled $67.4 million. In addition, there were $276.7 million
of commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment related to Inter Pipeline’s 85% interest in the Cold Lake entity.
These commitments and purchase obligations are included in total commitments and contingencies disclosed in notes 6 and 16.
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15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Inter Pipeline wholly owns a number of subsidiaries located in Canada and Europe and owns an 85% interest in two subsidiaries
located in Canada (2013 – 100% interests in Canada and Europe and an 85% interest in two subsidiaries located in Canada).
No revenue was earned from related parties for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
On June 1, 2013, Inter Pipeline recognized a non-cash general partner internalization expense of $348.6 million related to the
indirect purchase of its general partner (note 25).
Following Corporate Conversion on September 1, 2013, Inter Pipeline is no longer required to pay management, acquisition,
divestiture and incentive fees to a general partner, which were previously required under the Fund’s Limited Partnership
Agreement (LPA). Management fees of $8.0 million were earned by the general partner in the year ended December 31, 2013.
As a result of Corporate Conversion, no incentive fees were earned by the general partner for the year ended December 31,
2013, as the annual distributable cash threshold of the LPA was not met prior to Corporate Conversion when the LPA was
terminated.

Key Management Personnel
Total compensation of the Board of Directors and top three officers consisted of the following for the years ended:

Short-term empl oyee benefi ts
Sha re-ba s ed pa yments (2)
Tota l compens a ti on (3)

(1)

$

December 31
2014
9,645

$

12,285
21,930

December 31
2013
$
9,023
10,688
$
19,711

(1) Short-term employee benefits consist of base salary, annual earned bonuses and employer contributions for non-monetary benefits.
(2) Share-based payments consist of the compensation expense recognized for RSUs outstanding at the year end and RSUs exercised by key management
personnel during the year (see note 11a for a discussion of the RSUP).
(3) Post employment benefits, other long-term benefits and termination benefits are not applicable for Inter Pipeline’s key management personnel in the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
On June 15, 2007, Inter Pipeline entered into an agreement with the Corridor shippers to guarantee the payment and
performance of all obligations, other than repayment of borrowed amounts or similar financial obligations, of Corridor or the
operator (if the operator is not Inter Pipeline) in favour of the shippers under the Corridor FSA and other related agreements.
The guarantee may be exercised in the event that Corridor, Inter Pipeline, or the operator (if the operator is not Inter Pipeline)
fails to pay or perform such obligations for any reason.
Inter Pipeline has purchase obligation commitments totaling approximately $190.9 million at December 31, 2014. Inter Pipeline
is also committed to investing capital in the bulk liquid storage business to comply with the UK’s post Buncefield regulations.
Potential solutions are being evaluated and expenditures are estimated to be in the range of $5.0 million to $7.0 million over
the next seven years. Refer to note 6 for expected property, plant and equipment expenditures.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

113

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I3-149_Backend_V9_PT_Digital.indd 113

113

2015-03-05 3:03 PM

Minimum Lease Payments
Inter Pipeline has entered into lease agreements for office space, storage, property, plant and equipment and land for periods
ranging from 2015 to 2094. Certain leases contain extension and renewal options. The future minimum annual lease payments
for these lease commitments are:
Les s tha n one yea r

$

One to fi ve yea rs

11,870
77,126

After fi ve yea rs

187,935
$

276,931

17. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
Financial objectives are aligned with Inter Pipeline’s commercial strategies and its long-term outlook for the business. Inter
Pipeline’s capital management objectives are to maintain (i) stable cash dividends to shareholders over economic and industry
cycles; (ii) a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within an acceptable level of risk; and (iii) an
investment grade credit rating. Management manages the capital structure and makes adjustments based on changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or modify the capital structure,
Inter Pipeline may adjust the level of cash dividends paid to shareholders, issue new common shares or new debt, renegotiate
new debt terms or repay existing debt.
Inter Pipeline maintains flexibility in its capital structure to fund growth capital and acquisition programs throughout market
and industry cycles. Inter Pipeline projects its funding requirements to ensure appropriate sources of financing are available to
meet future financial obligations and capital programs. Inter Pipeline generally relies on committed credit facilities and funds
from operations in excess of dividends to finance ongoing capital requirements. At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline had
access to committed credit facilities totaling $2,800.0 million, of which $834.3 million remained unutilized. Inter Pipeline also
had access to demand facilities of $65.0 million, of which $64.4 million remained unutilized. Certain unutilized amounts under
these facilities are available to specific subsidiaries of Inter Pipeline.
Taking future market trends into consideration, Inter Pipeline regularly forecasts its operational requirements and expected
funds from operations to ensure that sufficient funding is available for future sustaining capital programs and dividends to
shareholders.
Capital under management includes long-term debt, short-term debt and commercial paper (excluding discounts and
transaction costs) and shareholders’ equity. Capital management objectives are to provide access to capital at a reasonable cost
while maintaining an investment grade long-term corporate credit rating and ensuring compliance with all debt covenants.
Management’s long-term objective is to remain well below its maximum permitted ratio of 65% recourse debt to
capitalization *. The recourse debt to capitalization* measure below is similar to the coverage ratio terms contained in Inter
Pipeline’s credit agreement.

*

Recourse debt to capitalization is an additional GAAP measure and is calculated by dividing the sum of debt facilities outstanding with recourse to Inter Pipeline
(excluding discounts and debt transaction costs) by total capitalization excluding outstanding debt facilities with no recourse to Inter Pipeline.
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December 31
2014
>ŽŶŐͲƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚ͕Ɛ ŚŽƌƚͲƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚĂ ŶĚĐŽŵŵĞƌĐŝ Ă ů ƉĂ ƉĞƌ
(excl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts a nd di s counts , per note 9)
Recours e debt
Non-recours e debt

$

Tota l s ha rehol ders ’ equi ty
Tota l ca pi ta l i za ti on
Ca pi ta l i za ti on (excl udi ng non-recours e debt)

$
$

3,011,000
1,579,700
4,590,700
2,548,139
7,138,839
5,559,139

Recours e debt to ca pi ta l i za ti on (1)

December 31
2013

$

2,348,648
1,612,200
3,960,848
2,100,250
6,061,098
4,448,898

$
$

54.2%

52.8%

(1) Recourse debt to capitalization is an additional GAAP measure and is calculated by dividing the sum of debt facilities outstanding with recourse to Inter Pipeline
(excluding discounts and debt transaction costs) by total capitalization excluding outstanding debt facilities with no recourse to Inter Pipeline.

Inter Pipeline was compliant with all covenants throughout each of the years presented.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The carrying value of Inter Pipeline’s financial assets and liabilities recorded at December 31, 2014, are classified as follows:
Fa i r Va l ue
Through
Ca s h,
Profi t or
Loa ns a nd
Los s Recei va bl es

Other
Fi na nci a l
Li a bi l i ti es

Ca rryi ng Va l ue
of Fi na nci a l
As s et or
Li a bi l i ty

NonFi na nci a l
As s et or

$

424
-

$

61,098
140,586
2,771

$

-

$

61,098
140,586
424
2,771

$

16,241
24,236

$

61,098
156,827
424
27,007

$

-

$

-

$

39,961

$

39,961

$

-

$

39,961

Ca rryi ng
Va l ue
of As s et or
Li a bi l i ty

Li a bi l i ty(1)

(2)

As s ets
Ca s h a nd ca s h equi va l ents
Accounts recei va bl e
(3)
Deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments
Prepa i d expens es a nd other depos i ts
Li a bi l i ti es
Di vi dends pa ya bl e
Accounts pa ya bl e, a ccrued l i a bi l i ti es
a nd provi s i ons
Deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments (3)
Deferred revenue a nd other l i a bi l i ti es
Converti bl e s ha res (note 13)
Long-term debt, s hort-term debt a nd
commerci a l pa per (note 9)(4)

424
169
-

-

277,617
8,993
170,000

278,041
169
8,993
170,000

112,187
23,617
-

390,228
169
32,610
170,000

-

-

4,590,700

4,590,700

-

4,590,700

(1) Not all components of assets and liabilities meet the definition of a financial asset or liability.
(2) Inter Pipeline does not have any assets that meet the definition of “available-for-sale” or “held-to-maturity.”
(3) Financial instruments measured at FVTPL are recorded at fair value using a discounted cash flow methodology.
(4) Carrying values include commercial paper and exclude discounts and transaction costs with the respective accumulated amortization.

b) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair values of long-term debt, convertible shares and derivative financial instruments are discussed in the following
paragraphs.
At December 31, 2014, the carrying values of fixed rate debt and convertible shares compared to fair values are as follows:
Ca rryi ng Va l ue (1)
$
300,000 $
$
1,925,000 $
$
170,000 $

Žƌƌŝ ĚŽƌĞďĞŶƚƵƌĞƐ
Seni or Uns ecured MTN Seri es 1 to 5
Converti bl e s ha res

Fa i r Va l ue
317,575
1,999,059
221,540

(1) Carrying value excludes transaction costs, discount and accumulated amortization.
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The estimated fair value of the fixed rate debt has been determined based on available market information and appropriate
valuation methods, including the use of discounted future cash flows using current rates for similar financial instruments
subject to similar risks and maturities. The actual amounts realized may differ from these estimates.
The estimated fair value of the convertible common shares is calculated as the 20 day volume adjusted weighted average price
of Inter Pipeline’s shares.
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by Inter Pipeline using a discounted cash flow methodology
with reference to actively quoted forward prices and/or published price quotations in an observable market and market
valuations provided by counterparties. Forward prices for NGL swaps are less transparent because they are less actively traded.
These forward prices are assessed based on available market information for the time frame for which there are derivative
instruments in place. These fair values are discounted using a risk-free rate plus a credit premium that takes into account the
credit quality of the instrument.
The fair values of derivatives and other financial instruments used for risk management activities are recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets as follows:

Current a s s et
Non-current a s s et
Current l i a bi l i ty

$

$

December 31
2014
424
(169)
255

December 31
2013
$
5,051
395
(1,394)
$
4,052

December 31
2014

December 31
2013

Derivative financial instruments carried at fair value are as follows:

Power pri ce ri s k ma na gement
El ectri ci ty pri ce s wa ps

$

Fra c-s prea d ri s k ma na gement
NGL s wa ps
AECO na tura l ga s s wa ps
Forei gn excha nge s wa ps

(169) $
(169)
-

Interes t ra te ri s k ma na gement
Interes t ra te s wa ps
$

424
424
255

93
93
(1,287)
147
(107)
(1,247)

$

5,206
5,206
4,052
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c) Net Gains or Losses
Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments – Fair Value Through Profit or
Loss
Realized gains (losses) represent actual settlements under derivative contracts during the year. The realized gains (losses) on
derivative financial instruments recognized in net income (loss) were:
December 31
2014
Revenues
NGL s wa ps
Forei gn excha nge s wa ps (fra c-s prea d)

$

Shri nka ge ga s expens e
Na tura l ga s s wa ps

December 31
2013

537 $
(329)
208

17,133
(4,585)
12,548

(1,721)
(1,721)

Opera ti ng expens es
El ectri ci ty pri ce s wa ps

(7,600)
(7,600)

(9)
(9)

Fi na nci ng cha rges
Interes t ra te s wa p
$

Net rea l i zed ga i n on deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments

4,832
4,832
3,310

363
363
4,784
4,784
10,095

$

The unrealized change in fair value related to derivative financial instruments recognized in net income (loss) was:
December 31
2014
Power pri ce ri s k ma na gement
El ectri ci ty pri ce s wa ps

$

Fra c-s prea d ri s k ma na gement
NGL s wa ps
Na tura l ga s s wa ps
Forei gn excha nge s wa ps
Unrea l i zed cha nge i n fa i r va l ue of deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments

$

December 31
2013

(262) $
(262)
1,287
(147)
107
1,247
985 $

118
118
(17,533)
6,922
1,428
(9,183)
(9,065)

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Other Classes of Financial Instruments
Inter Pipeline had no significant gains (losses) or impairment losses on other classes of financial instruments.

19. RISK MANAGEMENT
Inter Pipeline is exposed to a number of inherent financial risks arising in the normal course of operations which include market
price risk related to commodity prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, credit risk and liquidity risk.

a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk or uncertainty that the fair value of financial instruments, future cash flows and net earnings of Inter
Pipeline will fluctuate due to movements in market rates. Inter Pipeline may utilize derivative financial instruments to manage
its exposure to market risks relating to commodity prices, interest rates and foreign exchange. Inter Pipeline has a risk
management policy in place that defines and specifies the controls and responsibilities associated with those activities
managing market exposure to changing commodity prices (power, crude oil, natural gas, and NGLs) as well as changes within
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financial markets relating to interest rates and foreign exchange exposure for Inter Pipeline. Inter Pipeline’s risk management
policy prohibits the use of derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
In the following sections, sensitivity analyses are presented to provide an indication of the amount that an isolated change in
one variable may have on net income and are based on derivative financial instruments and long-term debt, short-term debt
and commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2014. The analyses are hypothetical and should not be considered to be
predictive of future performance. Changes in fair value generally cannot be extrapolated based on one variable because the
relationship with other variables may not be linear. In reality, changes in one variable may magnify or counteract the impact of
another variable which may result in a significantly different conclusion.

Power Price Risk Management
Inter Pipeline may enter into electricity price swap contracts to manage power price risk exposure in the conventional oil
pipelines business. During the year ended December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline entered into an electricity price swap agreement
in addition to the existing electricity price swap agreement entered into in 2013. Inter Pipeline may also enter into financial
heat rate swap contracts to manage power price risk exposure in the NGL extraction business. As at December 31, 2014, there
are no heat rate price swap agreements outstanding.
At December 31, 2014, a 10% change in Alberta power pool commodity prices in isolation with all other variables held constant
would have changed the mark-to-market valuation of Inter Pipeline’s derivative financial instruments used to manage power
price risk, and consequently after-tax income, by approximately $0.1 million.

Frac-spread Risk Management
Inter Pipeline is exposed to frac-spread risk which is the relative price differential between the sale of NGL produced and the
purchase of shrinkage gas used to replace the heat content removed during the extraction of the NGL from the natural gas
stream. Derivative financial instruments are utilized to manage frac-spread risk.
Inter Pipeline may enter into NGL, AECO natural gas, and foreign exchange swap contracts to manage frac-spread risk exposure
in the NGL extraction business. As at December 31, 2014, there were no frac-spread hedges outstanding, however, Inter
Pipeline may decide to hedge this risk in the future.

Interest Rate Risk Management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of a change
in market interest rates. Inter Pipeline manages its interest rate risk by balancing its exposure to fixed and variable rates while
minimizing interest costs. When deemed appropriate, Inter Pipeline enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage its
interest rate price risk exposure.
At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline had a fixed-to-floating interest rate swap on the $150 million 5.033% Series B Corridor
debenture. The interest rate swap terminated on February 2, 2015, concurrent with the maturity of the $150 million 5.033%
Series B debentures.
Inter Pipeline’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to its long-term debt obligations and fair valuation of floating-tofixed interest rate swap agreements. Since fixed rate long-term debt is carried at amortized cost rather than at fair value, the
carrying value of this debt is not subject to interest rate risk. Since the fair value gains and losses on the fixed-to-floating
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interest rate swap agreements are offset by the long-term payable or long-term receivable, there is no interest rate risk on
these agreements.
Based on the variable rate debt obligations outstanding at December 31, 2014, a 1% change in interest rates at this date would
have changed interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2014, by approximately $22.0 million assuming all other
variables remain constant. Of this amount, $12.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, relates to the $1,550 million
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility (note 9) and is recoverable through the terms of the Corridor FSA; therefore, the after-tax
income impact for the year ended December 31, 2014 would be $6.9 million.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management
Inter Pipeline is exposed to currency risk resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of its European based subsidiaries
and transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in currencies other than Inter Pipeline’s functional currency, the
Canadian dollar. Transactional foreign currency risk exposures have not been significant historically, therefore are generally not
hedged; however, Inter Pipeline may decide to hedge this risk in the future. As at December 31, 2014, there are no foreign
exchange hedges outstanding.

b) Credit Risk
Credit exposure on financial instruments arises from a counterparty’s inability or unwillingness to fulfill its obligations to Inter
Pipeline. Inter Pipeline’s credit risk exposure relates primarily to customers (accounts receivable) and financial counterparties
holding cash and derivative financial instruments. Inter Pipeline’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of a customer or
counterparty’s obligations, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Credit risk is
managed through credit approval and monitoring procedures.
With respect to credit risk arising from cash, deposits and derivative financial instruments, Inter Pipeline believes the risks of
non-performance of counterparties are minimal as cash, deposits and derivative financial instruments outstanding are
predominantly held with major financial institutions or investment grade corporations.
At December 31, 2014, Inter Pipeline considers that the risk of non-performance of its customers is minimal based on Inter
Pipeline’s credit approval, ongoing monitoring procedures and historical experience. The creditworthiness assessment takes
into account available qualitative and quantitative information about the counterparty including, but not limited to, financial
status and external credit ratings. Depending on the outcome of each assessment, guarantees or some other form of credit
enhancement may be requested as security. Inter Pipeline attempts to mitigate its exposure by entering into contracts with
customers that may permit netting or entitle Inter Pipeline to lien or take product in kind and/or allow for termination of the
contract on the occurrence of certain events of default. Each business segment monitors outstanding accounts receivable on an
ongoing basis.
At December 31, 2014, accounts receivable outstanding meeting the definition of past due and impaired are insignificant.
Concentrations of credit risk associated with accounts receivable relate to a limited number of principal customers in the oil
sands transportation and NGL extraction business segments, the majority of which are affiliated with investment grade
corporations in the energy and chemical industry sectors. At December 31, 2014, accounts receivable associated with these two
business segments were $105.5 million or 67.3% of total accounts receivable outstanding. Inter Pipeline believes the credit risk
associated with the remainder of accounts receivable is minimized due to diversity across business segments and customers.
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c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources are not available to fund business operations, commercial strategies or meet
financial obligations (refer to note 17 for capital disclosures and note 16 for commitments and contingencies). The table below
summarizes the contractual maturity profile of Inter Pipeline’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2014, on an undiscounted
basis:

Di vi dends pa ya bl e
Accounts pa ya bl e, a ccrued l i a bi l i ti es
a nd provi s i ons
Deri va ti ve fi na nci a l i ns truments (1)
Deferred revenue a nd other l i a bi l i ti es
(2)
Converti bl e s ha res
Long-term debt, s hort-term debt a nd

$

Tota l
39,961

$

Les s Tha n
One Yea r
39,961 $

390,228
171
32,610
170,000

commerci a l pa per(3)
$

4,590,700
5,223,670

390,228
171
18,762
170,000

$

1,429,700
2,048,822

One to Fi ve
Yea rs
-

$

8,667
-

$

1,286,000
1,294,667

After Fi ve
Yea rs
5,181
-

$

1,875,000
1,880,181

(1) Derivative financial instruments are shown on a net basis. Derivative financial instruments represent an estimate of the fair value liability on an undiscounted
basis for financially net settled derivative contracts outstanding at December 31, 2014, based upon contractual maturity dates. Fair values of derivative
financial instruments reported on the consolidated balance sheets are shown on a discounted basis.
(2) Convertible shares were converted to equity in January 2015 and were not settled in cash (note 13).
(3) Commercial paper issued by Corridor is fully supported and management expects that it will continue to be supported by the $1,550 million Unsecured
Revolving Credit Facility that has no repayment requirements until December 2018.

20. FINANCING CHARGES
Interes t expens e on credi t fa ci l i ti es
Interes t on l oa n pa ya bl e to Pri va te Pl a cement notehol ders
Interes t on Corri dor Debentures
Interes t on Seni or Uns ecured MTN
Tota l Interes t
Ca pi ta l i zed i nteres t
Amorti za ti on of tra ns a cti on cos ts on l ong-term debt, s hort- term debt
a nd commerci a l pa per
Accreti on of provi s i ons a nd pens i on pl a n fundi ng cha rges
Fi na nci ng cha rges

$

$

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
37,854 $
38,004
14,540
17,692
10,063
10,111
73,945
46,634
136,402
112,441
(49,332)
(26,323)
3,809
2,751
93,630

$

3,483
2,281
91,882

21. EXPENSES BY NATURE
Fuel a nd power
Externa l s ervi ces
Empl oyee cos ts
Property ta xes
Ma teri a l s a nd s uppl i es
Tra ns porta ti on a nd s tora ge
Other
Tota l expens es by na ture
Al l oca ted to:
Opera ti ng
Genera l a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve

$

December 31
2014
111,446
79,208
115,980
30,054
34,065
67,783
15,663
454,199

December 31
2013
$
116,082
79,579
95,227
26,862
28,644
61,082
16,246
$
423,722

$

368,324
85,875
454,199

346,652
77,070
423,722

$

$
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22. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in Non-cash Working Capital
December 31
$

Accounts recei va bl e
Current i ncome ta xes recei va bl e
Prepa i d expens e a nd other depos i ts
Di vi dends pa ya bl e
Accounts pa ya bl e, a ccrued l i a bi l i ti es a nd provi s i ons
Current i ncome ta xes pa ya bl e
Deferred revenue
Impa ct of forei gn excha nge ra te di fferences a nd other
Cha nges i n non-ca s h worki ng ca pi ta l

$

Thes e cha nges rel a te to the fol l owi ng a cti vi ti es :
Opera ti ng
Inves ti ng
Fi na nci ng
Cha nges i n non-ca s h worki ng ca pi ta l

$

$

December 31

2014
89,483 $
(11,474)
14,295
6,981
(184,134)
(31,232)
11,999
2
(104,080) $

2013
(99,564)
(10,023)
7,528
285,508
620
22,547
(374)
206,242

7,650 $
(118,797)
7,067
(104,080) $

(3,882)
201,385
8,739
206,242

Cash and Cash Equivalents
$

Ca s h on ha nd a nd a t ba nks
Short-term depos i ts

$

December 31
2014
56,537
4,561
61,098

December 31
2013
$
36,984
10,252
$
47,236

23. MAJOR CUSTOMERS
In 2014, two of the principal customers of the NGL extraction business accounted for 30% (2013 – two of the principal
customers of the NGL extraction business accounted for 30%) of Inter Pipeline’s consolidated revenue. Inter Pipeline believes
the financial risk associated with these customers is minimal.

24. JOINT OPERATION
50% Interest in Empress V Extraction Facility
Summarized information on the results of financial position and operations relating to Inter Pipeline’s 50% interest in the
Empress V extraction facility are:

Current a s s ets
Non-current a s s ets
Current l i a bi l i ti es
Non-current l i a bi l i ti es
Proporti ona te s ha re of net a s s ets

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
$
13,924 $
14,108
91,945
96,241
(12,838)
(10,266)
(853)
(802)
$
92,178 $
99,281
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Revenues
Expens es
Proporti ona te s ha re of net i ncome a nd comprehens i ve i ncome

$
$

December 31
December 31
2014
2013
127,035 $
110,644
(119,287)
(100,094)
7,748 $
10,550

The principal place of business of this joint operation is Calgary, Alberta. At December 31, 2014, there were no commitments to
purchase property, plant and equipment and no purchase obligations related to Inter Pipeline’s interest in the jointly controlled
Empress V extraction facility.

25. CORPORATE RESTRUCTURING
On June 1, 2013, the Fund completed several internal transactions (Internalization Transactions) related to the restructuring of
its limited partnership structure to position the business for a planned conversion to corporate form, which eliminated all
management, acquisition, divestiture and incentive fees payable to the general partner (note 15). The Fund indirectly
purchased its general partner, Pipeline Management Inc., which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Pipeline Assets Corp. (PAC),
for initial consideration of $170 million, plus adjustments of $8.6 million, and a second instalment of up to $170 million, which
was partially contingent on the outcome of certain organic growth projects in the Foster Creek and Christina Lake areas (note
13). As a result, the Fund recognized a $348.6 million non-cash expense on June 1, 2013.
As a result of the Internalization Transactions, the PAC shareholders agreed to accept consideration in the form of Class A and
Class B preferred shares in Inter Pipeline GP Corp., a new corporation established for the purpose of the Internalization
Transactions, rather than cash. Initial consideration of $178.6 million, including adjustments of $8.6 million, was satisfied with
the issuance of 7,411,683 Class A preferred shares in Inter Pipeline GP Corp. on June 1, 2013. On September 1, 2013, the Class A
preferred shares were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for common shares in Inter Pipeline upon successful completion of
Corporate Conversion.
Consideration transferred to the PAC shareholders for the second instalment of $170 million was in the form of 7,055,406 Class
B preferred shares in Inter Pipeline GP Corp., which were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for convertible shares of Inter
Pipeline on September 1, 2013, as a result of Corporate Conversion. In connection with these internalization transactions, each
of the PAC shareholders agreed to indemnify Inter Pipeline in certain instances and pledged its convertible shares, and any
common shares received upon conversion of the convertible shares, to secure its obligations under such indemnity. The
convertible shares were converted to common shares of Inter Pipeline in January 2015 (note 13). The common shares that
were issued in place of the convertible shares are held by Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as collateral agent, until
the date that is 27 months after completion of the Corporate Conversion.
The Internalization Transactions were accounted for as transactions between entities under common control. On June 1, 2013,
Inter Pipeline GP Corp. and PAC amalgamated as one corporate entity, Inter Pipeline GP Corp.
On September 1, 2013, the Fund was dissolved, the general partner assumed all assets and liabilities of the Fund and then on
September 2, 2013, Pipeline Management Inc., Inter Pipeline GP Corp., Inter Pipeline Putco Corp. and Inter Pipeline
amalgamated as one corporate entity, and continued carrying on the business of the Fund as Inter Pipeline.
These audited consolidated financial statements of Inter Pipeline follow the continuity of interests at book value basis of
accounting for the amalgamation. As a result, Inter Pipeline’s consolidated statements of net (loss) income, comprehensive
income and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013, are a combination of the Fund’s statements of net (loss) income,
comprehensive income and cash flows for the period January 1, 2013 to August 31, 2013, plus the statements of net income,
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comprehensive income and cash flows of the amalgamated entities from September 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013. Inter
Pipeline’s balance sheet at December 31, 2013, is an amalgamation of the balance sheets of the Funds and the amalgamating
entities, after eliminating inter company transactions.
On amalgamation, the following assets and liabilities of the amalgamated companies were transferred to Inter Pipeline:
Ca s h
Worki ng ca pi ta l
Defi ci t

$
$

8,955
(9,173)
(218)

As a result of Corporate Conversion, the LPA was terminated and Inter Pipeline is no longer required to pay management,
acquisition, divestiture or incentive fees (note 15). The general and administrative costs previously incurred by the general
partner for all matters relating to the operation of the Fund had historically been recorded in the financial statements of the
Fund as operating or general and administrative expenses.
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